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Statement of compliance
THE HONOURABLE TERRY REDMAN MLA
MINISTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND FOOD; FORESTRY; CORRECTIVE SERVICES

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your
information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of Agriculture and
Food Western Australia for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.
The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial
Management Act 2006 and any other relevant written law.

Rob Delane
Director General
Department of Agriculture and Food
26 October 2011
Copies of this document are available in alternative formats upon request. Should you have a
hearing or speech impairment you can contact the department through the National Relay Service:
TTY or computer with modem users, phone 133 677
Speak and listen users phone, 1300 555 727
If you require the assistance of an interpreter, please contact the department through TIS National
on 131 450.
Copyright © Western Australian Agriculture Authority, 2011
Western Australian Government materials, including website pages, documents and online graphics, audio and video are
protected by copyright law. Copyright of materials created by or for the Department of Agriculture and Food resides with
the Western Australian Agriculture Authority established under the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007. Apart
from any fair dealing for the purposes of private study, research, criticism or review, as permitted under the provisions of the
Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced or reused for any commercial purposes whatsoever without prior written
permission of the Western Australian Agriculture Authority.
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Guide to the report
This report presents the statutory compliance, performance and operational reporting for the
financial year ending 30 June 2011. It comprises five principal sections as below:
Executive summary—outlines who we are and what we do, the industries and communities we
support, and how we go about our business. It also outlines our key achievements, financial
position and performance.
Significant issues impacting the department—outlines the current and emerging issues and trends
that impact on our operating environment.
Governance and compliance—information about how we ensure our operations are ethically,
socially and environmentally responsible.
Disclosures—an audited report of our key performance indicators and financial statements.
Appendixes—additional information, including a statement by the Commissioner of Soil and Land
Conservation.
In this report we refer to the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia as ‘the
department’ or ‘DAFWA’.
A glossary of acronyms used in this report is provided on the following page.
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Glossary
ACIAR

Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research

AEGIC

Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre

ARRM

Agriculture Resource Risk Management

ASEAN

Association of South-East Asian Nations

BYG

Bridging the yield gap (project)

CAR

Central Agricultural region

CP

Criteria Progression

CRC

Co-operative Research Centre

DAFWA

Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia

DAIP

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DEC

Department of Environment and Conservation

DOW

Department of Water

EADRA

Emergency Animal Disease Response Agreement

EEO

Equal Employment Opportunity

EHB

European House borer

ESRM

Environmentally Sustainable Rangeland Management

FESA

Fire and Emergency Services

FOI

Freedom of Information

FTE

Full-time equivalent (staff hours)

GM

Genetically modified

ILS

Indigenous Landholder Service

KPIs

Key performance indicators

LCDC

Land Conservation District Committee

NAR

Northern Agricultural region

NEAR

North-Eastern Agricultural region

NGNE

New Genes for New Environments (project)

NRM

Natural resource management

NRMWA

State Natural Resource Management Program

OSH

Occupational safety and health

P2R

Pathways to Resilience (project)

PCN

Potato cyst nematode

PID

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

PPE

Personal protective equipment

QA/EMS

Quality Assurance/Environmental Management Systems

Qfly

Queensland fruitfly

QoL

Quality of Life initiative

RSPCA

Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

SAILS

Southern Agricultural Indigenous Landholder Service

SAR

Southern Agricultural region

SCN

Soil Conservation Notice

SPANA

Soil productivity and nutrient assessment (tool)

SSF

Statistical Seasonal Forecast (model)

SWAR

South-West Agricultural region

WARMS

Western Australian Rangeland Monitoring System

WATO

Western Australian Government’s International Trade and Investment Offices

WIAWA

Wine Industry Association of Western Australia
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Director General’s foreword
I am pleased to present the department’s annual report for the year ending 30 June 2011.
This year has been both confronting and exciting. Simultaneous flood and drought conditions
in various parts of the state have put producers under pressure, threatening livelihoods and the
sustainability of agricultural businesses and rural communities. Beyond our immediate emergency
response to the natural disasters that faced our state, the department has broadly enhanced the
profitability and sustainability of the agriculture and food sector. In addition, we have restructured
the department to improve our services to the sector for tomorrow and beyond.
Western Australian agriculture is exported-oriented. More than 80 per cent of our agricultural
production is destined for export markets. In addition, there is a rapidly increasing range of valueadded goods in the food sector.
We have made major changes because our clients needed us to. Our business environment is
becoming increasingly difficult, and, despite the state’s overall economic growth, many producers
and others in the agrifood supply chains are in need. On the other hand, there are developments—
such as expectations around quality and safety of the world’s food and fibre products—that play to
our strengths.
Our aim is to work closely with partners throughout the supply chain to help capture new
opportunities being generated at home and by emerging economies in China, India and South-East
Asia.
We commenced the 2010–11 financial year successfully with a new structure and a new focus to
build a better future for the state’s $6 billion agriculture and food sector.
Our new industry-driven structure and approach aligns with the Western Australian government’s
Priority Plan for Agriculture and Food. This enables us to work as one agency along the agriculture
and food value chain, and to work better with business, landholders and the community to protect
and enhance our natural resources and our enviable biosecurity status.
We have established directorates for each major industry sector—grains, livestock and irrigated
agriculture—and three cross-directorates addressing agricultural resource and biosecurity risk
management, regional operations, and corporate capabilities.
The transformation process that I outlined in last year’s report required some difficult decisions
to get to where we can achieve our vision of a ‘progressive, innovative and profitable agriculture
and food sector that benefits Western Australia’. This required a significant restructure of our skills
base and investment areas, including a redundancy process to achieve a smaller, more focused
workforce and a recruitment process to source the new skills we will need into the future.
Our new direction were laid with the formulation of four key investment areas—improving long-term
profitability, building a sustainable sector, building industry capacity and improving markets and
trade.
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Director General’s foreword
Within these areas are a further 16 investment priorities that will drive our work with our partners
throughout the supply chain. This change has been encapsulated in our Strategic Plan 2011–15,
released in April 2011. It is backed by an Operational Plan—a document that outlines our extensive
commitments and activities, as well as lists the key products and services we have committed to
deliver in 2011–12. The Strategic Plan is available on our website at www.agric.wa.gov.au
The past year has been one of significant change for our department. I am proud of what we have
been able to achieve and enthusiastic about our future, in particular about the announcement in the
State Budget of funding for a new head office building at South Perth.
We have made enormous strides but there is still a long way to go. The department will, in future,
communicate more effectively with our clients and the public about what we do and why, and with
policy makers about the value of agriculture and food. We are also very aware that we will need to
keep testing and advancing our focus and performance on an ongoing basis.
However, I am confident we are now well placed to work with our partners to overcome obstacles
and to capitalise on opportunities—especially in enabling our producers and in understanding which
sectors to focus on—locally, nationally and globally.
I commend this annual report to you and invite you to learn more about our new direction, our key
investments and how we are making a meaningful and measurable difference to the state’s diverse
agriculture and food sector.

Rob Delane
Director General
30 September 2011
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The Department and the Sector
Who we are
Our Vision
A progressive, innovative and profitable agriculture and food sector that benefits Western Australia
Our Mission
To work with our partners to develop the agriculture and food sector; and to effectively manage
risks to the natural and biological resources on which it relies
Our Approach
We are a dynamic organisation that collaborates with a diverse range of partners throughout the
world to generate innovation, knowledge and excellence
We work professionally, responsibly and with integrity to deliver meaningful results to industry,
government and the community
Our Partners
We build and maintain strong, local, national and international strategic links with the public
and private sectors to deliver value throughout the agriculture and food supply chains. Effective
partnerships are essential to our success
Our Capability
We have a statewide network of dedicated and talented staff able to address the economic,
scientific, technological, environmental, managerial and social drivers that shape our agriculture and
food sector.
Our professionalism enables us to collaborate with a range of partners to develop and share
expertise, knowledge and technology with a range of partners to develop and share expertise,
knowledge and technology.

Fast facts
•

If farmers used the same cropping varieties and technology today as they were 40 years ago,
the state’s crop production would be about one quarter of what it is today

•

Western Australia’s gross value of agricultural production in 2010-11 was $5.9 billion

•

Western Australia exports 97 per cent of its grain, 75 per cent of its livestock and 18 per cent
of its horticultural products - a total of about 80 per cent of its overall agricultural output

•

Grain is the state’s fifth largest export after iron ore, gold, petroleum and natural gas

•

Western Australia’s agricultural exports totalled $4.5 billion in 2010-11

•

During the past decade almost 70 per cent of the state’s agricultural exports have been
destined for Asia

•

Our largest agricultural markets were Japan, China and Indonesia which accounted for almost
40 per cent of total agricultural exports

•

Western Australia produces 20 per cent of Australia’s winter cereal crop
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Executive summary
Export focus
The Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia (‘the department’ or DAFWA) contributes
strongly to the economic development of the state’s $6 billion agriculture and food sector.
Western Australian agriculture is export oriented, with more than 80 per cent of agricultural
production destined for export markets. As well as being the nation’s largest grain-producing
region—with a particular focus on cereals, pulses and oilseeds—Western Australia is a significant
player in Australia’s meat and livestock, dairy, wool, horticulture and honey industries.
These products also provide the raw materials for a rapidly growing range of value-added goods in
the food sector. We are working closely with partners throughout the supply chain to help capture
new opportunities generated by emerging economies in China, India and South-East Asia.
Revitalised for success
The department has undergone a significant transformation in the past 18 months to become more
market-focused and better aligned with industry needs. While our general focus on advancing
agricultural production and natural resource management remains, we now work at all stages of the
supply chain to capitalise on business opportunities.
This change will enable us to more effectively achieve our vision of ‘a progressive, innovative and
profitable agriculture and food sector that benefits Western Australia’. As a result, the department’s
structure has changed to a smaller, more dynamic and responsive organisation that generates
meaningful and measurable benefits.
People and partners
The department’s mission is ‘to work with our partners to develop the agriculture and food sector;
and to effectively manage risks to the natural and biological resources on which it relies’.
We have a statewide network of 1200 staff in 50 regional locations. Our people work with partners
along the supply chain and around the world to generate innovation, knowledge and excellence.
Changing our focus
We have worked closely with industry in the past financial year to apply the priorities identified in our
industry development plans for the grains, horticulture, livestock and food industries. These plans
have fed into a process to develop our new strategic and operational plans in line with the State
Government’s Priority Plan for Agriculture and Food, released by Agriculture and Food Minister Terry
Redman in 2009). Our new Strategic Plan, which covers the period 2011 to 2015, may be viewed
and downloaded from the department’s website at www.agric.wa.gov.au
Our new Strategic Plan identifies 16 investment priorities under the following four outcome areas:
•

improving long-term profitability

•

building a sustainable sector

•

building industry capacity

•

improving markets and trade.

While our activities throughout much of 2010-11 have been aligned with these four new outcomes,
we are, for this year, still required to report formally under the outcomes specified in our previous
Strategic Plan. These are detailed in the Performance Indicators section, commencing on page 40.
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Key achievements 2010-11
As outlined above, we are formally required to report this year against our previous strategic
plan. However, as our 2010-11 work program more closely aligned to our new plan, the following
overview of our key achievements is set out against the outcome areas that form the basis of that
plan.

Improving long-term profitability
The department is committed to improving the long-term profitability of the agriculture and food
sector. We determine industry development needs in partnership with industry and government at
state and national levels. We also seek to improve the profitability of major industries by working
along the supply chain to capture and develop opportunities. We facilitate industry expansion and
diversification though a range of strategies and capitalise on emerging business opportunities by
exploring value-adding and supporting development. Major investments to achieve our economic
development objectives in 2010–11 included:
•

establishing transgenic field-testing facilities at Merredin which are available to industry and
which provide access to new high-quality crop genetics and technologies that can be adapted
to the local environment under our New Genes for New Environments program

•

implementing the Regional Livestock Saleyards Strategy, including replacing the Katanning
saleyards, providing debt relief for the shire-owned Mount Barker cattle yards and stimulating
a private/government response to replace the Boyanup cattle yards

•

cutting red-tape—for instance, by working with the cattle industry to develop a streamlined
works approval process for lot-feeding operations. This enabled proponents to better design
and explain their operations, resulting in a marked improvement in the speed and success rate
of approvals

•

developing a proof-of-concept plan for the south-west agrifood processing precinct. The plan
supports value-added food exports and downstream opportunities to support economic and
job development

•

establishing a Managed Environment Facility at Merredin to accelerate research to identify
crop traits which provide better adaptation to limited water environments and climate
variability, and so ensure sustainable management of land and water resources

•

supporting the development of a partnership between WA-based cereal breeding company,
InterGrain Pty Ltd and Monsanto – an international agricultural biotechnology company – to
improve access to germplasm and technology for the development of the Australian wheat
industry.
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Key achievements 2010-11
Building a sustainable sector
We all have a responsibility to take care of the land for the next generation and as a department, we
work to build this vision of a sustainable sector in a number of ways including by:
•

ensuring land and water resources are available to meet future industry needs

•

laying out the issues in a clear way

•

collaborating with partners, including other government agencies

•

planning

•

guiding land-use reform

•

providing leadership for sustainable management.

We also manage biosecurity risks to protect the sector from plant and animal pests and diseases;
and we collaborate with community, industry and State and Commonwealth governments on
natural resource management. This includes:
•

managing the state’s overall NRM program. In 2010–11 this program supported more than
200 new and ongoing projects valued at $17.6 million

Significant achievements in 2010–11 included:
•

participating in three Industry Funding Schemes for cattle; sheep and goats; and grains, seeds
and hay. The schemes help to manage skeleton weed, bedstraw, footrot, Johne’s disease and
enzootic bovine leucosis

•

managing wild dogs by appointing eight additional doggers in the Goldfields–Nullarbor,
Southern Rangelands and Eastern Agricultural Regions under the management of local
biosecurity groups. We also upgraded and extended the State Barrier Fence. Both programs
were funded under the Royalties for Regions grants schemes

•

introducing new interstate livestock entry conditions to meet trade and biosecurity objectives.
This includes reviewing livestock entry conditions to the state to reduce users’ costs while
managing biosecurity risks, such as the introduction of liver fluke. These activities form
part of our strategy to both streamline regulation and expand market opportunities without
compromising standards

•

releasing the Statistical Seasonal Forecast (SSF) model. The web-based model enhances local
weather forecasts to allow producers to better manage business and seasonal risk

•

responding to the short -term cessation of live cattle exports to Indonesia by creating a
Western Australian industry and government taskforce; taking a national leadership position
on economic modelling of impacts; and leading the national domestic impacts group

•

working closely with insurance companies and the CBH Group to develop a ‘production loss’
risk insurance product, with three products now being available in the market

•

implementing the National Drought Pilot. This partnership between the state and
commonwealth governments tested potential alternatives to the current Exceptional
Circumstances drought assistance arrangements. The pilot provides training and grants to
help businesses to build resilience

•

transferring the Forests Products Commission research group to the department. This enables
a more strategic approach to research in the forest industries and integration with other
studies, particularly carbon accounting to ensure sustainable management of land and water
resources.
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Key achievements 2010-11
Building industry capacity
The department works throughout the agriculture and food supply chain to build industry capacity.
We equip industry groups to provide competent leadership through the development of agricultural
and business skills. This educative role also serves to consolidate the department as a dynamic
economic development organisation. Our major achievements over the past year include:
•

developing the Australian Export Grains Innovation Centre (AEGIC) as a science, technology
and innovation hub for increasing Australia’s competitiveness in international markets. AEGIC
is a key component of the National Grains Research, Development and Extension Strategy
that aims to encourage capacity building, improve state linkages and avoid duplication of
research and infrastructure

•

establishing the Pathways to Resilience (P2R) and Bridging the Yield Gap (BYG) initiatives, to
enhance business adaptability and resilience by strengthening skills across the grains sector.
P2R aims to improve total farm profitability in medium-to-low rainfall areas by 3 per cent a
year, while BYG is focused on increasing production in medium-to-high rainfall areas by two
million tonnes over five years

•

initiating the Dry Season Response to equip landholders with skills and systems to minimise
the impact of protracted dry conditions. This involved both inter-agency and departmental
responses, including support for the Dry Season Advisory Committee

•

establishing the Western Australian Beef and Sheep Industry Leadership Councils, with both
councils supporting and guiding industry growth
implementing the Carnarvon Flood Recovery Plan to provide targeted support and
development assistance for growers working to rebuild flooded enterprises.

•

Improving markets and trade
With up to 80 per cent of Western Australia’s agrifood production sold for export, one of our key
roles is to help industry to understand their global customers. We aim to improve market intelligence
along the supply chain, encourage relationships, address trade impediments, attract investment
and raise the profile of Western Australian agriculture and food.
Major outcomes for the 2010–11 financial year include:
•

working with the Saudi Arabian Grain Silos and Flour Mills Organisation to broaden their
tender specifications to include lower protein wheat and to establish minimum rather than nil
tolerances for ergot. This enabled the first export of Australian wheat to Saudi Arabia in more
than 20 years, shipped from Esperance and valued at $12 million

•

assisting Edith Cowan University establish Pilot Malting Australia as a national research,
teaching and industry facility, significantly increasing the barley industry’s research and
development capacity

•

establishing the Indonesian flour mills partnership. This partnership aims to develop a
greater understanding in Indonesia of the baking requirements of Western Australian wheat
in the country’s growing bread and biscuit market. As the Indonesian diet becomes more
westernised, this will enable our grains industry to capture emerging market opportunities

•

supporting the Centre for Grain Food Innovation, a joint venture between the department,
Curtin University and CSIRO, to better understand the processing qualities of Western
Australian wheat and flour so as to be able to meet the needs of South-East Asian and Middle
Eastern markets

•

promoting Western Australian food through the Buy West Eat Best campaign. Along with
the department’s food labelling program Buy West Eat Best, we launched an integrated
promotional campaign to Get Vocal About Eating Local. We also published a cookbook with
industry partners to further raise awareness of local food products
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Key achievements 2010-11
•

working with Japan’s Ministry for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, and commercial
segments of the noodle wheat supply chain, to manage the 2010-11 critical harvest shortage
of high-quality ASW blend noodle wheat

•

implementing the ASEAN Fresh strategy to increase fruit and vegetable exports to key Asian
markets. This strategy relies on close collaboration between exporters, importers and retailers
to use point-of-sale material, inbound visits by buyers and targeted promotion in Singapore,
Malaysia, Thailand and Indonesia to highlight Western Australia’s attractiveness as a supplier
of choice. The initial success of this strategy has encouraged us to emulate the same for
Middle East markets

•

launching a three year, international marketing plan for the Western Australian wine industry,
developed in partnership with industry, and aimed at arresting the steady decline of the State’s
wine exports.

•

entering a service agreement through the
Western Australian Trade Office in China to
capitalise on growing export opportunities
in China, specifically focusing on grains,
dairy, meat and other high end products
targeting the growing upper and middle
class. A similar agreement has been entered
into with the Australian Trade Commission
covering Taiwan.

Our aim is to work closely with
our partners throughout the
supply chain to help capture
new opportunities
ROB DELANE

RUNNING THE NUMBERS
A new focus on high rainfall areas could be a
win-win for farmers.
Researchers believe increased productivity may
generate an extra $600 million per annum.
In recent years, high grain prices and drier weather
have led to increased interest in growing crops in
the high-rainfall areas.
Analysis of the soil and landscape inventory data has
shown the gap between average crop yields and the
potential yields vary between one and three tonnes
per hectare, which collectively would generate an
additional 750 million tonnes over five years.
The department’s new Bridging the Yield Gap
initiative aims to increase grain production in the
region to two million tonnes per annum.
In 2010 the department consulted industry to identify
potential constraints and to develop an investment
plan to boost production. We also forged innovation
partnerships with grower groups to overcome
local production constraints; and will use these to
provide leadership, support and evaluation services
to growers.

The Bridging the Yield Gap initiative will increase
grain production in medium to high rainfall areas.
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Financial and performance overview
This section provides a summary of the department’s performance and position, and comments
on significant movements during 2010-11. It explains how to interpret the financial statements
and outlines both the items that make up these statements and the changes during the year that
impacted on our financial outcome.
The complete set of audited financial statements and report against our key performance indicators
can be found in the Disclosures section.

Summary of primary financial statements for 2010-11
Statement of comprehensive income

$million

Revenue
Less: operating expenses

Net result for year – Profit/(Loss)

$million

Our net operating surplus or deficit

214.3
(217.8)

The 2010-11 operating result is within
2% of received revenue, which is
within the expected variance given the
department’s broad range of revenue
sources. This year’s loss is down by
($2.8 million) when compared to last
year. The loss is funded from existing
balances carried forward.

(3.5)

How that profit/loss and other
changes affects our equity

Statement of changes in equity
Balance of equity at beginning of year
Net result for year – Profit/(Loss)
Capital appropriations
Transfer of assets
Net revaluation
Post-acquisition reserve
Net result for year
Total equity at end of year

288.2
(3.5)
6.2
8.4
6.9
5.2
23.1
311.3

Represents the amount of cash
inflows/outflows from our activities

Statement of cash flows
Operating activities
Investing activities
Net cash provided by State Govt
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of reporting year

(162.4)
(10.9)
166.4
(6.9)
58.8
51.9

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Retained equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Total equity

The department’s cash at 30 June 2011
was $6.9 million less due mainly to
capital investments, certain funds being
recognised as Administered rather than
Controlled accounts (see Note 44); and
by the cessation of the NHT2 program.

The assets and liabilities which
make up our equity at 30 June 2011

Statement of financial position
Current assets (incl. cash and deposits)
Non-current assets
(incl. property, plant & equip.)
Total assets

Equity increased by $23.1 million,
largely due to Government capital
contributions, asset transfers from the
cessation of the Agriculture Protection
Board, revaluation of Land and
Buildings, and InterGrain Pty Ltd postacquisition reserves adjustments. (See
Note 28).

75.0

The department’s assets increased
primarily due to revaluation of its land,
buildings and investment holdings

283.4
358.4
(41.2)
(5.9)
(47.1)
311.3
45.3
44.1
221.9
311.3

Liabilities of $41.2 million relate primarily to provisions for annual and long
service leave.
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Actual results vs budget targets
Financial targets
2010–11
Target1
$’000

2010–11 Variation2
Actual
$’000
$’000

Total cost of services
(expense limit)

281,627

217,823

(63,804)

This significant reduction in expenditure is
primarily due to $27m of commonwealth
Caring for our Country program holdings
being recognised as Administered rather
than Controlled funds; cessation of the
commonwealth National Heritage Trust 2
program; and underspending of State NRM
Program funds.

Total equity

280,013

311,279

31,266

This increase is primarily due to the transfer
of APB assets associated with the Skeleton
Weed and Declared Pest Trust Funds; and
revaluation of the department’s investment
holdings

Net increase/(decrease)
in cash held

(2,607)

(6,869)

(4,262)

Approved full-time
equivalent (FTE) staff
level

1,350

1,214

(136)

Explanation of variation

This reduction is largely due to a greater
than expected acceptance of voluntary
redundancies (with associated payments)
as a result of the department’s business
realignment efforts
This reduction is largely attributable to the
loss of contract and non-critical positions
identified through an earlier project and
services review and subject of a major
voluntary severance program. It is expected
the FTE level will rise slightly over the next
year as the department seeks to build new
and expanded capabilities in priority areas.

1. As specified in the department’s budget statements.
2. More detailed explanations are contained in Notes to the Financial Statements section of this annual report.

FTE Levels at 30 June 2006-2011
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
Target and actual values for KPIs specified in the department’s 2010-11 budget are outlined below.
The full list of KPIs is detailed along with the basis of their selection and an explanation of any
variations between actual and targetsis presented in the Disclosures section.
Unit

2010-11
Target
(1)

2010-11
Actual

Service 1: Land Management:
Land managers and producers using best management practices.
Effectiveness indicators:
Impact of department activity on improving the capacity of primary producers to
sustainably and profitably manage the resource base: percent respondents

%

35

33

$’000/unit
$’000/unit

155
22

85
19

$’000/unit
$’000/unit
$’000/unit

112
48
0.4

74
17
0.2

Effectiveness indicator:
Impact of department activity on the capacity of agri-industry to
manage change and respond to opportunities.

%

72

83

Efficiency indicators: (average cost per activity focussed on…)
- food industry needs, issues and policy development
- industry supply chain issues
- regional industry needs and issues

$’000/unit
$’000/unit
$’000/unit

589
114
143

90
90
90

$M
No.

221
223

194
188

$’000/unit

451

91

$’000/unit
$’000/unit
$/unit
$/unit
$/unit

120
120
400
40
200

21
21
236
24
164

%
%

0.5
0.123

0.014
0.158

Efficiency indicators:
Average cost per unit of R&D aimed at sustainable resource systems.
Average cost per activity focussed on best management practices.
Service 2: Production System Solutions:
An innovative and adaptive production sector which effectively manages risk.
Efficiency indicators: (average cost per…)
- unit of R&D aimed at production system solutions
- activity focussed on innovation and adaption
- regulatory activity
Service 3: Industry and Regional Support:
Competitive food and agricultural industries.

Service 4: Market Development:
Increased value of domestic and international trade.
Key effectiveness indicators:
Value of exports to selected markets from Trade and Development
Number of interceptions of significant pests, diseases and weeds
Key efficiency indicators:
Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at market development
services
Average cost per activity focussed on:
- market development, policy and advice
- legislation, regulation and policy development
Average cost per regulatory activity processed
Cost per freight consignment inspected (not all consignments inspected)
Cost per diagnostic sample
Service 5: Community and Environmental Risk Management:
Reduced incidence and impact of environmental and community based risks.
Key effectiveness indicators: Percentage of potentially susceptible area infested
by…
- starlings
- European House Borer
Key efficiency indicators: (Average cost per…)
- activity focussed on community and environ. risk mgmt services

$’000/unit

131

30

- diagnostic sample related to non-agricultural pests and diseases

$/unit

200

240

1.

As specified in the department’s budget statements

2.

This figure was incorrectly reported as 0.8 in the 2010-11 Budget Statement
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Operating result
The operating deficit for the year was $3.6 million (2010 $6.4 million deficit). The department has
undertaken a transformation to an outcome-focused economic development agency which has
resulted in a reduction in costs while our revenue remained fairly constant. The key reason for
the deficit is due largely to a greater than expected acceptance of voluntary redundancies (with
associated payments) as a result of the department’s business realignment efforts.

Revenue – where the dollars came from
Operating revenue for the year at $214 million was marginally up on last year. While the State
Government remains our major source of funding, other sources are the Commonwealth, industry
(including various industry research and development corporations) and fees for services rendered.
Although appropriations from the State Government increased by $14 million, a portion of these
funds were provided for the department’s one-off redundancy program.
Non-govt
grants 1%

Interest 1%

Sources of Funding
Commonwealth
grants 1%

Fees & charges 4%

Industry and other
revenue 19%
Revenue from State
Government 74%

Total Revenue and expenses 2007-08 to 2010-11
300
250

250
220

218

200
$M

150
100
50
0
2008-09

2009-10

Total actual revenue

2010-11
Total actual expenses

Expenses – how the dollars were spent
Operating expenditure for the year was $217.9 million, some $1.6 million less than last year. People
costs, supplies and service, and grants constituted the main expenditure.
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Main areas of Expenditure 2010-11
Other 6%
Depreciation 4%

Grants &
Subsidies 14%

Employees 55%

Supplies &
Services 20%

Expenditure by service

Market
Development 14%

Industry &
Regional Support 19%

Community & Environmental
Risk Management 7%

Land Management 29%

Production System
Solutions 31%

Equity – what we’re worth
Equity is net worth, which is derived from what we ‘own’ (total assets of $358.4 million) less what
we ‘owe’ (total liabilities of $47.1 million). At 30 June 2011 our equity was $311.3 million, an
increase of $23 million over last year (8 per cent). Equity increased by $23.1 million, largely due to
government capital contributions, asset transfers from the cessation of the Agriculture Protection
Board, revaluation of land and buildings, and post-acquisition reserves adjustments relating to
InterGrain Pty Ltd.

Assets – what we own
At 30 June 2011 the department had total assets of $358.4 million representing a 6% increase
over last year. Property, plant and equipment remained our largest asset constituting 63% of total
assets.

Liabilities – what we owe
The department had total liabilities of $47.1 million at 30 June 2011 representing an 8% decline
over last year. Current liabilities comprise provisions for accrued salaries, annual leave, long service
leave and payables.
Long service and annual leave liability at year end declined to an average of 8.8 weeks as a result of
the department’s reinforcement of our leave liability policy.
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Leave liability 2006-2011

9.97

9.95

9.31
9.19
9.02
8.8

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

Key financial ratios
Financial ratios provide a useful snapshot of the department’s financial status and trends, and
measure our performance in achieving financial management objectives.
Ratio and formula
Ratio formula

Measure
description

2010-11

2009-10

2008-09

Interpretation of result

Working capital:

Our ability to
meet current
commitments

1.82
times

1.72
times

1.99
times

This ratio stabilised after having
fallen the previous 3 years. The
department is able to meet its
current commitments as and
when they fall due.

Our
dependence
on state
government
revenue

67.9%

68.6%

64.2%

The department’s reliance on the
state government for revenue
remains fairly consistent.

Our
commitment to
staff

57.1%

55.2%

48.6%

Labour expenses rose as a
proportion of total expenses in
line with the department’s greater
focus on economic development
and resultant increase in ‘desk
top’ work. This is expected to
decline post the redundancy
program.

Growth in net
Current year equity vs prior assets within
the department
year equity

1.08
times

1.02
times

0.91
times

The movement is largely due to
property, plant and equipment
and the investment in InterGrain
Pty Ltd increasing.

Current asset movement:

98.4%

100.3%

63.6%

Current assets are in line with last
year’s result, which returned to
growth after a significant drop in
2009 of $41 million due to eroding
accumulated surpluses.

Growth in
93.2%
current liabilities
within the
department

112.6%

86.7%

The reduced liability is largely
due to leave provisions being
managed downwards.

Current assets vs current
liabilities
Government contribution
Income other than state
government vs income
from state government
Labour ratio:
Labour expenses vs total
expenses

Net worth movement:

Current year current assets
vs prior year current assets
Current liabilities movement:
Current year current
liabilities vs prior year
current liabilities

Growth in
current assets
within the
department
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Significant issues impacting the department
Averaged across the south west land division, 2010 was the driest year since comprehensive
records commenced in 1900. These conditions affected the equity, cash-flow and sustainability of
many agricultural businesses and rural communities.
The state and commonwealth governments worked together to replace traditional assistance
programs with more comprehensive capacity building initiatives and more purposeful grants to
build long-term resilience and viability. Known as the National Drought Pilot, this approach is
helping to improve the capacity of landholders to respond to dry conditions.
The agriculture and food sector is also operating in an increasingly difficult business environment.
Trade and investment activity continues to be affected by the global financial crisis (GFC), creating
volatile commodity markets, a high Australian dollar and pressure on input costs and the value
of our exports. The poor labour situation for the sector is compounded by competition from the
state’s strong mining sector.
We are working with the private sector and other governments to identify, cultivate and capture
new market opportunities, improve the business skills of rural enterprises, provide improved risk
management products and explore innovative business solutions.
Historical records indicate that the south west of the state is being subjected to a progressively
more variable, warmer and dryer climate, placing increasing pressure on the agriculture and food
sector. We are is working on a range of initiatives to ensure the future sustainability of the sector in
the changing climate.
Our new Managed Environment and New Genes for New Environments facilities will help us and
our partners to develop drought-tolerant and improved grain varieties. Our Pathways to Resilience
initiative will help growers boost farm productivity in areas with less than 350 millimetres rainfall.
In contrast to the south west, the Kimberley and Gascoyne experienced very much above average
rainfall; and the Eucla recorded its wettest year in 121 years of records.
Increasing global transit and climate change are also creating increased biosecurity risks to
Australian industries from exotic pests, weeds and diseases. We are working closely with industry
and the community to develop and implement counter-measures— such as enhanced pre-border
and border checkpoint activities— to manage these risks.
The sector’s ability to reach its potential and capitalise on market opportunities relies on access to
appropriate land and water availability. We are working with other government agencies, industry
and the community to ensure the agriculture and food sector can access the land and water it
needs to capitalise on these opportunities.
Intensive agricultural production is coming under pressure from increasing urbanisation and other
land uses. We are working with government and industry to plan land use to ensure valuable
production and processing capacity is maintained.
Continuing advances in information delivery and analytical systems present both opportunities and
risks to the sector. We are focused on providing industry and communities with the information
required to make informed, timely decisions.
Community and customer expectations about the quality and safety of food and fibre products
continue to grow. Together with our industry partners, we are working to satisfy these expectations
and promote a positive profile of the state’s agriculture and food sector. The issues around animal
welfare and livestock are increasingly complex, with the department taking a leadership role in their
consideration.
In the long-term, productivity of agriculture depends on sustainable soil and water resources. We
are working with industry and other government agencies to protect and enhance soil and water
resources, with a focus on soil erosion, off-site nutrient export and soil acidity.
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Economic and social trends
The south west of Western Australia has been exposed to six poor seasons over the last eleven
years, including the unprecedented 2010 dry season, which severely impacted many of our
agricultural enterprises. Our changing and increasingly variable climate will continue to raise new
and different pressures: as highlighted this year by our need to address both drought and flood
conditions at the same time.
Globally, the level of community and governmental concern about food security increased
significantly. Concern was expressed about its impact on the financial, environmental and social
drivers of both the developed and developing world, including many of our major trading partners.
This, along with the entry and advancement of a number of new trading countries, is creating a
range of new and increasingly variable market forces.
Similarly, there are growing community and customer expectations about the quality and safety of
the world’s food and fibre products and the ethics of their production - many of which play to our
strengths.
The Australian dollar rose sharply against a number of our trading partners and competitors - with
the Trade Weighted Index rising from the high 60’s to the high 70’s over the year. Industry will need
to develop strategies and options to deal with potentially volatile currency conditions.
More locally, the state’s increasing development will continue to put greater pressure on our finite
resources, accentuating the need for sound policies regarding each sector’s access to appropriate
land, infrastructure and water resources.

NEW GENES FOR NEW ENVIRONMENTS
The first of two highly sophisticated field-testing facilities for
genetically modified (GM) traits began operation in Western
Australia in 2011.
The $1.5 million site in Merredin is home to Australia’s first
multi-user, purpose-built facility for GM crop trials.
It is part of the New Genes for New Environments initiative.
Researchers aim to accelerate the development of higher
yielding and more resilient varieties that provide significant
health benefits to consumers.
Improved varieties should help growers to adapt to changes
in climate, markets and consumer preferences—ensuring
they remain internationally competitive and profitable well
into the future.

The $1.5 million test site in
Merredin—a first for Australia

The resulting varieties could save Western Australian cereal
growers $90 million in frost damage while improving yield and quality costs by around $1.2 billion
per year.
The facilities have attracted investment in GM crop research from the public and private sectors,
with clients keen to extend their research from the laboratory and glasshouse to a secure field
trial facility.
All research activities at the site adhere to stringent national standards for GM testing.
While the Merredin facility enables users to evaluate plant traits in low-to-medium rainfall areas,
a similar facility—to be built near Katanning in time for the 2012 growing season —will provide
analysis in medium-to-high rainfall conditions. The department will provide ongoing technical and
compliance support at both sites.
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An ageing workforce, ageing ownership, strong labour demand in the mining and energy sectors,
and lingering concerns about credit availability and costs will continue to put pressures on both
agricultural enterprises and the family units around which many of them are based.
Ongoing developments in information delivery systems present both opportunities and risks – with
all organisations needing to increasingly strike and maintain a balance between the legitimate
expectations of their customers and the organisation’s ability to establish and maintain the level of
service that is now potentially possible.
The significant changes undertaken by the department over the last two years reflect an increasing
need by all organisations – public and private – to continually sharpen their focus and approach in
order to stay abreast of economic, social and environmental expectations. While we expect to be
able to consolidate a number of these changes throughout 2011-12, we are very aware that we will
also need to keep testing and advancing our aims and performance on an ongoing basis.

Legislative change, changes in written law and significant
judicial decisions
The following legislative changes pertinent to the department were finalised or progressed during
the 2010-11 financial year.
Legislative changes during 2010-2011:
•

Repeal of the Grain Marketing Act 2002

•

Repeal of the Agriculture Protection Board Act 1950

•

Amendment of the Agriculture and Related Resources Protection Act 1976

•

Repeal of the Cattle Industry compensation Act 1965 – replaced by the Biosecurity and
Agriculture management Industry Funding Scheme (Cattle) Regulations 2010

•

Repeal of the Plant Pests and Diseases (Eradication Funds) Act 1974 – replaced by the
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Industry Funding Scheme (Grains) Regulations 2010

•

Expiry of the Chicken Meat Industry Act 1977

Legislative changes approved by Cabinet:
•

Repeal of the Agricultural Practices (Disputes) Act 1995

Likely developments and forecast results of operations
The 2010-11 year was, to a large extent, one of consolidation for the department following the
significant transformation program initiated in 2009-10. The 2011-12 year will see the department
build on the benefits that those changes brought about, based in large part around four key
themes, being to ensure that:
•

our staff and stakeholders have a clear understanding of what we are about and their roles

•

we cement a ‘one DAFWA’ approach to our business

•

we actively seek out ways of improving the way we approach the task in front of us

•

we continue to build and refine the skills and qualities that we need to succeed.
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Governance and compliance
“We aim to be an organisation that is seen by our clients, employees and the wider community
to be a responsible ‘corporate citizen’, behaving in an ethically, socially and environmentally
responsible manner. Good governance and corresponding management accountabilities will ensure
we identify and meet those responsibilities”.
Rob Delane, Director General
This section presents the department’s governance and compliance reports for the year ended 30
June 2011.

Government and public sector relationship
Enabling legislation
The Department of Agriculture and Food, Western Australia was established as the Department of
Agriculture in 1894 and operates under the Public Sector Management Act 1994.
Responsible minister
The Hon. Terry Redman MLA
Minister for Agriculture and Food; Forestry; Corrective Services
Administered legislation
The Minister for Agriculture and Food is responsible for the administration of a large number of
related Acts. These are listed in Appendix 1. Responsibility for most of these is delegated to the
Department of Agriculture and Food (Western Australian Agriculture Authority).
Other key legislation impacting on activities
In the performance of its functions, the department complies with a number of relevant written laws.
These are listed in Appendix 2.
Ministerial directives
No ministerial directives were received during the financial year ended 30 June 2011.
Contracts with senior officers
At 30 June 2011, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, or firms
of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial interests,
had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the department and senior officers.
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Management and oversight
High-level government goals are supported at an agency level by specific outcomes. The linkages
between the relevant government goals, desired outcomes and services are described in more
detail in the performance indicators commencing on page 41.
Government goal

Service 1

Outcome 1

Social and environmental responsibility—
Land management
ensuring that economic activity is managed
in a socially and environmentally responsible Service 5
manner for the long-term benefit of the
Community and
state
environmental risk

Land managers and producers using
best management practices

Government goal

Service 2

Outcome 2

Stronger focus on the regions—greater
focus on service delivery, infrastructure
investment and economic development to
improve the overall quality of life in remote
and regional areas

Production system
solutions

An innovative and adaptive production
sector that effectively manages risk

Service 3

Outcome 3

Industry and regional
support

Competitive food and agricultural
industries

Government goal

Service 4

Outcome 4

Outcome-based service delivery—greater
focus on achieving results in key service
delivery areas for the benefit of all Western
Australians

Market development

Increased value of domestic and
international trade

Outcome 5
Reduced incidence and impact of
environmental and community-based
risks

Responsibilities shared with other agencies
The department works closely with a range of state and national bodies to serve the agriculture and
food industries, related communities and the state as a whole.
We formally incorporated this collaborative approach into our 2011–15 Strategic Plan, and expect it
to become more prevalent in the future. Our major shared responsibilities are outlined below:
•

leadership of the State Natural Resource Management Program, with a range of agencies,
including the Departments of Environment and Conservation, Fisheries, Indigenous Affairs,
Planning and Water. Collectively, we aim to ensure that resources are managed, developed
and used sustainably, that biological diversity is preserved, and that habitats are protected

•

natural disaster relief and recovery arrangements. Together with Fire and Emergency Services
(FESA), we provide relief measures for farmers after declared natural disaster events and
conduct joint emergency animal disease responses with FESA and WA Police

•

principal partner with the Department of Regional Development and Lands in a program to
promote sustainable and economically diverse communities in the rangelands

•

oversight of the Rural, Remote and Regional Women’s Network with the Department of
Regional Development and Lands

•

provision of technical advice to the Department of Local Government and the RSPCA in
regard to livestock welfare matters. Responsibility for the Animal Welfare Act 2002 is to be
transferred from the Department of Local Government to the Department of Agriculture and
Food in July 2011

•

development of national animal welfare policies, standards and guidelines with other
jurisdictions through the Australian Animal Welfare Strategy

•

joint research and management of European house borer with the Forest Products
Commission
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•

joint development and implementation of the State Water Plan with the Department of Water

•

joint development of components of the Shared Land Information Platform with FESA,
Landgate and the Departments of Water, and Environment and Conservation

•

joint inspection and evaluation of pastoral leases with the Pastoral Lands Board.

Organisational structure
Our department is structured around three directorates focused on major agrifood industry
sectors—grains, livestock and irrigated agriculture. These are supported by three cross-cutting
directorates focused on managing risks to the agricultural resource base, our own regional
operations and our corporate capability.
Operationally, staff from each of these directorates work together to provide the range of skills and
perspectives needed to foster economic growth.
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Senior officers and directorates

Mr Rob Delane (Director General)
Before his appointment as Director General in November 2009, Rob held a series of high level roles in agricultural agencies - most recently
Deputy Secretary and Executive Director positions with the Commonwealth Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry.
Rob has extensive knowledge and understanding of Western Australian agriculture and the role of the department; and received a Public
Service Medal in 2007 for his outstanding service.
Greg Paust (Executive Director)

Regional Operations and Development

Greg has 30 years experience in industry development and
natural resource management, including Director of Regional
Services with the Department of Fisheries and as a Regional
Manager with the (then) Department of Agriculture.

Supports regionally-located ‘multi-project offices’ servicing the needs
of the department and industry; and manages a number of crosssectoral functions such as market and trade development and industry
productivity and performance.

Greg holds an Agricultural Science degree and MBA from
the University of Western Australia; and is a graduate of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors course.

Its functions include service delivery to industry and communities;
leadership of regional staff through a team of Regional Directors; and
management of cross-sectoral and cross-agency projects.

Meg Somers (Executive Director)

Corporate Strategy and Operations

Meg has over 30 years experience in government at both the
commonwealth and state level, most recently as Executive
Director Strategic Planning and Development at Landgate.

Previously the Business Services Directorate, the name change reflects
an enhanced commitment to ensuring the department continually tests
and refines its business model and capacity to meet the evolving needs of
government, industry and the community.

Her work covers strategic policy, legislative and business reform,
strategic human resources and organisation transformation.

With key functions including the development of our people, facilities,
finances and information capabilities, the Directorate provides the full suite
of resources needed for the department to achieve its mission.

John Ruprecht (Executive Director)

Agricultural Resource Risk Management (ARRM)

John has over 27 years experience in natural resource
management, including a range of senior management and
policy roles. His work covers water resource assessment,
engineering and remediation; urban development; sustainable
agriculture and biosecurity.

ARRM contributes to the sustainable management of land and water
resources in a changing climate by developing long-term management
solutions, strategies and tools. This includes preventing the introduction
and establishment of exotic plants, pests and diseases; and coordinating
policy, training, legislation and emergency response capabilities related to
sustainable agriculture.

A previous WA president of Engineers Australia and chair of the
National Water Engineering Committee, he is a current member
of the National Groundwater Research Training Advisory Board.

ARRM does this by building partnerships with catchment groups,
communities and government agencies; and by targeting our investment
in biodiversity and the stewardship of natural resources.

Peter Metcalfe (Executive Director)

Grains Industries

Peter has extensive experience in the grains industry, including
his 23 years in a range of roles with the department.
He has been instrumental in focusing our business on meeting
market requirements, developing products and services that
meet industry needs, introducing a farming systems approach to
our work and devising better technology transfer programs.

Drives and supports the economic development of the WA grains industry
and provides leadership and strategic direction to address industry and
Government priorities. Current focus on increasing industry profitability
and resilience through its Bridging the Yield Gap, Pathways to Resilience
and New Genes for New Environments programs; and by developing the
Australian Export Gains Innovation Centre.

Kevin Chennell (Executive Director)

Livestock Industries

A veterinarian with qualifications in education, radiology and
management, Kevin worked in private practice and in a range of
senior government roles before joining the department in June
2008.

Supports sustainable economic development through biosecurity
surveillance and assurance; and industry innovation, consultation,
planning and leadership.

A former president of the WA Veterinary Association and member
of the Premier’s Science Council, he is passionate about leading
change, innovation and industry relationships.

Its focus is on developing partnerships across supply chains, achieving
measurable productivity improvements, developing appropriate
infrastructure, increasing market penetration and promoting linkages to
the national Research Development and Extension strategies.

Terry Hill (Executive Director)

Irrigated Agriculture and Diversification

Terry has extensive experience in the horticultural industry at
state, national and international levels; and has held a number of
senior positions within the department.

This diverse directorate spans development in the irrigated agriculture
(horticulture), food and forestry industries through to maintaining the
marketing advantage offered by our enviable plant biosecurity status.

He has a particular knowledge of the highly diverse and complex
Western Australian industry; and is a past board member of
both Horticulture Australia Ltd and the Grape and Wine R&D
Corporation.

It has a strong focus on driving agribusiness opportunities and working
to reduce barriers; and on identifying risks and promoting practices to
manage plant biosecurity.
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Operations
Capital works
Year of
completion

Approved
budget
$’000

Total cost
(estimated)
$’000

Cost
variation
$’000

Explanation of variation

Department
headquarters
redevelopment
including Australian
Export, Grain
Innovation Centre

2016

186,611
(part
funding)

235,000

48.4

Approval to proceed granted
under the 2011–12 budget
process, with the additional
$48.4 million to be funded
from the disposal of surplus
department land in the
metropolitan area

New Genes for New
Environment facilities
in Merredin and
Katanning

2012

3,000

3,000

Construction commenced
at Merredin. Construction
at Katanning due for
completion in 2012

2011

3,900

3,900

Program completed to
budget

Capital works
projects incomplete

Capital projects
completed
Capital Equipment
Replacement Program

Property rationalisation program
The department’s 2011–12 Strategic Asset Plan identified surplus properties in the metropolitan
and regional areas of the state. Sales are progressing through the government’s disposal process.
Corporate support reform
The State Government initiated the reform of corporate services in 2005–06, with the intent of
streamlining the provision of a range of financial and human resource functions through a central
Office of Shared Services. After the government announced early in 2011 that it would review the
shared services concept, we deferred the transfer of the department’s human resources functions
but continued to transfer our financial functions. The transfer of financial functions was completed in
May 2011.
The decision to proceed with one transfer but not the other was deliberate. Our in-house financial
system was out-of-date but retention of the human resources functions allowed us to minimise
potential disruption.
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Governance and compliance
Audit committee
The department’s Audit Committee advises the Director General and the Executive on the
application and promotion of good governance throughout the agency. The committee’s role is to
review and provide advice on governance processes with a focus on control, risk management,
follow-up of audit recommendations and oversight of the Governance and Performance branch.
The committee meets quarterly with regular attendees, including a senior officer from the Office of
the Auditor General, the department’s Executive Director of Corporate Strategy and Operations, the
Director of Finance and the Manager of the Governance and Performance branch.
Member

Meetings attended
2010–11

Margaret Nowak (Chair) an independent member with relevant audit, governance,
risk and financial management skills and experience.

3

Jeremy Hawke an independent member who is the General Manager, Finance with
the Department of Mines and Petroleum with extensive experience as a previous
Chief Internal Audit Executive.

3

John O’Brian an independent member with audit, governance, risk and financial
management skills and experience. John’s appointment to the committee ceased
on 30 November 2010.

2

Rob Delane Director General of the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western
Australia.

3

Ethics and integrity
The department strongly promotes ethical behaviour and integrity as core values. For new staff
members, an online induction course includes components on ethics and integrity and the Public
Interest Disclosure Act 2003 (PID). It is compulsory for all new employees to satisfactorily complete
these components.
In addition, our mandatory online training course in Accountable and Ethical Decision Making has
had excellent uptake within the department since its commencement in 2010, with more than 70
per cent of staff having now completed or partly completed the course.
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Public sector standards and ethical codes
The table below shows compliance issues that arose during the 2010-11 financial year regarding
public sector standards.
2009–10

2010–11

Applications carried over

1

0

New applications received

3

6

Total applications

4

6

Recruitment, selection and appointment

2

2

Transfer

0

0

Grievance resolution

2

4

Withdrawn in agency

0

1

Resolved in agency

0

3

Still pending in agency

0

1

Referred to OPSSC*

4

1

Total applications completed

4

5

Breach claims lodged

Outcome of claims handled

*The Office of the Public Sector Standards Commissioner dismissed all four claims.

Compliance issues that arose during the 2010-11 financial year regarding the department’s Code of
Conduct and the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics included:
a)

b)

c)

Four matters dealt within the department’s grievance policy:
•
allegation of bullying - partially substantiated
•
allegation of bullying - not substantiated
•
allegation of bullying and numerous Code of Conduct breaches - currently being
investigated
•
allegation of breach of confidentiality during grievance process - not substantiated.
Five matters dealt with in accordance with the breach of discipline process pursuant to the
Public Sector Management Act 1994:
•
one of non-compliance with the department’s policy of incurring of expenses
•
two of impropriety and improper conduct (failure to keep proper weekend rostering
schedules and failure to inform line managers of work schedules)
•
two of conflict of interest regarding allegations of breach of obligation as an employee of
the department.
Significant action taken to monitor and ensure compliance included:
•
internal policies reviewed and updated to ensure consistency with changes to the
legislative instruments that regulate public sector employment and establishment
of two new Commissioner’s Instructions (Employment Standard and Filling a Public
Sector Vacancy). HR employees attended briefings on the changes to the legislative
requirements
•
Contact Officer and Grievance Officer network updated and officers trained bi-annually
•
Accountable and Ethical Decision Making training program rolled-out during the year to
support the State Public Sector integrity agenda
•

managers trained in managing workplace conduct, conflict and grievance resolution.
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Staffing policies
Staff sustainability project
This project is a key component of the department’s organisational transformation program. It
is designed to attract, engage and retain a talented and committed workforce. After consulting
widely with staff members, we are progressively implementing a range of ideas and suggested
improvements.
In the past year, we rolled out a new staff performance management system called MyPlan,
which is a more modern and more useful tool than the previous system. We are reviewing the
department’s criteria progression (CP) system to ensure it aligns with our new direction. CP allows
us to recognise the contribution of the individual. We are also reviewing the Graduate Program to
ensure future activities in this area meet the needs of the department and reflect changes in the
dynamics of graduate employment.
Another important part of the sustainability project is our Quality of Life initiative (QoL). QoL
promotes a working environment that is supportive and conducive to a good quality of life. Activities
relate to nine areas of employee wellbeing— family, health, economic, work, personal growth,
social, recreation, security and community.
Quality of Life initiative key achievements
•

continued delivery of one-day Personal Financial Management sessions designed to improve
employees’ personal cash flow, money management, and financial planning and retirement
strategies. A wealth creation course is also available on a user-pays basis

•

Bank your blood program with staff making blood donations with the Australian Red Cross
Blood Service

•

healthy lifestyle focus, reflected in changes to the Social Club canteen menu and a ‘choose to
move’ program

•

continuation of the skin cancer screening program for staff.

Staff development
We are committed to staff development, with a focus on building a highly professional and agile
workforce able to adapt to changing technology, knowledge and environments.
Key activities for 2010–11 included:
•

Primary Industry Science Program—a partnership with other organisations to develop the
talent and interest in primary industry science at secondary school level

•

opportunities for Indigenous cadetships and traineeships in the fields of veterinary science,
natural resource management, administration, information technology and rural operations.
This program saw the successful appointment of a new trainee in Business Services

•

development of a new coaching approach for performance management using the MyPlan
approach and template to facilitate performance and development conversations. This was
piloted during 2009–10 and implemented in 2010–11

•

Implementation of a Leadership Impact 360-degree Assessment Tool to help determine future
training and development needs of the senior leadership team (SLT). Assessment will provide
SLT members with information on their own leadership strategies, their impact on others and
personal/organisational effectiveness.
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Training
The department strives to develop and maintain a highly skilled, professional and equitable
workforce through continuous learning. We provide compulsory training activities for all staff in
Indigenous Australian cultural awareness, equal employment opportunity awareness, occupational
safety and health awareness, driver safety and driver development training, and basic first aid.
Key activities during 2010–11 included:
•

occupational safety and health training initiatives, including manual handling programs for
technical officers and correct workstation practices. Additional training was provided for
15 staff safety representatives to support their enhanced role in managing work incident
investigations

•

Professional Effectiveness Program (Certificate 3 in Business–Frontline Management)
commencing a tenth program. A total of 177 staff members have participated in this nationally
accredited program, which enhances professional skills in team development and leadership

•

Optimising Workplace Relations— developed in 2009–10, this training program assists
managers with some of the tougher tasks of managing people, particularly in regard to Equal
Employment Opportunity. This program has now been implemented across the state, with 11
courses completed covering 128 staff. The course is now part of the core training program for
managers

•

Writing Ministerials training workshop— developed and delivered to help staff to meet agency
and ministerial expectations for briefing notes and ministerial correspondence. More than 125
staff have taken part in the workshop. Training will continue in the next financial year

•

Indigenous Cultural Awareness Stage 2—focuses on working with Indigenous landholders,
building on the department’s existing program.

Employment and industrial relations
Staff profile (on FTE basis)

2009–10

2010–11

Full-time permanent

1015

923

Full-time contract

148

125

Part-time permanent

165

153

3

13

1332

1214

On secondment
Total

Employment categories

Wages 2%

Administrative 23%
Professional 45%

Inspectorial 9%

Technical 21%
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Workplace reform and industrial relations
Consistent with government policy on labour relations, the department has an Agency Specific
Agreement (ASA). The agreement includes entitlements that continue to provide the department
and staff with mutually beneficial conditions of employment and cost-effective and efficient work
practices. Continuous assessment and review of current conditions of employment and work
practices occurs in consultation with employees, managers and relevant unions. Due to negotiation
of the Public Sector General Agreement as registered in the Western Australian Industrial Relations
Commission on the 28 June 2011, the department will now be able to resume negotiations with the
relevant union to register a replacement ASA for the department.

Disability access and inclusion plan
The department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 20011–14 (DAIP) complements our Equal
Employment Opportunity (EEO) Management Plan 2010–13 and provides strategies for the
inclusion of customers and staff with disabilities through improved access to information, services
and facilities.
Outcome

Key achievements 2010–11

1. People with disabilities have the
same opportunities as other people
to access the services of, and
any events organised by, a public
authority.

•

The Equity and Diversity Committee meets on a regular basis
and plans and monitors outcomes and champions EEO
strategies, including those for people with disabilities.

•

The department’s Events and Display Guidelines were reviewed
and enhanced to ensure that all events are accessible to people
with disabilities.

2. People with disabilities have the
same opportunities as other people
to access the buildings and other
facilities of a public authority.

•

The development of a consistent approach towards appropriate
signage to meet the needs of people with disabilities is in
progress.

•

An audit is being conducted at departmental offices relating
to the adequate provision of building accessibility (including
ACROD parking bays) and signage.

•

A member of the department’s Building Services team is now
required to attend all Equity and Diversity committee meetings.

3. People with disabilities receive
information from a public authority in
a format that enables them to access
it as readily as other people.

•

Continued awareness-raising with staff to ensure that all new
publications state that they are available in alternative formats
upon request and made available.

4. People with disabilities receive
the same level and quality of service
from the staff of a public authority as
others.

•

Staff awareness-raising of equity and diversity issues, including
disability and access issues, continue via a range of methods,
including the EEO learning and development program, online
induction, Diversity Speaks program, corporate celebrations and
regular internal communications.

•
5. People with disabilities have the
same opportunities as others to make
complaints to a public authority.

The EEO awareness training course has been reviewed to
include guidance for staff in supporting people with disabilities to
access complaint and grievance processes.

6. People with disabilities have the
same opportunities as others to
participate in any public consultation
by a public authority.

•

The Customer Communications and Consultation corporate
policy is reviewed annually.
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Finance
Department’s annual estimates
All special purpose accounts held by the Department of Agriculture and Food are detailed in the
department’s budget statements and financial statements. The level of grants and contributions
from both Australian Government and non-government sources for the next financial year (2011–
12) is currently estimated at $44 million. For details regarding the range of special purpose funding
sources see Note 13 of the financial statements.
Shares held by the Department
The department does not hold shares in any subsidiary body as defined by Section 60 of the
Financial Management Act 2006.
Finance committee
The Finance Committee was established in December 2009 and meets on a monthly basis.
The committee members are the Director General, the Chief Finance Officer and the corporate
Executive team. The role of the committee is to:
•
•
•
•

Determine options to address funding pressures within the department
To provide advice with respect to making significant financial decisions
Understand the status of program, tactic and priority resource investments highlighting
resourcing issues
Determine the disbursement of the financial and FTE (people) resources.

Pricing policies of services provided
The department charges on a full or partial cost recovery basis for some goods and services
rendered.
The department’s fees and charges were determined in accordance with Costing and Pricing
Government Services published by the Department of Treasury and Finance. The 2010-11 list of
fees and charges were implemented on 1 July 2010 as published in the Gazette on 30 June 2010.
Services may be exempted from charges where the department determines that a particular service
is essential for a competent analysis of a problem by an officer; or the matter relates to a suspected
exotic disease outbreak, approved research or surveillance or other conditions that may from time
to time be declared by the Director General.
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Advertising (Electoral Act 1907 section 175ZE)
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the department incurred the following
expenditure on advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.
Total expenditure for 2010–11 was $556,601, significantly below the $900,000 reported last year
– that higher figure resulting primarily from advertising campaigns for the Buy West Eat Best and
European House Borer Awareness programs. Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:
Advertising agencies
Optmum media decision
303 Group pty ltd
Export solutions
Circling shark productions
Vivid group pty ltd
Dingo promotions
Asb marketing pty ltd
Perth advertising services
Linkletters

291,282
151,019
70,774
20,984
19,445
15,305
7,310
3,735
1,620
1,090

Media advertising organisations
Perth expohire and furniture group
Media Monitors Australia pty ltd
Adcorp Australia ltd
Fresh finesse
Kondinin information service
Wok in a box group pty ltd
Abbott & co printers
Lustre publishing pty ltd
Promote you
Agricultural publishers
Network packaging
The twisted fork-Paul Zammit
Kingdale investments
WA newspapers
Vegetables WA
Macquarie southern cross
Bauxite resources limited
Bliss parties
Conservation council
Albany advertiser
Exibit exhibitions
Salmat limited
Acorn photo agency
Hi res
Churchill film services
West print management
Fuzhou Tiantian imp, exp trading
Rural press regional media
Etherington & Sons pty ltd
Business promotions
WA Local Government Assn
Design Design Graphics
Concept media

265,319
62,172
28,333
25,724
16,636
11,901
9,283
8,039
7,185
6,966
5,729
5,191
4,873
3,962
3,829
3,739
3,333
3,200
2,928
2,750
2,600
2,495
2,475
2,400
2,277
2,196
2,101
2,049
1,768
1,732
1,535
1,450
1,353
1,298

Livesstock International
Team digital
Klimo graphics
OFWK East Perth
John Muirhead
Earlywork pty ltd
Eucalypt Homewares
Clever designs
Community newspaper
The box man
Fps famous pacific shipping (wa) PL
Magicorp pty limited
Coles group
Blake & bell
Countrywide publications
4l design group
Chamber of commerce
Australia – Indonesia
Mayflower
Farmwest
Embroidme Malaga
Imatec digital
Bannershop International
Kerry Coyle communications
Not only signs
Silco nominees t/a signs i.t.
Shire of Christmas Island
Southwest printing
Hills orchard improvement group inc
Minoo Nikpour
Aust plant pathology

1,291
1,175
1,040
1,002
1,000
916
860
844
823
781
750
746
657
640
600
569
550
500
476
429
416
408
354
350
314
295
288
283
270
270
250

Worldwide online print

202

Daniel J Maloney

200

Halls creek herald

168

AIAST

165

Koorda community resource centre

127

Albany chamber of commerce

119

Gingin community resource centre

109

Miscellaneous providers <$100 (34 off)

1,581

Market research organisations

NIL

Polling organisations

NIL

Direct mail organisations

NIL
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Freedom of Information
A description of the types of information and documents the department holds and how to access
information under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 is contained in the department’s FOI
information statement. The Information Statement is reviewed annually and made available to the
public on the department’s website.
The number of FOI applications received in 2010–11 was similar to the previous year. The majority
of applications related to regulatory matters under a range of statutes administered by the
department.
2010-11
Applications carried over

1

New applications received

25

Total applications

26

Application outcome
Applications transferred in full

2

Applications withdrawn

2

Applications completed

22

Total applications completed

22

Applications outstanding at 30 June

4

FOI applications received 2006-2011
24

17

25

16

10
8

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

Application types
Personal information requests

2

Non-personal information requests

23

Request to amend personal information

0

Complaints handling
The department recognises that appropriate attention to the concerns of clients is an essential
component of successful client-focused service delivery. The department’s Customer
Compliments and Complaints policy ensures complaints are handled fairly and efficiently. Clients
are encouraged to complete the customer feedback form on our website.
The number of complaints received in 2010–11 was similar to the previous year. The 10 complaints
received related to a range of issues. The total is an acceptable level for the department given the
large number of regulatory statutes we administer on behalf of the government.
Types of complaints received

2010–11

Regulatory

1

Information accuracy and timeliness

4

Negligence/misconduct

5

Financial

0

Total

10

Complaints received 2006-2011
16

9

10

7
4

2006

4

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011
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Record keeping plan
As prescribed by the State Records Act 2000, State Records Commissions Standards, Standard 2,
Principle 6, an online record keeping awareness and induction course commenced in 2004 and is
mandatory for all staff to complete at commencement of their employment.
•

A record keeping manual, other record keeping information and procedures are all available
to our staff through the department’s intranet. This year the records of the department were
migrated to a new version of the record keeping software, and all guides and procedures were
updated

•

A second online training program “Accountable and Ethical Decision Making” has a module
which emphasises the need for record keeping. This course is also mandatory for all new and
existing staff

•

Training continues for staff managing physical records on software products used by the
department.

Other Record Keeping Activity
•

The department is making a significant investment over the next four years in information
management systems. The implementation of these programs will commence in the 2011-12
financial year including a priority to deploy a digital recordkeeping system across the agency

•

The department submitted its revised Functional Retention and Disposal Schedule to the State
Records Commission. The schedule is now waiting for final approval

•

As required by the State Records Commission, a revised Business Classification Scheme was
created. This Thesaurus schema has now been incorporated into the department’s record
keeping software and is being used for file keyword titling

•

All records, archives and documents from the Agricultural Protection Board (APB) and Zone
Control Authorities (ZCAs), were identified and archived as a result of the introduction of the
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 (BAM Act).

Substantive equality
Substantive equality pertains to ensuring that services are provided in such a way (or ways) that
people with differing needs all attain an equitable outcome.
The department is committed to substantive equality, requiring that all its programs address the
needs of all members of the community in accordance with the provisions of the Equal Opportunity
Act (1984).
We seek to ensure that our services are designed and delivered in ways that meet the needs of
all our clients, including indigenous Australians and ethnic minorities, by applying the following
principles:
•

The department serves members of the agriculture community regardless of age, race,
culture, religion, disability or gender

•

We seek to meet the diverse needs of our clients by continuous review and development of
service design and delivery

•

Directors and Managers must ensure substantive equality principles are incorporated into
plans, procedures and practices

•

Line managers must ensure staff have the knowledge, skills and abilities to support the policy

•

Staff responsible for client services must ensure those services are developed and delivered
appropriately and equitably.
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Reconciliation Action Plan
The department’s Reconciliation Action Plan 2008–2010 was reviewed and the new Reconciliation
Action Plan 2011–14 is being developed. It provides key strategies for our vision of reconciliation
and for recognising and respecting the role of traditional landowners in the agricultural and pastoral
industries.
Key activities and achievements in 2010–11 included:
•

NAIDOC week corporate celebrations, including a flag-raising ceremony and the ‘Diversity
Speaks’ forum, with Tim Muirhead discussing engaging with Indigenous communities

•

Indigenous Australians Cultural Awareness Training Stage 2 program implemented. This will
enable a deeper awareness of and enhanced communication skills and engagement with
Indigenous communities

•

Indigenous Landholder Service (ILS) expanded to deliver extension, training and support to
more than 70 Aboriginal managed properties across the state. Demand for the ILS has grown
from two properties in 2003 to 77 properties in 2011

•

Indigenous Landholder Service (ILS) won the ‘Revitalising the Regions’ category and the
overall 2010 Premier’s Award for its work with Indigenous land managers, businesses and
community groups.

INDIGENOUS WINNERS
The future for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
people throughout Western Australia is being
transformed through the work of the department’s
Indigenous Landholder Service (ILS).
The focus of the ILS is to rebuild Indigenous properties.
But the benefits extend well beyond land and business
management to substantial social, economic and
environmental gains.
The success of the ILS was recognised in 2010 when
it won the ‘Revitalising the Regions’ category of the
prestigious Premier’s Awards, in addition to the overall
state award.
The ILS has five services involving 77 properties and
5000 Indigenous people from the Kimberley to the
south coast. They work in partnership with Indigenous
Land Councils to rebuild the properties and transform
the local communities that own and operate them.
The ultimate goal for each community is selfsufficiency.

The Indigenous Landholder Service is helping to rebuild
Indigenous properties throughout the state.

Each ILS project is unique and is driven by its participants.
Underpinned by corporate governance, training and support, the Indigenous enterprises have
become more productive and profitable and natural resource management has improved. There
is also greater participation in the local and state economy and stronger relationships have been
forged with the broader community.
The social benefits are even more enduring—generating pride, motivation and direction with the
promise of a more positive future.
The success of the ILS has sparked interest from the Northern Territory and South Africa in
adopting its blueprint.
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Enterprise risk management
The department is committed to effective risk management to support our operational objectives.
We have reviewed our risk management framework including the:
•

risk management policy and procedure manual to ensure compliance with international
risk management standard ISO31000, Treasurer’s Instruction 825 and the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Good Governance Guide and Circulars

•

integration of risk management with strategic planning

•

risk module of the project management system

•

strategic risk management plan.

The Governance and Performance branch now has responsibility for coordination, education and
reporting in relation to risk management. The Audit Committee regularly monitors the completeness
and effectiveness of the risk management framework.
Occupational safety, health and injury management
Performance
Government
target
2010–11

DAFWA
target

2009–10

2010–11

Target
achieved

Number of fatalities

0

0

0

0

Yes

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D)
incidence rate

0 or 10%
reduction

1.2

1.50

0.74

Yes

Lost time injury severity rate

0 or 10%
improvement

0

14.3

11

No

Percentage of injured workers
returned to work within 28 weeks

Actual
percentage

90%*

93%*

94%*

Yes

Percentage of managers trained in
OSH and injury management

50% or
greater

95%**

96%

95%

Yes

Notes:

* Figure relates to calendar year.
** Figures relate to all permanent staff.

Key achievements and initiatives in 2010–11
•

completed implementation and promotion of revised Communication Safety Policy

•

introduced satellite tracking and communication devices

•

conducted review of pressure vessels

•

updated research station emergency response plans

•

commenced a second skin cancer screening program

•
•

introduced a healthy catering policy
completed third round of Agtivation health checks.
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Commitment to occupational safety, and health and injury management
The department has a general occupational safety and health (OSH) policy, 26 other policies covering
OSH systems and hazards, and one policy on injury management and workers compensation.
Most of these policies have been in place for more than a decade and are reviewed at least every
three years. Any initiatives required for new or reviewed policies are determined by the OSH Policy
Committee and are included in our annual OSH initiative strategy. OSH and injury management
targets are included in each annual OSH strategy. Changes to policy are communicated to OSH
committee chairpersons, OSH representatives and relevant managers immediately after each policy
committee meeting. All policies are available on our intranet and all new staff members are made
aware of the location of policies and other OSH information through the induction process.
Training
Occupational safety and health awareness training is mandatory for all employees. Ninety-six per
cent of the workforce had completed the training at 30 June 2011. Another education focus for
this year was workplace management of communication safety via informal training with individual
workgroups to raise awareness and facilitate the implementation of the revised policy. We continue
to provide two levels of driver training and a range of skills-based training related to the use of
machinery, chemicals and other processes.

INSIDE STORY
Often, innovation’s only friend is the CEO.
However, at the department, a team of more than
40 people has been selected to consolidate the
department’s rapidly changing role.
The senior leadership team was chosen to galvanise
the department’s vision of ‘a progressive, innovative
and profitable agriculture and food sector that
benefits Western Australia’.
A series of workshops have been held to encourage
the team to make the grassroots transformation,
and to sharpen its focus on achieving real economic
growth throughout that sector.
Team members have worked together to better
understand the factors influencing both individuals
and groups in dealing with challenges, opportunities
and change, all inevitable hallmarks of business
today.
The team has also tackled a range of other issues
including brand awareness, the relationship between
management and leadership, their own team
strengths and weaknesses, and driving innovation.
‘Our in-house think-tank needs to be an innovation
catalyst,’ Director General Rob Delane said.

WA Public Sector Innovation Workshop. Committee
members left to right Marion Burchell, Geraldine
Nimbalker, Paul Duncan, Annabel Mazzella, Jes
Moore and Amalia Burmas.
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Consultation
The department has a two-tier system of OSH consultation. An OSH Policy Committee is
responsible for policy, strategy and monitoring performance. This committee comprises managers
and regional OSH representatives. Local committees in larger district offices and staff meetings
in smaller offices form the second tier of consultation. Quarterly committee and staff meetings
consider incident, hazard and inspection reports and actions raised by the committee. There are
elected OSH representatives in every district office. Staff members are made aware of their local
and regional OSH representatives through local induction and our OSH awareness course.
Injury management compliance
The department’s injury management system and return-to-work program are documented in an
injury management policy and supporting guidelines. Our early intervention injury management
program exceeds the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act
1981.
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Certification of performance indicators for the year ending 30 June 2011
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Agriculture and Food’s performance,
and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Agriculture and Food for the financial
year ended 30 June 2011.

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority
26 September 2011
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Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION
To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the
Department of Agriculture and Food.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010, and the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows,
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory Notes, including Administered
transactions and balances.
The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency.
Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Treasurer’s Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements and key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other
relevant written law.
Summary of my Role
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done by testing
selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further information on my audit approach is
provided in my audit practice statement. This document is available on the OAG website under “How
We Audit”.
An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and key
performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an audit does not
examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures should identify errors or
omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users of the financial statements and
key performance indicators.

Page 1 of 2
th

4 Floor Dumas House 2 Havelock Street West Perth 6005 Western Australia Tel: 08 9222 7500 Fax: 08 9322 5664

Department of Agriculture and Food ANNUAL REPORT 2011

43

Performance indicators

Department of Agriculture and Food
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2010
Basis for Qualified Audit Opinion
The following Key Performance Indicators of Effectiveness either do not relate to or are not an
appropriate measure of the Department’s effectiveness as they have limited correlation to the
Department’s outcomes.
KPI 1.1
KPI 1.2
KPI 2.1
KPI 2.2
KPI 3.1
KPI 3.2
KPI 4.1
KPI 4.2
KPI 5.1

The Impact of department activity on the adoption of management practices that address offsite environmental impact or contribute to the long term sustainability of the natural resource
base.
The impact of department activity on improving the capacity of primary producers to
sustainably and profitably manage the agricultural resource base.
Uptake of crop varieties developed by the department.
The extent to which the outcomes of research, development and extension projects improve
the profitability or potential profitability of rural industries.
The benefit-cost ratio and net present value of the agency's research and development and
biosecurity activity.
The impact of department activity on the capacity of agri-industry to manage change and
respond to opportunities.
The extent to which new market opportunities are developed or maintained for Western
Australian agricultural produce.
Interceptions of significant pests, diseases and weeds by interstate and international barrier
quarantine activities.
The impact of department activity on the management of community and environmental
risks.

Accordingly, I am unable to form an opinion as to whether the above key performance indicators of
effectiveness are relevant and/or appropriate to the Department’s performance for the year ended
30 June 2010.
Qualified Audit Opinion
In my opinion,
(i) except for the effects of the matters referred to in the preceding paragraphs, the key
performance indicators of the Department of Agriculture and Food are relevant and
appropriate to help users assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent the
indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2010;
(ii) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial position
of the Department at 30 June 2010 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year
ended on that date. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Treasurer’s Instructions; and
(iii) the controls exercised by the Department provide reasonable assurance that the receipt,
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
31 August 2010
Page 2 of 2
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Introduction
The Department of Agriculture and Food’s mission is to work with our partners to develop the
agriculture and food sector and effectively manage risks to the natural and biological resources
on which it relies. Agriculture and food industries in Western Australia have long been important
contributors to the state’s economy — creating jobs, sustaining regional communities and feeding
families. As a dynamic organisation our approach is to collaborate with a diverse range of partners
throughout the world to generate innovation, knowledge and excellence that delivers meaningful
results for the benefit of Western Australia.
Our primary focus is to work with the Minister, other government departments, industry and other
partners to improve economic and regional development. Although, the department’s wide ranging
activities also generate strong social, community and environmental benefits.
While the department is committed to assisting with immediate issues, it is also vital that we look to
the future. Last year saw the start of a modernisation program to achieve improved departmental
impact and responsiveness. This transformation has continued in 2010–11 with the department’s
focus moving to a whole-of-supply-chain approach. This has had a significant impact on our
strategic direction, organisational structure, and product and service delivery. This year, the
department has reported against an interim suite of key performance indicators (KPIs).
New KPIs will be developed in 2012-13 so that we can:
•

measure our impact against government strategic goals

•

measure our impact as an economic development agency

•

benchmark against state, national and overseas governments and private organisations

•

benchmark against industry standards.

Our continuing challenge is to be a responsive and strategically positioned agency, working with
businesses, landholders and rural communities to support the ongoing development of the state’s
agriculture and food industries.

Agency-level government-desired outcomes
High-level government goals are supported at the agency-level by more specific ‘desired outcomes’.
The department contributes to meeting the government goals through the delivery of services
that achieve pre-determined outcomes. The following table illustrates the relationship between the
department’s agency-level desired outcome, the services it delivers and government goals.
Government strategic goal

Agency outcomes

Service

1. Land managers and
Social and environmental responsibility
producers using best
– ensuring that economic activity is
management practice
managed in a socially and environmentally
responsible manner for the long-term
5. Reduced incidence and
benefit of the state
impact of environmental and
community based risks

1. land management

2. An innovative and adaptive
Stronger focus on the regions – greater
production sector which
focus on service delivery, infrastructure
effectively manages risk
investment and economic development to
improve the overall quality of life in remote 3. Competitive food and
and regional areas
agricultural industries

2. production system
solutions

Outcome-based service delivery –
greater focus on achieving results in key
service delivery areas for the benefit of all
Western Australians

4. market development

4. Increased value of domestic
and international trade

5. community and
environmental risk
management

3. industry and regional
support
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The links between the relevant government goals, agency level government desired outcomes and
services is described under the relevant agency outcome or service headings in this section.

Measuring our performance
We evaluate and measure the agency-level services and outcomes through key performance
indicators (KPIs). Key effectiveness indicators provide information on the extent to which the
department’s programs have contributed to economic and regional development. Key efficiency
indicators measure the level of resource inputs required to deliver them, including costs. When
analysing the measures a comparison was made between the targets for the current year and
performance in previous years and the results used to support decision making processes. Our
performance is also measured through statistical-based information and survey questionnaires. We
considered that the use of both qualitative and quantitative measures adds scope and objectivity to
the sources of information used in measuring our performance.
At the time of setting the target measure some of the performance indicators were still under
development. As a result some of the published targets are not considered to be a reliable indicator.
Where this has occurred a comparison of the department’s performance to the previous year’s
results has been made as this is considered to be a more reliable indicator.
The performance indicators should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the
KPIs. Explanations are provided where there is a significant variation between 2010-11 budget
targets and actual results from 2009-10 and 2010-11.
As the department’s focus is changing, our KPIs have been identified for review so that future
measurement of our performance may be improved.

WIPE OUT
The worst floods in 50 years wiped out
horticultural properties in Carnarvon in
December 2010.
The Carnarvon areas produces crops valued
at about $90 million annually, and is a critical
winter fresh food bowl for Perth and the south
west.
More than 130 properties—including the
department’s own Gascoyne Research
Station—were extensively flooded.
Our officers moved quickly to help growers
assess the damage and subsequently submit
formal applications for grants to get back into
production - . We also administered the grants.
Over the following few months about 85 000
cubic metres of soil was carted and spread on
the damaged plantations as part of the state
government’s $3 million recovery plan.

Department officers help a Gascoyne landholder to assess his
plantation for soil remediation.

The grants were also used for earthworks and repairs to main irrigation tanks.
Two more floods hit the area in January and February, also covered by the recovery scheme.
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Efficiency indicators
The department is funded to support and drive economic development in Western Australia. We
achieve this by influencing agriculture and food industries to adopt new practices and technologies,
and to seize opportunities.
As an economic development agency with an influencing role, the department needs to deliver
products and services that industry will regard as important and therefore will adopt.
We produce a range of products and services, mostly in the form of new knowledge and
information. These are delivered through a number of different mediums including:
•

information products (e.g. publications, journals and CDs)

•

interaction with industry (e.g. field days and site visits)

•

new varieties (e.g. new apple breeds).

Our projects typically have a life span of several years and each project is made up of a number
of activities. Each activity may have an element of research, development and extension. It is
not cost effective to measure each individual piece of research, development and extension
and its constituent process. For the purpose of measuring performance, management made a
determination of each project according to what the project predominantly produces—research or
information units.
•

Units of research are the applied science-based products and services (knowledge) that
support sustainable resource systems, production system solutions or market development

•

Units of information are products and services that are predominantly delivered through
development and extension activities.

Our efficiency measures primarily relate to the cost of producing and delivering these products and
services. The challenge for the department is to produce products and services that will deliver on
outcomes and be adopted by industry. Therefore, the focus is on producing high-quality products
and services as opposed to producing large volumes.
Weightings have been applied to some of our efficiency measures as a means of reflecting the
‘complexity’ (time) and ‘effort’ taken to produce certain products and services. This is because
results often take years of work before a piece of information can be produced. The resulting
efficiency measures provide a better indication of the true efficiency of our services.
Subsequent to setting targets for the 2010-11 Budget Statement, we made a number of significant
changes to our budgeted project allocations so that they were better aligned with our new
economic development focus. We also amended the model used to measure our performance to
better reflect this change.
In the past, our indicators have not adequately captured the complexity and these revised
measures are seen as an improvement though data still needs to be captured over a number of
years to determine true trends.
The collated performance data has been allocated on a proportional basis (based on dollar
allocations of projects to outcome). This has resulted in a consistent average across that same
performance measure within an outcome.
Our research and economic development activities lead to progressive and profitable agriculture
and food sectors that manage risk. Past performance has shown that the adoption by industry
of our products and services has led to steady productivity and profitability gains. The impact is
generally not evident immediately as it often takes a number of years for change to be embraced
and for benefits to be realised. It is generally accepted that public R&D may not reach its maximum
benefit for around 10 years; but over time it exerts a positive impact. This impact has often
remained relatively constant for up to 20 years and beyond.
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Outcome 1: Land management
1. Land managers and producers using best
management practice
Western Australia’s diverse landscape and climatic conditions support a wide range of agricultural
industries. Sustainable practices that maintain healthy natural resources (land, soil, native
vegetation, biodiversity and water) are essential to the prosperity of the agriculture and food sector
and its contribution to Western Australia’s economy and communities.
The department encourages the use of best management practices that underpin progressive and
profitable agriculture and food production. We have a lead role in ensuring that the sector employs
sustainable agricultural practices that give due consideration to the challenges of a changing and
variable climate, sustainability of the state’s resource base and long-term economic development.
This role is essential in helping our state’s land managers and producers build robust and resilient
businesses that can best deliver long-term profitability; as well as maintain the sustainability of the
state’s resource base.
The service we delivered that directly supports the achievement of this agency level outcome is
‘land management’.
Our key strategies include:
•

ensuring land and water resources meet future industry needs — by cross-agency leadership
and coordinated planning; and resource assessment and appropriate land use reform

RANGELANDS REFORM
The State Government is to overhaul
development of the state’s vast rangelands.
The contemporary vision includes streamlined
processes for pastoral leases and new, more
flexible forms of land tenure.
Rangelands account for fully 87 per cent of
the state, north of a line from Northampton to
Esperance. It includes all but the south-west of
the state.
The government has established a Rangelands
Reform Program to help build sustainable
communities throughout the region.
The program was established in response to
constraints on traditional pastoral activities
and the need for greater flexibility in land
administration.

The Rangelands Reform Program will build
sustainable, economically diverse communities in
the pastoral region.

DAFWA and the Department of Regional Development will deliver a range of initiatives under the
program.
Goals include multiple land uses, economically diverse communities and a responsible, futureoriented business environment.
The program will also develop new forms of land tenure that provide current and future landholders
with greater flexibility, security and incentives to invest.
To help overcome obstacles to business development, a ‘one-stop-shop’ for pastoral lease
diversification applications and approvals will be established.
Planning and regulatory obstacles also will be removed to create development ‘precincts’ in the
rangelands.
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•

ensuring sustainable management of land and water resources in a changing climate — by
developing long-term management solutions to salinity, soil degradation and water quality; and
extending practical risk management strategies and tools that address seasonal variability

•

managing biosecurity risks of importance to industry — by assessing and prioritising risks;
promoting the application of management strategies and tools; and ensuring appropriate
industry engagement and investment

•

enhancing natural resource management partnerships — by developing relationships with
businesses, landholders, catchment groups, communities and state and commonwealth
government agencies; and by targeting investment in the stewardship of land and water
resources.

We considered that our diverse work will improve the long-term economic development of the
agriculture and food sectors.

Effectiveness indicators
1.1 Impact of department activity on the adoption of management practices that address
off-site environmental impact or contribute to the long-term sustainability of the
natural resource base
Adopting management practices that reduce on- and off-site environmental impact or contribute to
long-term sustainability is crucial to developing resilient and sustainable agrifood industries. A suite
of management practices are promoted by the department through its research, publications and
extension work with landholders, primary producers and consultants. The adoption of these helps
ensure the long-term sustainability of the natural resource base on which agriculture depends.
Our 2010-11 Natural Resource Management (NRM)1 survey indicated that almost 70 per cent
of respondents apply revegetation and biodiversity management practices on their farms. This
supports the findings of last year’s survey.
The survey’s overall sample of 401 equates to a margin of error of up to 4.77 per cent at the 95
per cent confidence interval. Since 2005–06, the proportion of primary producers in any given
operational region has remained reasonably constant. Notable differences in the incidence of
specific practices continued to be recorded across different NRM regions.
The most popular practices introduced within the last 12 months in the South West and agricultural
regions were regular soil testing for compaction and nutrient levels, planting non-irrigated perennial
pasture, resource monitoring and the preservation or enhancement of areas of conservation value.
Farming to soil type and stubble retention or mulching practices also rated high. Over 60 per
cent of pastoralists responded that they were monitoring vegetation/pasture conditions, fencing
land systems or excluding stock from areas impacted by land degradation. While not prevalent,
prescribed burns have been introduced by almost 25 per cent of pastoralists in the last 12 months.
Many of these practices were promoted by the department during the year.
In addition, the survey showed that the use of systematic approaches to management and
decision-making throughout the state via practices such as quality assurance, environmental
management systems and codes of practice remains steady. The survey also indicates that primary
producers continue to attend field days and events to increase their understanding of sustainable
land and water management and landcare issues. These results are considered to reflect our
effectiveness in influencing the continued adoption of integrated resource management, biosecurity
and production systems practices aimed at promoting continuous improvement of the production
sector.

1

The survey was conducted by Painted Dog Research in April/May 2011.

Department of Agriculture and Food ANNUAL REPORT 2011

49

Outcome 1: Land management
As the lead agency for NRM, we played a major facilitation and coordination role in the development
and implementation of regional NRM strategies and promoted the adoption of best management
practices for sustainable agriculture. We provide expert support to regional NRM groups, Land
Conservation District Committees and local governments. We also work collaboratively with
government agencies such as the Department of Water and the Department of Environment
and Conservation, research and development organisations and Co-operative Research Centres
(CRCs) such as the Future Farm Industries CRC. In addition, we make important contributions via
policy and strategic planning such as contributing to land use planning policy to protect priority
agricultural land and achieve natural resource outcomes, and working with planning and regulatory
bodies to facilitate industry development. Furthermore, the department will continue to manage
the state’s NRM program which saw $17.8 million allocated in 2010–11. The results, supported by
independent feedback and project results, indicate that we have been successful as an economic
development agency with an influencing role.
The following tables list a suite of management practices that we promote through our publications
and work with primary producers. The figures presented are findings from departmentcommissioned surveys of primary producers each year from 2007-08 to 2010-11. In the surveys,
which are conducted between April and June of each year, producers were asked which practices
they used in the past 12 months. The responses reported in 2010-11 relate to practices in the 2010
growing season and the following summer and autumn. These results, together with other internal
performance measures, are used to assess our impact and plan and implement future sustainable
land and water management activities which address weed, pest, land, soil and/or water issues.
The results are considered affirmative.

SURVEY SUCCESS
Surveys have ‘mapped’ the pastoral industry in the
Kimberley and Pilbara for the future.
During 2010 a survey team interviewed 77 businesses
to gain a better understanding of management practices
and performance.
Participants represented more than 60 per cent of
commercial cattle enterprises in the northern pastoral
region.
The survey, jointly funded by the department and Meat
& Livestock Australia, covered topics such as business
ownership and management, production and herd
management, grazing and land management, extension
and training.
The data—and more detailed information from an
associated project—will be used to direct the department’s
research, development and extension activities.

Development officer Rebecca Dray discusses the
pastoral survey with a cattle producer.

It also provides a baseline for future programs.
Similar surveys planned in the Northern Territory and Queensland will provide a complete picture
of Australia’s northern beef industry and identify common goals and challenges.
The surveys will enable government agencies to better match programs to industry needs.
One of the key goals to help build industry capacity is to identify the drivers behind industry
profitability and sustainability.
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Table 1 shows an increase in stubble retention, which may be due to a combination of departmental
extension activities and the extremely dry 2010 season.
There has also been Commonwealth funding available through regional NRM groups for planting
perennials such as saltbush in valley floors, which may explain the high levels of non-irrigated
perennial pasture species. We have provided input via the Saltland Pastures Association and CRC
for Future Farm Industries with the development and the customisation of training material and
‘glove box guides’ for industry and landholders.
Table 1: Percentage WA primary producers in the sheep/wheat agricultural areas using selected
sustainable land management practices
Agricultural (%)
2007-08 2008-09 2009-10
n=249

n=224

n=291

Planted non-irrigated perennial pasture species

37

31

42

Planted saltland pasture species

37

39

35

Planted trees for commercial production (e.g.
pines and blue gums)

19

Stubble retention or mulching practices *

64

Farmed to soil type

68

2010-11
Internal
Target @
30/06/11

Actual
n=228

Agronomy practices

75
81

Land Conservation Management

33

39

35

32

14

21

75

72

74

73

82

72

52

68

75

63

71

23
↑

↑

61

↑

20
↑

↑

Tree/shrub planting *

70

72

Preserve or enhanced areas of conservation
value

71

79

Excluded stock from areas impacted by land
degradation

66

66

72

56

64

Protected river or creek frontages from grazing
animals

49

49

46

42

46

Regular soil testing for nutrient levels *

72

74

75

78

80

Regular soil testing for pH.

70

75

76

78

79

Regular soil testing for compaction

12

17

Regular monitoring of the water table

29

38

Regular monitoring of pasture/vegetation cover
on sandy/light soils

54

↑

↑

Resource Monitoring

18

13

14

36

33

37

59

61

54

61

↑

Surface water management
61

Water on the valley floors using surface drains

40

Water on the valley floors using deep drains

23

↑

63

59

52

64

37

36

32

22

↑

Water on sloping land (e.g. grade banks) *

26

24

21

36

↑

Source: NRM survey

↑ Denotes a statistical increase at 95 per cent confidence level

↓

Denotes a statistical decrease at 95 per cent confidence level
* = Identified as the lead management practice for group (target identified in 2010-11 Budget Statement)
n = number of respondents
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We have been promoting the planting of perennial pastures over a number of years, and the
incidence of this practice remains stable. In addition, increased prices for sheep meat have likely
sparked renewed interest in grazing systems, and this would have a knock-on effect in perennial
farming systems. The resurgence of interest in stock, especially meat sheep and prime lambs will
provide ongoing opportunities in saltland agronomy and perennial pastures that are aimed at low
opportunity land with the potential to increase production. Nutrient management is expected to
be a growth area, with a drive for better fertiliser efficiency leading to reduced off-site impacts and
operating costs.
Since many farmers have increased their emphasis on cropping, we promote soil health and
nutrient management, especially soil pH, soil compaction, soil organic carbon levels and plant
water-use efficiency. The high levels of landholders undertaking soil testing for pH is likely a result
of subsidised soil testing through the Wheatbelt and South Coast NRM regional groups (groups are
supported by the department), and Commonwealth funding for managing wind erosion via Caring
for our Country.
The influence of climate change is leading to a change in rainfall patterns, rainfall levels and
intensity. This has lead to a general ‘drying trend’ and lowering of water tables, particularly in the
northern wheatbelt. The department monitors water tables throughout the state via its surveillance
network of bores. On-going changes are assessed as a basis for advising farmers and groups on
suitable practices and long term risks. The survey indicates that water table monitoring during the
past three years has remained fairly consistent; demonstrating the continued importance farmers
place on monitoring for dryland salinity.

GREENER PASTURES
Science and industry are working together to protect the land
and water resources on which the state’s $135 million dairy
industry relies.
Greener Pastures was established in 2005 to protect natural
resources as the industry intensified its farming practices to
stay afloat.
The research project covers over 250 000 hectares of dairy and
beef country in 15 southern shires from Murray to Plantagenet,
involving 170 dairy and more than 1000 beef farming properties.
The focus is to maximise pasture and milk productivity while
minimising the impact of pollution from fertiliser run-off into
waterways, groundwater and drinking water.
As a result, farmers adopted new fertiliser and paddock
management practices that reduce run-off and boost profitability.
The project delivered a decrease in water nutrient levels in farm
run-off to local waterways by up to 50 per cent for nitrogen
and 15 per cent for phosphorous, while increasing pasture
production by 20 per cent.
This leads to improving the economic viability of communities
in the region and healthy waterways.
Technical officer John Baker installs groundwater
bore monitoring equipment at the department’s
Vasse Research Centre.
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Many of the practices surveyed will have a different emphasis placed on them depending on
seasonal variability. Table 2 indicates that there has been an increase in management of livestock to
protect river or creek frontages and areas affected by land degradation. This is thought to be from
several factors: land managers incrementally applying farming system practices that have been
promoted by the department and other government agencies; external funding conditions for wind
erosion control, rivercare and the creation of off-sets to support plans for irrigation developments;
and increased awareness of the risks from livestock in natural bush and areas of ‘at-risk’ stubbles
and pastures.
The sustained incidence of farming to soil type and high rate of stubble retention or mulching (a
new measure) practices is considered a result of farmers sowing crops on their most productive
soils, as higher input costs and lower grain prices make it unviable to crop unproductive soils. We
have encouraged this practice.
This year, no significant change has been observed in surface water management. This is most
likely linked to reduced rainfall and the ongoing revegetation of these areas with perennial species.
This practice is promoted by us as it reduces the need for engineering solutions to manage excess
water. Furthermore, there is increasing incidence of tramlining, minimum tillage and precision
agricultural practices that reduce the need for surface water management structures.
Table 2: Percentage of Western Australian primary producers in high rainfall agricultural areas who
used selected sustainable land management practices
South West (%)
2008
(n=87)

2009
(n=90)

2010
(n=99)

2011
(n=86)

34

36

52

-

-

-

21

16

21

14

-

-

-

83

Farmed to soil type

52

59

74

Tree/shrub planting

57

59

64

Preserve or enhanced areas of conservation value

62

56

Excluded stock from areas impacted by land
degradation

37

Protected river or creek frontages from grazing
animals

Agronomy Practices
Planted saltland pasture species
Planted trees for commercial production (e.g. oil
mallees, pines & bluegums)
Stubble retention or mulching practices

↑

46
33

↑

73

72

↑

58

33

49

↑

54

41

37

47

55

Regular soil testing for nutrient levels

68

64

76

68

Regular soil testing for pH

62

64

71

74

Regular monitoring of the water table

26

28

38

31

Regular monitoring of pasture/vegetation cover on
sandy/light soils

43

41

46

47

Livestock Management

58

Resource Monitoring

↑

Water on sloping land (e.g. grade banks)

32

19

↑

43

Water on the valley floors using surface drains

18

37

↑

18

Source: NRM survey

↑ Denotes a statistical increase at 95 per cent confidence level
↓ Denotes a statistical decrease at 95 per cent confidence level
n = number of respondents

↑

↑

Surface Water Management

40
14

↑

Planted non-irrigated perennial pasture species
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It is considered that the overall results reflected in Table 3 show there is a high proportion of primary
producers who continue to use sustainable management practices in the rangelands. We actively
promote adoption of different practices via field days, demonstrations and pastoral notes. The
practices promoted will vary with seasonal conditions, regional issues and the needs of the industry.
Infrastructure based sustainable land management solutions, such as permanent control methods
on stock waters and fencing to land systems, are broadly applicable across the whole rangelands
area. We provide on-going support to the industry through projects such as Environmentally
Sustainable Rangeland Management (ESRM). ESRM is active in the Gascoyne and Pilbara regions
and jointly funded by the department and Caring for our Country.
The adoption of management-based solutions such as rotational spelling of pasture for recovery,
spelling for subsequent use by export cattle, and savannah burning, are practices that are
promoted within in the northern rangelands. Despite active support from a range of department
extension programs, the level of adoption of rotational pasture spelling during plant growth season
and preservation/enhancement of areas of conservation value has marginally declined. Conversely,
there has been pasture specifically spelled for use by export cattle. It is thought that this change in
practices is a consequence of the rainfall deficit that prevailed in the Pilbara and Gascoyne during
2010-11 and expectations about market opportunities.
Formal monitoring by pastoralists has been strongly supported by the department’s extension
activities for many years. The benefits of monitoring derive from the link between rangeland
condition and the resilience and productivity of country under management. Rangeland monitoring
measures and records the slow rate of change that can occur in the rangelands as a result of
livestock grazing. As a direct result of our work, the Pastoral Lands Board (the statutory body with
responsibility for administering the pastoral rangelands) has endorsed a quality assured system. The
system of pastoral lessee self-assessment will be based on evidence obtained from fixed rangeland
monitoring sites. The system will be phased in during 2011-12 and will effectively result in 100 per
cent adoption of formal monitoring by all pastoral lessees in Western Australia.
Table 3: Percentage of WA primary producers in the rangelands using selected sustainable land
management practices
Pastoral (%)
2008
(n=104)

2009
(n=96)

2010
(n=80)

2011
(n=87)

↑

52

62

60

44

50

42

36

Fencing to land systems

55

50

56

61

Conduct a prescribed burn for management purposes

35

41

31

32

Preserve or enhanced areas of conservation value

58

50

58

52

Excluded stock from areas impacted by land degradation

48

43

58

Protected river or creek frontages from grazing animals

34

27

23

25

Formal monitoring of vegetation/pasture conditions

63

58

65

68

Specifically spelled pasture for subsequent use by export cattle

28

25

16

30

Rotational pasture spelling during plant growth season

Source: NRM survey

↑ Denotes a statistical increase at 95 per cent confidence level
↓ Denotes a statistical decrease at 95 per cent confidence level
n = number of respondents

↑

52

↑

Permanent control methods on stock water supplies

↑

61

↑
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1.2 Impact of department activity on improving the capacity of primary producers to
sustainably and profitably manage the agricultural resource base
Research shows that increasing the levels of primary producers’ knowledge and skills, contributes
to the higher adoption rates of recommended sustainable agricultural practices. One measure used
to assess adoption of best management practices is commitment to a continuous learning culture
and desire to improve business management skills.
Figure 1 shows the percentage of respondents to the department’s NRM survey by region, who
undertook formal training over the past four years; and Figure 2 shows respondents participation in
specified areas. Both figures reveal a return to the 2009 participation rates. Attendance at training
is considered important as it is an effective way of increasing primary producers’ understanding of
sustainable natural resource use for agriculture or Landcare issues, and the results are considered
to be influenced by seasonal conditions.
Importantly, the participation in formal training, reflected in successive years’ surveys, indicates
that as well as accessing a range of training opportunities provided by the department, producers
continue to participate in external NRM training opportunities independent of public funding. This
is a desirable long-term outcome that supports government goals. Our primary role in this area
in more recent years has been to promote and assist private providers with technical expertise to
assist land managers and producers build resilient and profitable businesses. Respondents to the
survey indicated that 33 per cent attended some training.
Figure 1: Number of respondents who undertook formal training by region (by per cent)
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Figure 2: Percentage of Western Australian primary producers that undertook formal training in the
areas specified
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Our new approach
enables us to work better
with business, landholders
and the community
to protect our natural
resources

FOOD REVOLUTION
Potatoes, pineapples and pumpkins originate
from Peru. But it is WA’s ‘foodie ancestry’ that
excites us today.
The department’s Buy West Eat Best food
labelling and promotion campaign has been a
smash hit.
It has transformed a niche market for local
produce into a significant commercial force that
will help the food sector to prosper.
The campaign promotes locally farmed, fished
and processed products. It partners with
growers, processors, wholesalers, retailers and
restaurants.
There are now more than 100 Buy West Eat Best
members that are capitalising on the campaign—
including the three major supermarket chains,
Woolworths, Coles and IGA. The national buying
strategies of the supermarket chains actively
source and promote Western Australian food.

Buy West Eat Best is boosting consumption of
Western Australian food products.

The launch of Buy West Eat Best in 2010 included a television advertisement highlighting the
benefits of buying local. This was backed by instore retail marketing and environmental promotion.
As a result, consumers are increasingly aware of how and where to Buy West Eat Best—and it’s
not in Peru.
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Efficiency indicators
Our land management target the use of sustainable resource systems and covers traditional
aspects of biosecurity.
Our indicators for this service show a gross variation between the actual and the target that
was published in the budget papers. This is because the information has been collected from a
wider source. Also, since setting the target(s) project funding has been realigned to services and
weightings have been applied to reflect complexity. These changes are reflected in the 2008–09
and 2009–10 actuals. A more detailed explanation of the application of our efficiency indicators is at
Efficiency indicators on page 46.
1.3 Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at sustainable resource
systems
This indicator measures the cost efficiency of providing research and development aimed at
sustainable resource systems. We lead and coordinate whole-of-government NRM policy and
lead whole-of-government biosecurity policy and delivery. To do this we work closely with land
managers, producers, agrifood consultants and regional communities to indentify key resource
management and climate issues.
It is not cost effective to measure each individual piece of research and development and the
component process, as the service produced is knowledge. Knowledge may also take many forms,
each requiring different resources and commitment. The number of weighted items of knowledge
(592) produced is divided into the total cost of delivering this service to reflect an average cost.
There has been a gross increase in the actual cost in 2010-11 when compared to the 2009-10
figures. This is because projects from across the department contribute to this indicator; and
many of our projects were changed in line with our increased focus on economic development
focus rather than research and development. With a number of effectively new projects, and with
research findings typically being published towards the end of a project’s life, the number of items
of knowledge produced in 2010-11 was significantly lower whilst the total service cost remained
similar.
1.4 Average cost per activity focussed on best management practices
As a consequence of our review of outcomes and services, this indicator was created in 2008-09
to measure the average cost of providing information on best management practices for agriculture,
resource and biosecurity management. Data will need to be captured over a number of years
to determine true trends. The average cost is calculated from a number of information products
(such as publications including serials, journals, refereed papers, cartographic CDs, pod casts and
videos). The average cost is obtained by dividing that number of weighted items (716) into the total
cost of delivering this service.
We consider this performance is comparable to previous years.
Table 4: Land management - efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency

2008-09
Actual

2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

Average cost per unit of research and development aimed
at sustainable resource systems *

$45,817

$32,501

$155,000

$84,606

Average cost per activity focussed on best management
practices *

$24,064

$17,070

$22,000

$19,165

Source: Department of Agriculture and Food (DAFWA)
Note: This is a new measure and comparison to previous years will be difficult until a series of trend data is gathered.
* Subsequent to the target being announced in the 2010-11 Budget Statement the budgeted project allocations have been
better aligned with targeted outcomes and weightings applied resulting in a shift in dollar averages.
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2. An innovative and adaptive production sector which
effectively manages risk
Profitable production systems are essential to the agriculture and food sector’s long-term viability
and ability to contribute to the state’s economic development. To maintain industry competiveness
it is essential that the sector remains adaptive and innovative. We play a lead role in helping the
agrifood sector increase its productivity, manage risks and seize opportunities. We strive to enhance
collaboration, coordination, efficiency and the effectiveness of our research, development and
service delivery by working collaboratively with industry, research and development organisations
and other government agencies. As a participant in the National Framework for Primary Industries
Research, Development and Extension, we identify and overcome capability gaps, fragmentation
and unnecessary duplication.
Our activities cover a wide spectrum, from high-profile innovation discoveries, to low profile
changes in existing processes and practices aimed at enhancing the sector’s capability to adjust to
change and make the most of market opportunities. In the supply chain, the key focus areas for us
are product innovation and consumer demand. Our economic development activities are therefore
aimed at promoting a profitable agrifood sector that is able to effectively manage risk.
The service we delivered that directly supports the achievement of this agency-level outcome is
‘production system solutions’.
Our key strategies include:
•

improving the profitability of major industries — by identifying and analysing supply chain
productivity drivers, constraints and risks; evaluating opportunities for product and processing
development; facilitating focused industry development projects; and promoting research and
development technologies that provide a competitive edge and increase industry profitability

•

improving grain industry profitability — by improving grain yields and seasonal performance;
and providing access to high quality crop genetics, technology and risk management tools

•

expanding and diversifying businesses — by assisting industry analysis, planning and
approvals; facilitating infrastructure and natural resource development; and minimising
regulation and compliance costs

•

managing biosecurity risks of importance to industry — by assessing and prioritising risks;
extending management strategies and tools; and ensuring appropriate industry engagement
and investment.

Effectiveness indicators
2.1 Uptake of crop varieties developed by the department
The cereal industry is the largest agricultural sector in Western Australia and a significant contributor
to the Australian economy. Grain is the state’s fourth largest export after petroleum, iron ore and
gold. Despite 2010 being a poor season it is considered that our actions have had a positive impact
on the industry. We provided information about the different crop varieties and provide tools to
support decision making processes so that agronomists and grain producers can be innovative
and adapt their farming system to best meet their requirements.
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For example, barley is an important grain industry in Western Australia, second in production only to
wheat. Barley is promoted as an integral part of cropping systems due to its high yields, timeliness
of on-farm activities, particularly seeding and harvest operations and the rotational benefits it offers
in breaking leaf and root disease cycles. Of the top 10 varieties grown eight originate from the
department. Seasonal expectations play some role in which varieties are considered to be the most
robust for particular conditions.
The 2010 barley variety guide for Western Australia is designed as a quick reference to help
growers, consultants and advisers determine which barley variety to grow in their region. It provides
grain yield comparisons, disease ratings, herbicide tolerance data and agronomic information for
all malting barley varieties, as well as established and new feed varieties. The choice of crop variety
is a major factor when considering production costs, marketing and risk management strategies
because it directly impacts on productivity, marketability and profitability. Before production even
begins, farmers need to know how a variety is likely to perform, giving consideration to its suitability
to local soil and climate conditions; likely in-put costs and requirements; the benefits of disease
resistance; and end-product quality and demand. The impact of a new variety is not evident
immediately and it takes a number of years for change to be embraced and to realise the benefits of
public R&D. This impact often remains relatively constant for up to 20 years and beyond.
In 2011 the department, with Edith Cowan University, established a National Pilot Malting Facility.
The facility conducts targeted research aimed at improving the international competitiveness of
Australian barley varieties. This facility will help the barley industry to maintain market share by
remaining responsive to new technology, improving productivity and adapting to the changing tastes
of consumers.
We consider that the department met this measure. Table 5 indicates that the department expects
the uptake of varieties developed by the department to remain reasonably high. In 2010 there was
increased adoption of the non-DAFWA variety ‘Buloke’. This resulted in an overall decrease in the
overall percentage of area sown for barley from 85 per cent to 73 per cent. Seasonal and market

Table 5: Uptake of crop varieties developed by the department (DAFWA varieties)
2010-11
Target

2009–10

2010-11
Actual

Crop
type

Per cent
WA crop
area sown
to DAFWA
varieties

Season
hectares

Per cent WA crop
area sown to
DAFWA varieties

Per cent WA crop
area sown to
DAFWA varieties

Barley

85%

1,112,346

85%

73%

858,096

Oats

97%

133,350

95%

94%

125,367

Lupins

96%

306,615

98%

100%

365,124

TOTAL

88%

1,552,311

93%

82%

1,348,597

Source: Co-operative Bulk Handling Ltd (CBH)

Season
hectares
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expectations play some hand in which varieties are considered to be the most robust for particular
conditions. This may have influenced the move to ‘Buloke’. Despite not meeting the target of 93
per cent the total of seasonal hectares sown to our varieties remained high (over 80 per cent). See
Figure 3.

Figure 3: Trend indicating uptake of crop varieties developed by the department
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Percentage of WA crop area sown to barley, lupin and oats
varieties developed by the department
Source: Co-operative Bulk Handling Ltd (CBH)
Note: The 2008-09 Annual Report stated that wheat would not be reported in future years. The
2007-08 and 2008-09 figures in Figure 3 have been adjusted to reflect this change and allow
comparison between years.

NOODLE RESEARCH
It’s a soup, it’s ramen noodles, and it’s the best value
you’ll ever find in Japanese grocery stores.
The department has been working with Japanese flour mills
to cultivate a market for Western Australian wheat in making
ramen noodles.
These noodles represent about 35 per cent of all noodles
manufactured in Japan and are consumed as a soup base by
the population of around 130 million.
In a market worth $500 million annually, this represents an
enormous opportunity for the state’s wheat industry.
For the past two years, the department has been working
with the Nisshin and Nippon Flour Mills—Japan’s two biggest
operators—to determine the suitability of current and emerging
Western Australian wheat varieties for ramen noodle production.
Fieldwork and sensory evaluation trials involving an expert
tasting panel and visiting Japanese experts suggest some
advanced breeding lines show potential.
The department was instrumental in encouraging recent
changes to wheat classifications, which will open the way for
suitable hard wheat varieties to be sold for the ramen noodle
market.

The department’s Peter Marrett and Japanese
noodle expert Yosuke Shinkai, from Nippon Flour
Mills, cook ramen noodles for evaluation.

We are now focused on establishing price premiums for the market to help the Western Australian
grains industry capitalise on this new, high value market.
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2.2 Extent to which the outcomes of research, development and extension projects
improve the profitability or potential profitability of rural industries
The department undertakes research, development, extension and technology transfer across a
range of agrifood industries with the aim of providing tools that enable the sector to be adaptive,
innovative and robust. Profit underpins the success of any business and as an economic
development agency the department’s role is to drive a progressive and profitable agriculture and
food sector in Western Australia. It is important that we continue to work closely with industry
participants and tailor our activities to better suit the value drivers within that industry’s supply
chain — in the face of economic, seasonal and production challenges and changing market
demand. The following industry sectors provide examples of the outcomes of this work. We
consider that the department met this performance measure.
Carrots
With our support, Western Australian carrot exporters continue to provide international markets
with reliable supplies of a high-quality product that meets stringent food safety guidelines. We
have assisted carrot producers and exporters to focus on costs, quality, product differentiation
and market access. We work closely with industry to promote adaptability and innovation through
the development and adoption of highly efficient production systems that improve yield and
achieve consistent quality, thereby reducing unit production costs and increasing international
competitiveness.
Irrigation and nutrient-use (fertiliser) efficiency, together with expanded market access, continue
to be our focus. This work underpins the development of environmental assurance systems that
aim to contribute to increased scope for differentiating Western Australian produce in international
markets to enable accelerated industry economic development.
A new initiative to review export value chain costs for a range of horticultural crops, including
carrots, started in 2011. This work will enable the industry to remain competitive and better
manage risks. Departmental specialists worked closely with industry and Biosecurity Australia
on developing a protocol to reopen the carrot market in Taiwandeveloping a protocol to reopen
the carrot market in Taiwan, following changes to Taiwan’s quarantine regulations in 2009 which
resulted in the exclusion of Western Australian carrots. In January 2011 the Taiwanese Quarantine
Advisory Committee approved the proposed recommencement of the carrot trade from Western
Australia pending the issue of a final protocol by Taiwan.
Western Australia produces over 90 per cent of Australia’s carrot exports (by value and volume).
Figure 4 shows that the value and volume of the state’s carrot exports increased in 2010. The
department met this internal performance measure. Sales within Australia are not reflected in
Figure 4.
Figure 4: Volume and value of Western Australian carrot exports

Tonnes

80,000

$36,579,396

$46,262,121

$50,000,000

$50,431,703

$80,000,000

60,000

$60,000,000

40,000

$40,000,000

20,000

$20,000,000

0

2008

2009

2010
(internal target)

Tonnes

Value of Export $A

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS)

2010

$0

Department of Agriculture and Food ANNUAL REPORT 2011

61

Outcome 2: Innovative production
Seed potatoes
Western Australia has a competitive advantage in this high-value international market because of
our state’s freedom from major potato pests and diseases. Meeting the industry target for tonnage
is seen as a positive result and is in part attributed to the work carried out by the department’s
quarantine officers; and research, development and extension activities aimed at building the
capacity of the industry.
We have a considerable role in helping industry to improve productivity, effectively manage risks and
seize opportunities. Following more than two decades of rigorous testing and surveillance, Western
Australia has been reinstated as a potato cyst nematode (PCN) free area. This achievement is a
triumph for the Western Australia’s potato industry and the department — because once detected,
area freedom from PCN has never been achieved anywhere else in the world. The finding enables
industry to access a wider range of markets.
In addition the department has completed a project in Indonesia funded by the Australian Centre for
International Agricultural Research (ACIAR) where it was shown that Western Australian potato seed
can form the foundation of a partnership with growers in Lombok to increase the supply of high
quality seed to Indonesian farmers at a lower price.
It is considered that Figure 5 shows that the department’s activities have assisted in increasing the
value of international trade. The department met this internal performance measure. Sales within
Australia are not reflected in Figure 5. Each year, Western Australia exports about 5,000 tonnes of
seed potatoes to the eastern states.
Figure 5: Exports of seed potatoes from Western Australia
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Strawberries
The strawberry industry in Western Australia accounts for more than 70 per cent of Australia’s
strawberry exports by both volume and value—a percentage that has not changed despite an
unexpected fall in exports in 2010 due to the strong Australian dollar. Strong demand and high
prices in eastern Australia for our strawberries also attracted growers away from the export market
— this demand is not reflected in Figure 6. To meet eastern Australian demand, plantings have
increased. We work with growers and exporters to improve berry handling, reducing losses prior
to export. We assist the strawberry industry to identify suitable varieties for Western Australian
conditions, which are currently not being captured from the National Breeding Program.
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We work with our partners to address economic, scientific, technological, environmental,
managerial and social drivers that shape our agriculture and food sector by managing biosecurity
risks of importance to industry and improve profitability. By way of example, this year we helped
local exporters to find new markets and, working with industry, encouraged producers to use a
blend of tactics to best manage risk and maximise profits. Our work is not confined to the state’s
key agricultural areas and this year when the department’s Queensland fruit fly (Qfly) eradication
program detected a female Qfly with eggs in the metropolitan area further trapping, surveillance
and baiting and extension activities sprung into action. Qfly can be more devastating than the
established Mediterranean fruit fly. If Qfly establishes in Western Australia, more insecticide may
need to be applied to commercial and native trees, vine fruits and fruit and vegetables such as
strawberries, eggplant, tomato, capsicum and chilli.
Figure 6: Volume and value of Western Australian strawberry exports
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Western Australian wheat yields
The cereal industry is the largest agricultural sector in Western Australia and wheat farming is the
dominant crop. A key investment priority for us is to improve the grain industry’s profitability. Our
activities are aimed at improving grain yields and seasonal performance; and providing access to
high quality crop genetics, technology and risk management tools. To reap the full yield potential
of crop varieties, farmers need to manage their cropping systems for nutrition, soil constraints,
disease, insects and weeds. We have a large focus on refining and developing crop management
systems so that producers can maximise the benefit of new crop genetics.
Yield and quality improvements are increasingly important given climate change predictions for the
lower rainfall environments. In 2010 work commenced on the New Genes for New Environments
(NGNE) research facility at Merredin. The implementation of the NGNE strategy will complement
the Managed Environment Facility and provide a world class research centre that supports yield
and quality improvements and enables the evaluation of new genes and breeding lines under local
conditions. These initiatives will support existing department activities aimed at increasing the yields
of the state’s wheat producers such as the North Eastern Agricultural Region (NEAR) strategy.
Over 70 per cent of 135 farming businesses surveyed in a baseline assessment of NEAR indicated
they had knowledge of the strategy. In addition, three of the four respondents who are involved
in the NEAR Strategy are also involved in the Yield ProfitTM Project—which is about informing
decision making and reducing financial risk.
We had significant influence on the state’s wheat yields through developing and promoting the
adoption of higher yielding varieties and sustainable farming systems that suit local conditions.
Historically, the department has been the main provider of new varieties of dominant export crops.
If Western Australian farmers were using the same cropping varieties and technology today, as
they were 40 years ago, it is estimated that the state’s crop production would be about a quarter of
today’s average yields.
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Figure 7 shows that there has been a decrease in the rate of crop yield improvement and this is
attributed to the very poor 2010 season. It is considered that our long term capacity to increase
crop yields is not coping with the climate change observed over the last decade (Figure 8). To
remain competitive and improve long term profitability of the sector more research and development
is required.
Figure 7: Average wheat yields in Western
Australia (2007 to 2010)

Figure 8: Wheat yields trends (1972 to 2010)
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RICE RESURRECTION
The department has resumed trials of rice
and cotton at the Frank Wise Institute of
Tropical Agriculture, near Kununurra.
This is the third year of trials following a lengthy
period when the industries were abandoned
after being declared uneconomic.
Researchers are exploring the potential of
20 tropical and temperate rice varieties from
around the world.
Grain quality and yield potential will be assessed
under both raised-bed and flooded irrigation
systems, with trials of different fertiliser rates
later in 2011.

WA

A cotton trial at the department’s Frank Wise
Institute of Tropical Agriculture, near Kununurra

Following the success of the first small-scale trials, 240 hectares of commercial plantings in
2010 yielded the most profitable crop on the Ord, averaging 7.5 tonnes per hectare and selling to
Ricegrowers Limited (SunRice) for $550 per tonne.
A further 650 hectares were planted in April–May 2011, and while prices are likely to be lower due
to international trends, the outlook remains positive.
The Ord cotton industry lost its shine in the 1970s due to insect problems and low prices.
In recent years, low international prices have provided little incentive for commercial plantings,
but this year eight growers planted 700 hectares.
They have been impressed with weed control using the new Roundup Ready Flex technology. It
is anticipated that crops will be harvested in October 2011.
The successful establishment of a major rice or cotton industry in the Ord would underpin its
further development.
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Wool
Our genetic research and extension activities assist sheep producers to sustainably manage their
sheep while both producing wool and sheep meat desired by consumers, and improving farm
profit. The decisive attribute driving profitability from wool is fibre diameter because fibre diameter
determines the end use, the processing limits and the price received. In each case, finer is better.
In 2010-11, 44.2 per cent of the state’s clip was classed as super fine (under 19.5 micron). This
exceeds the target. See Figure 9. Super fine is the premium segment of the market for Merino
wool. It is mainly used in the production of fine apparel. Since July 2010, the fibre diameter of
Western Australian wool has averaged 20.1 micron, around two micron finer than a decade earlier.
Maintaining this quality while increasing lamb turn off remains a challenge.
The adoption of departmental findings, most notably improved selection for fine wool and the
increased proportion of ewes in the flock, has supported the sustained shift in the fibre diameter.
Our research into improving the match between sheep genotype and the requirements of the
region, management and production systems will address the challenge of increasing lamb turnoff,
while maintaining the quality of the clip. The department was a major contributor to the National
Lifetime Wool research and training program that developed new recommendations for managing
ewes to improve the productivity and welfare of the ewe and her progeny. The information and
tools developed (see www.lifetimewool.com.au) are the backbone of current sheep and drought
management extension programs. The program will be expanded in 2011–12. This information was
also used in five Dry Seasons workshops and four Feed Budgeting workshops conducted by the
department.
Research and development is a vital if sheep producers are to have access to the best possible
information and technologies in order to run profitable businesses. Our research has identified key
indicator traits that make sheep more resistant to breech (fly) strike. Breeding values have been
developed for these traits that allow sheep breeders to breed indirectly for breech strike resistance
using these indicator traits while maintaining wool quality. We are also involved in research to
quantify the genetic parameters for breeding sheep that produce more wool and meat but emit less
methane. Research on best management practices for non-mulesed sheep is being explored and
the department is providing leadership by not mulesing its own flock.
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Figure 9: Average fibre diameter of wool tested in WA and percentage of State clip in superfine
category
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Efficiency indicators
These new interim indicators are focused on the department’s services that provide the sector
with solutions to manage higher order risks and since 2008-09 the department’s effectiveness in
providing cost efficient production system solutions is measured using the following key efficiency
indicators. Summarised details are in Table 6. The published targets are not considered to be
a reliable indicator as a series of trend data is required to be gathered over a number of years.
A comparison has been made to the previous year’s results as this is considered to be a more
reliable indicator. A further explanation of the application of our efficiency indicators is at Efficiency
indicators on page 46.
This year the actual total cost of this service decreased sharply, significantly impacting the efficiency
indicators in Table 6. This variation is the result of the department’s change in focus from research
and development to economic development. Activities within our grains, livestock and irrigated
agriculture projects have been realigned from the Production System Solutions service to Industry
and Regional Support. The cessation of the Agricultural Protection Board (APB) service agreement
also impacted on the total cost of service.

WORM TURNS FOR MERINO FLOCK
Attractive wrinkles sound too good to be
true—but not if you are a Merino.
Department researchers have identified several
traits—including skin wrinkles, dags and breech
cover—that might be the key to breeding sheep
resistant to blowflies.
Research shows these traits are genetically
inherited and correlated to resistance to blowfly
strike.
Resistant animals identified in this way can
be used to breed sheep that are more robust
and easy-care. They also require fewer control
treatments. The hope is that resistant sheep will
improve farm profits, with worms, blowflies and
lice costing Western Australian farmers around
$70 million each year. Animal welfare outcomes
will also be improved.

The Rylington Merino flock, based at our Mount
Barker Research Station, is now the most wormresistant Merino flock in Australia.

Through this research, the Rylington Merino
flock, based at the department’s Mount Barker Research Station, is now the most worm-resistant
Merino flock in Australia as a result of selecting animals with low worm egg counts.
The researchers (in partnership with Australian Wool Innovation) identified the key indicator traits
without exposing the flock to the harmful effects of the fly.
Breeding values are now available for farmers to compare animals for these traits via the industrybased company Sheep Genetics.
In addition, the department is tackling the resistance shown by some parasites to both new and
established chemical treatments. A combination of genetic and management strategies is having
an impact, with Western Australian losses being reduced by about 10% (or $7 million) each year.
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2.3 Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at production system
solutions
As a partner, provider, adviser, shareholder and investor the department provides an array of
research and development activities aimed at contributing to an innovative and adaptive production
sector that effectively manages risk. In partnership with industry, we identify constraints within the
production sector and develop technologies and approaches that provide a competitive edge and
increase industry profitability. It is not cost effective to measure each individual piece of research
and development and the component process as the service produced is knowledge. Knowledge
may also take many forms each requiring different resources and commitment. The number of
weighted items of knowledge produced (479) is divided into the total cost of delivering this service
to reflect an average cost.
There has been a marked shift in the actual cost in 2010-11 when compared to the 2009-10
actual. This is because we now have an economic development focus rather than a research and
development focus so the number of resources allocated and available to produce research and
developed activities in this area has changed significantly. Projects from across the department
contribute to this measure; and a number of those projects were impacted by last year’s seasonal
conditions. This change is considered to have influenced the significant increase in average cost. In
addition, our research and development projects are run over a number of years and the number
of knowledge items produced each year fluctuates. In 2009-10 the number of weighted items
of knowledge produced was 1,182 almost 2.5 times the number produced this year. Historically
research findings are published towards the end of the project period.
2.4 Average cost per activity focussed on innovation and adaption
We promote awareness of key threats to the agricultural industries and provide information aimed at
enhancing the production sector’s capability to adjust to change and adopt environmentally sound
production systems that deliver ethical products and commodities. This relatively new indicator was
created to measure the average cost of this activity. The average cost is calculated from a number
of information products (such as publications which include serials, journals, refereed papers,
cartographic CDs, pod casts and videos). This weighted number (1,214) is then divided into the
total cost of delivering this service to reflect an average cost.
Historically development and extension activities are carried out prior to and after research is
conducted, so the number of such products delivered varies over the life of a project. In 2009-10
the number of weighted items of information was 1,182.
We consider that our performance was satisfactory when compared to previous years.
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2.5 Average cost per regulatory activity
This key performance indicator measures the delivery of effective biosecurity management
programs that target specified pests and diseases. The data is collected from nominated regulatory
activities pertaining to 12 different fees and services, with the activities being impacted by seasonal
and market conditions. To calculate the average cost the total number of regulatory activities
(57,953) identified is divided into the total cost of delivering that service.
We consider that the department met this performance indicator.
Table 6: Production system solutions - efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency

2008-09
Actual

2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

Average cost per unit of research and development
aimed at production system solutions *

$45,817

$41,880

$112,000

$73,910

Average cost per activity focussed on innovation
and adaption *

$24,064

$21,996

$48,000

$16,742

$265

$258

$400

$191

Average cost per regulatory activity *

Source: DAFWA
Note: This is a new measure and comparison to previous years will be difficult until a series of trend data is gathered.
* Subsequent to the target being announced in the 2010-11 Budget Statement the budgeted project allocations have been
better aligned with targeted outcomes and weightings applied resulting in a shift in dollar averages.

WHERE THERE’S SMOKE
Bush fires and prescribed burn-offs have
caused headaches for Western Australian
winemakers in recent years.
Fires can leave resulting wine with ‘smoke taint’,
an unpalatable condition that seriously affects
the quality of the wine.
Now the department and partners have
developed a web-based tool to minimise the
impact of smoke taint on vineyards.
The department’s research began in 2006,
in conjunction with Curtin University, the
Department of Environment and Conservation,
and the University of Western Australia.
Following six years of in-field research, mapping
of vineyards, chemical and sensory analysis,
plus other investigations, the new web tool will
be available to ensure that the next vintage is
not affected.

A smoke tent is used in research to assess the
influence of smoke taint on wine grapes.

Extensive fieldwork using smoke detecting equipment has shown that the most sensitive time for
smoke uptake by grapevines is seven days after berry colouring begins until harvest.
This means that prescribed burning early in spring near vineyards should have little effect but can
become critical in summer and autumn.
The smoke taint webpage will show risk for major wine grape varieties, growing regions and
seasonal variations—warm, normal or cool.
Risk can be provided for individual varieties or for a combination. The risk management tool is
also being adopted in north-eastern Victoria.
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3. Competitive food and agricultural industries
Efficient and effective supply chains are critical to the state’s future economic development. We
have a leadership role in assisting industry to create and maximise opportunities that will lead
to progressive, competitive and profitable agriculture and food industries. The profitability and
competitiveness of industries is increasingly linked to their business capability and the efficiency of
the overall value chain. We are significantly increasing our investment in this area, with a focus on
supply chain effectiveness.
We support the growth of competent and productive industries by promoting efficient use of natural
resources, high standards of biosecurity, modern marketing and value-adding, and research to
enhance continuous improvement through the supply chain from producer to consumer. We have
a role to ensure that the sector has the skills, technology and knowledge needed to make sound
decisions.
The service we delivered that directly supports the achievement of this agency-level outcome is
‘industry and regional support’. Our activities impact directly and indirectly on the overall quality of
life for people in remote and regional areas. We undertake a variety of activities that are designed to
facilitate supply chain effectiveness and enable the agrifood sector to produce products where there
is a competitive advantage.
Our key strategies include:
•

determining industry development needs and priorities — by establishing effective regional
industry and government partnership and planning arrangements at state and national levels

•

enhancing business adaptability and resilience — by providing targeted information, analysis
and business skills development throughout the supply chain

•

equipping industry groups to provide leadership — by engaging industry and regional groups
(such as grower groups, industry associations and indigenous agricultural businesses) and
improving their business systems and skills

•

strengthening agricultural skills development across all industry sectors — by developing
appropriate programs for all industry sectors; and promoting career and education
opportunities in the agriculture and food sector

•

fostering new and emerging business opportunities in regions — by assessing downstream
value-adding opportunities; and supporting associated economic and job development

•

consolidating the department as a dynamic economic development organisation — by
transforming its culture, infrastructure and business systems to lead and facilitate the
agriculture and food sector to achieve its potential.

Effectiveness indicators
3.1 Benefit–cost ratio and net present value of the agency’s research and development
activity
Innovation is critical to maintaining a competitive food and agricultural industry that supports growth
and fosters a strong economy. Over the past 30 years, Australia’s agricultural productivity has
exhibited strong growth—more than twice the rate achieved in Australia’s market sector as a whole.
This is partly attributable to the adoption of new knowledge and technologies. A key source of that
productivity growth has been the generation and adaption of new knowledge or technology to suit
Western Australian conditions. We have a significant role in conducting research, development and
innovation to support the growth and competitiveness of viable agrifood industries.
According to the Australian Government Productivity Commission, farm efficiency gains achieved
on the back of R&D have enabled Australian agriculture to stay one step ahead of international
competitors. We have had an influencing role and our research and innovation programs support the
ongoing success and competitiveness of the sector.
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One of the key appraisal techniques we apply to our programs is benefit–cost analysis. The
assessment is used to inform decision-making processes and assist in the allocation of funds to
areas likely to make positive contributions to the state’s economic development. When applied to
projects undertaken by the department it reveals how financially worthwhile the investments have
been or are likely to be in those projects.
Table 7 shows the results of nine projects (underway, near completion or recently completed). The
projects were selected for analysis from among the projects not previously reported. The analyses
are an indication of the effectiveness of agency expenditure and the efficiency of fund use.
Table 7: Project benefit – cost analyses 2010-11
Project name
Facilitating feedlot licensing
Plant biosecurity, policy, planning and management *
Greener pastures
Barley breeding

Project
costs

Benefit–cost
ratio

Net present
value

$0.4M

3.0

$0.7M

$19.8M

32.7

$650M

$5M

5.8

$6M

$5.2M

3.7

$3.6M

GM crops

$2.7M

9.9

$27M

Value chain development: SweetaBanana

$0.5M

4.5

$2.9M

Queensland fruit fly surveillance and eradication

$5.1M

5.5

$23M

$6.4M

4.4

$22M

Skeleton weed control
Source: DAFWA
* Program (suite of projects) that may cover multiple industries

FASTER FEEDLOTS
The time taken to approve the construction
of cattle feedlots has been cut by half.
Under the new system, departmental officers
have helped five applicants to construct
feedlots that fully comply with the National
Code of Practice (COP).
With an average feedlot size of 5 000 cattle, this
represents around $5 million increased value
to the state. A further eight feedlots are now
in transit.
Officers worked with industry regulator, the
Department of Environment and Conservation,
to develop the new system.

The department’s Claire Coffey and Todd

They had noted that the higher the quality of an Fotheringhame at his new feedlot at Karlgarin
application, the faster it could be processed and
the faster the new feedlot could start generating returns.
The department’s knowledge of odour and wastewater and the intricacies of the regulatory
processes made the difference.
Armed with new information, landholders have been able to cut the average approval time from
18 weeks to nine.
Where officers have provided assistance, they have achieved a 100 per cent success rate.
The department is now transferring this knowledge to consultants to achieve more widespread
success.
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In the initial allocation of resources to projects, some programs undertake ex ante analyses to
determine the likely returns to each project. Projects that return benefit–cost ratios less than 1.0 are
usually not funded unless they have a strong community service obligation. Ex post analyses are
a useful learning and communication tool, revealing inaccurate or unsound assumptions in the ex
ante analyses, as well as serving to communicate the worth of actual investments in key projects.
The primary objective in assessing projects is to determine whether they generate a worthwhile
increase in the economic value of the particular agrifood industry or that they ensure future
significant agrifood industry costs have been avoided. The spread of returns among the projects
reflects the risk and variability of returns that typically characterise agrifood industries that operate in
changeable natural and business environments.
3.2 The impact of department activity on the capacity of agrifood industry to manage
change and respond to opportunities
The ability for agriculture and food industries to seize opportunities and respond to change is a key
factor in ensuring long-term sustainability and competiveness of the industry — especially in the
face of economic, seasonal and production challenges, increasing community expectations, and
market demands for high quality, safe and environmentally responsible agriculture.
Through our development and extension activities (publications and work with primary producers
and industry organisations), we actively encourage, influence and support industries’ capacity
to understand critical issues and meet these challenges and opportunities. Risk-management
strategies are an important tool in this regard and an awareness of, and ability to, apply riskmanagement strategies is critical if a business is going to be profitable and competitive on an
ongoing basis.
Figure 10: The 2011 NRM survey results indicate that over 80 per cent of primary producers
used at least one risk management strategy to guide management decisions. When setting the
2011 target it was considered that the number of primary producers adopting one of the four
risk strategies would drop. This belief was not supported by the 2010 results (which at the time
were considered to be an exception). The percentage of respondents who adopt (or maintain) risk
management strategies tends to fluctuate with changes in economic and seasonal conditions.
Achieving a response rate of 83 per cent is considered to be a success and reflect the continued
development of the sector. Commodity price trends and farm business liquidity affect both the value
of hedging on wool and grain futures markets and the cash available for off-farm investment.

Percentage of respondents

Figure 10: Percentage of WA primary producers adopting one of four risk management strategies
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As a result of continued department investment in this area, it is anticipated that there will be
continued adoption of effective management strategies. During the year the Western Australian
and commonwealth governments trialled a pilot program that was focused on building resilient
businesses. The pilot had three broad aims; to strengthen farm businesses, sustain farming families
and build resilient rural communities. 422 farm businesses have completed training to develop
or update a strategic business plan through the department’s Farm Planning project; and 119
businesses have been approved grants of up to $60 000 through the jointly funded Building Farm
Businesses program that is being delivered under the drought pilot.
42 per cent of respondents to the NRM survey indicated that they used Quality Assurance/
Environmental Management Systems (QA/EMS) or Codes of Practice to guide management
decision. Figure 11 shows that the level of adoption of QA/EMS or Codes of Practice to guide
management decisions by the state’s farmers has remained steady or slightly increased. The
decline in the pastoral area may be the effect of continued drought in this area and the decline in
merino production in the Rangelands, for which a QA/EMS was more suited (as opposed to export
cattle). However, as a result of continued department investment in this area (with land holders and
NRM groups), it is anticipated that the adoption will increase, albeit slowly, across all regions in the
future as market and government demand for use of these systems increases.

Percentage of respondents

Figure 11: Percentage of WA primary producers adopting a Quality Assurance, Environmental
Management System or Code of Practice to guide their management decisions, by region
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Pastoral Region

Source: NRM survey

An independent survey commissioned by the department (conducted by URS in November
2010) of farm businesses in the North Eastern Agricultural Region (NEAR) area found that around
50 per cent indicated that they use seasonal decision-making tools (e.g. data from the Bureau
of Meteorology and the department). In an earlier survey of Western Australian Grain Growers
(conducted by Painted Dog Research in January 2010) our staff were ranked in the top five
categories of influential people for decision-making. We have also seen increasing use of remote
sensing, pasture modelling and climate forecasting in pastoral areas.
We consider that the department met this measure.
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Efficiency indicators
The following indicators are focused on our services that provide the sector with information
promoting competiveness of the supply chain. We provide appropriate information to government
and industry sectors to ensure agriculture and food industry needs are met. Services include
the identification and utilisation of relevant resources, information technology, infrastructure and
regulation to enhance the supply chain.
Our effectiveness in providing cost efficient production system solutions is measured using three key
efficiency indicators. The indicators were created to measure the average cost of this activity and
details are shown in Table 8. The average cost is calculated from a number of information products
(such as publications which include serials, journals, refereed papers, cartographic CDs, pod casts
and videos) divided into the total cost of delivering this service to reflect an average cost. We support
the achievement of our targets by contributing to across-government initiatives and identifying and
implementing steps to deliver ongoing improvements to efficiency and organisational effectiveness.
The weighted data has been allocated on a proportional basis (based on dollar allocations of projects
to outcome). This has resulted in a consistent average across the three performance measure listed
in Table 8. This year, has seen a gross increase in the average cost for the following indicators. Until
more detailed trend data can be collected it is considered that this increase falls within the normal
range. A further review of our performance indicators will be conducted.
Historically, development and extension activities are carried out prior to and after research is
conducted. Furthermore, as the activities reported here are targeted at different stakeholders, the
number and type of information product delivered varies from year to year depending on who they
are aimed at. While 2010-11 saw a significant increase in the cost of service, the number of weighted
products produced under items 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5 changed little from last year.
This year the actual total cost of this service increased by about $30.000. This variation is due to our
transformation to an outcome focused economic development agency, resulting in a shift in service
activities away from Production System Solutions to Industry and Regional Support. The variation
reflects our strategic approach to investment in market development, with an increased focus on
select high value products and markets, market intelligence and industry partnerships. This change
in the total cost of service has impacted on the efficiency indicators in Table 8.
A further explanation of the application of our efficiency indicators is at Efficiency indicators page 46.
3.3 Average cost per activity focussed on food industry needs, issues and policy
development
We develop, evaluate and promote legislation, regulation and policy that maximises opportunities
for the agriculture and food industries. Competitiveness is a key component of the supply chain and
the information we provided was aimed at maximising opportunities for the agriculture and food
industries. There were 379 weighted items considered in the measure.
Table 8: Industry and regional support - efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency

2008-09
Actual

2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

Average cost per activity focussed on food industry
needs, issues and policy development *

$24,064

$27,144

$589,000

$90,425

Average cost per activity focussed on industry supply
chain issues *

$24,064

$27,144

$114,000

$90,425

Average cost per activity focussed on regional industry
needs and issues *

$24,064

$27,144

$143,000

$90,425

Source: DAFWA
Note: This is a new measure and comparison to previous years will be difficult until a series of trend data is gathered.
* Subsequent to the target being announced in the 2010-11 Budget Statement the budgeted project allocations have been better aligned with
targeted outcomes and weightings applied resulting in a shift in dollar averages.
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3.4 Average cost per activity focussed on industry supply chain issues
The challenge facing agrifood producers is to continue to grow and adapt to meet local and global
needs and expectations. This year we continued our work to better support economic development
across the industry sector through its activities that were aimed at enhancing the effectiveness and
efficiency of existing and new supply chains. There were 47 weighted items considered under the
measure.
3.5 Average cost per activity focussed on regional industry needs and issues
We provide professional advice to government and industry sectors regarding the sectors needs;
and also provide advice on infrastructure requirements for existing and future industry needs.
Investment in infrastructure is critical to sustaining economic growth. Because infrastructure assets
are long lived and expensive, it is important to identify infrastructure requirements and promote
solutions having consideration of existing and anticipated needs. This year, 27 weighted items were
considered under this measure.
We facilitate investment attraction in partnership with government and industry sectors and provide
key information and support for existing industries and the development of new industries. By
adopting leading-edge models of communication and consultation with industry stakeholder and
community groups we aim to improve efficiencies and help the industry sector meet its targets.

GROWING THE NORTH
Northern Australia is rich in Indigenous, ecological, community
and natural resource assets.
But compared with southern Australia, it is relatively undeveloped.
Growing the North is a five-year project by the department that
aims to increase the economic contribution of agriculture in the
north of the state.
It will provide a framework to develop opportunities for irrigated
agriculture to stimulate jobs and growth.
Key areas under consideration include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ord River Irrigation Area
East Kimberley
Carnarvon (through the Gascoyne Food Bowl project)
West Kimberley
Pilbara
pastoral areas.

The plan will guide industry and government’s direction and
investment for the future.
The department will also undertake community liaison, assist
businesses seeking to diversify and develop land and water
packages for agricultural expansion.

Western Australia’s north offers great
opportunities for both irrigated and broad-acre
agriculture.

Other key aims include integrating the pastoral and agricultural industries and encouraging
landholders, traditional landowners, government and investors to work together to develop new
opportunities.
The department will boost confidence in land development and investment in the region through
increased understanding of market opportunities and supply chains.
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4. Increased value of domestic and international trade
The identification and establishment of new markets, the expansion of existing markets and the
facilitation of more efficient transport and trade arrangements are important roles for government.
This is of critical importance in Western Australia given that some 80 per cent of our agricultural
product is exported.
We are committed to partner with industry to promote investment opportunities, improve market
access for the state’s agriculture and food products and build the capacity of the industry to
grow and adapt. Our activities lead to improvements (direct and in-direct) in the agrifood sector’s
contribution to the state’s economic development.
Our service that directly supports the achievement of this agency-level outcome is ‘market
development’. Activities are carried out in affiliation with industry and other state, commonwealth
and international organisations/governments.
Our key strategies include:
•

extracting more value from target markets — by providing industry with improved product and
market knowledge; and improving information exchange throughout the supply chain

•

expanding market opportunities — by encouraging productive relationships between supply
chain customers, government and industry organisations; addressing biosecurity, tariffs and
other trade related impediments; streamlining regulation; and attracting investment in priority
export and domestic market opportunities

•

enhancing the profile of the state’s agriculture and food sector — by raising local, national and
international awareness and recognition of the opportunities, achievements and excellence in
the Western Australian sector

•

maintaining effective biosecurity measures — demonstrating freedom from pests and
diseases.

Effectiveness indicators
4.1 Extent to which new market opportunities are developed or maintained for Western
Australian agricultural produce
Our work as an economic development agency is aimed at helping the business sector to grow
and be successful. Increased trade is achieved by various activities including identification of and
support to developing industries and regional activities, introduction of new technologies and
farming methods, sustainable management of our natural resources, protecting our industries from
pests and diseases and helping to develop and maintain market access. To expand and prosper,
the sector is required to increase its focus on delivering quality products to discerning markets.
The local Buy West Eat Best program has also gone from strength to strength, and this year Fresh
Food Link was launched to connect smaller producers with markets, processors, value-adders and
consumers. This is another tool that will assist small landholders and businesses to capitalise on the
increasing demand for quality local WA produce and fresh value-added products.
Through our project activities, the department supports the development of diversified and
expanded market opportunities for the state’s agriculture and food products to the benefit of all
Western Australians. This process of identifying opportunities and assisting industry often requires
building long-term relationships with overseas buyers and may take many years to produce tangible
results.
AGWEST International is the department’s vehicle for service export, generating revenue for the
state through the provision of training and capacity building services overseas. It also builds both
government-to-government and trade relationships in emerging markets, and identifies new
commodity market opportunities.
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Table 9 shows a range of products the department has focused its efforts on, in various markets,
over a number of years. Efforts to develop export markets can be adversely impacted by a range
of external factors including trade conditions (such as terms of trade agreements, import quotas,
etc.), the global financial crisis, climate variability, outbreak of diseases, currency fluctuations and
global conflicts. This year has been one of the most challenging periods in the recent history of the
Western Australian agriculture and food sector and this has had an impact on international trade.
Analysis: Government intervention together with the competition from Brazil markets saw a
significant drop in pork exports to Singapore. Structural issues and changes within the beef industry
saw the amount of beef available for export decline. Similarly in terms of supply, the reduction in the
state’s sheep numbers has also meant a reduction in the availability of lamb for international export.
An industry restructure also saw low production volumes and refocussing of milk to domestic
markets. Oaten hay exports into Japan and South Korea were not maintained as expected. This
has been attributed to the 2010 growing season which resulted in a much higher per cent of low
grade oaten hay being produced. Trade conditions also impacted on the amount of cereal hay that
was exported to South Korea. Several new Western Australia strawberry exporters were introduced
to new retailers in Thailand. The value of the state’s agricultural commodities exported were
approximately $4.3 billion in the 2010 calendar year, down from approximately $5.3 billion in 2009.
Table 9: Trade opportunities developed in export markets
Commodity

Destination

2007

2008

2009

2010

2010

$’000

$’000

$’000

Target
$’000

Actual
$’000

Pork

Singapore

26,762

26,303

29,490

30,000

24,939

Beef

Japan

32,145

36,023

20,882

23,000

19,553

South Korea

33,084

31,170

13,787

15,000

13,227

6,045

5,353

4,610

5,000

2,836

Lamb

Japan

2,511

2,032

1,311

2,000

1,314

12,736

19,786

20,839

21,000

26,617

Malaysia

4,550

4,295

4,010

3,800

2,453

Hong Kong

8,920

7,405

7,877

7,500

6,860

South Korea
UAE
Milk
Cereal hay
Strawberries

Japan

82,656

93,274

93,972

94,000

78,564

South Korea

10,565

21,010

19,110

19,000

16,732

382

522

560

550

842

Thailand

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) and DAFWA
* Due to a change in the reporting requirements by ABS, the export trade data is reported on a calendar year basis rather than a financial
year basis.

Working with the Western Australian Government’s International Trade and Investment Offices
(WATO) and the Australian Trade Commission (Austrade), we helped to coordinate a number of
trade exhibitions aimed at promoting the state’s agrifood industries to targeted markets.
We are also engaged in a number of ongoing activities that have contributed to Western
Australian agrifood producers and companies securing new export opportunities and becoming
more competitive. We coordinated Western Australian participation at a number of targeted
market-specific international trade exhibitions during 2010–11. For these events we helped
companies to promote their products, communicated trade inquiries, organised one-onone business meetings, provided briefing materials and offered a logistical package to aid
companies to exhibit at these events. We worked collaboratively with both commonwealth and
Western Australian overseas offices for the mutual benefit of Western Australian companies and
with industry associations, development commissions and the Small Business Development
Corporation.
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Through continued efforts we have encouraged and developed stronger trading relations for the
state’s producers. The following examples are provided to demonstrate our activity aimed at
increasing trade.
Korea/Japan
•

We organised a stand for Western Australian businesses at SEOULFOOD Food and Beverage
Trade Exhibition in Seoul, with more than 45 000 buyers and visitors in attendance.

•

We provided scientific evidence to support the export of unique Western Australian apiary
products (jarrah honey and beeswax) to Japan, with the export value of one local producer
increasing threefold from 2009

•

With WATO Japan, we successfully promoted Western Australia’s world-class natural
and processed products, assisting in the export of $1 million of truffles, salt, carrot juice
concentrate and seafood, and $11 million of cereal hay and straw

•

We worked with WATO Japan to assist a Japanese user and a local exporter of lupin kernel
meal for fish feed to conclude a contract valued at $700 000.

Middle East/Africa/India
•

Western Australian wheat had been unable to meet Saudi Arabian market requirements
for higher protein levels and a zero tolerance to the fungus, ergot. Following on from
the department’s ongoing efforts to convince Saudi Arabia’s Grains Silos and Flour Mills
Organisation to change their tender specifications to enable the state’s wheat to meet the new
requirements. The CBH Group sent the first shipment of Western Australian wheat to Saudi
Arabia in more than 20 years, valued at $12 million.

•

We undertook a number of consultancies including in Botswana and Lesotho. The Botswana
consultancy consisted of an $885 000 Comprehensive two year policy and training program
to assist the Ministry of Agriculture to develop an integrated biosecurity plan. The Lesotho
consultancy consisted of a $53 000 review of Lesotho’s wool and mohair industry and make
recommendations to AusAID on potential future contributions of Australian industry expertise
and the fostering of increased engagement between the two countries.

•

We undertook a $539 130 AusAID-funded Leadership Award program for veterinarians from
Botswana and Kenya aimed at underpinning food security in those countries.

•

As part of the AusAID-sponsored Iraq Partnership Facility, Coffey International Development
sub-contracted AGWEST International to bring 19 senior managers from Iraq to Perth to gain
skills in targeting, planning and delivering agricultural services. The value of the contract was
$310 956.

•

Twelve Western Australian companies exhibited and 13 participants attended the International
Food and Drink Exhibition in New Delhi, India. About 2500 unique trade visitors attended the
conference.

ASEAN
•

The Chairman of the Malaysian Federal Land Development Authority accepted a ministerial
invitation to visit Perth to consider trade and investment opportunities in beef, dairy and fodder
industries in October 2010. Trade outcomes to date include an order for 10 000 lambs.

•

We continued to develop a relationship with a leading Singaporean supermarket retailer, which
has resulted in long-term supply contracts with a range of Western Australian fresh produce
exporters.
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•

In association with WATO Malaysia, we organised a delegation of fresh producers to attend a
Singapore–WA Horticulture Business Seminar in December 2010. The aim of the mission was
to strengthen business relationships with major importers/retailers and increase the profile of
Western Australian produce in Singapore.

•

With WATO Indonesia, we continue to work closely with industry and major wheat importers
to increase the profile and market share of Western Australian wheat in Indonesia. An
Indonesian delegation visited Perth in 2010 to investigate Australian export wheat grades
and quality characteristics; and to learn how to satisfy the state’s wheat can meet Indonesian
requirements for baked bread products and noodle markets.

•

We worked with WATO Indonesia to help lupin exporters promote lupins in the Indonesian
food staple, tempe. The first shipment of de-hulled split lupin kernels arrived in Surabaya in
October 2010; and the first commercial product of 100 per cent lupin tempe and tempe lupin
chips reached Indonesian markets in March 2011.

•

Also with WATO Indonesia, we promoted a range of fresh Western Australian produce to
various Indonesian importers ,leading to the export of 20 tonnes of Red Globe grapes to
Jakarta in February 2011.

•

We have also been working closely with industry and importers to promote Western Australian
strawberries into the Thailand market, leading to a 50 per cent increase in strawberry exports
to Thailand over the previous year.

CRACKING THE NEXT GROWTH MARKET
South-East Asia is home to many of the world’s
biggest trading opportunities. The trick is deciding
where and how to seize them.
The department has identified an opportunity to
increase exports of fresh produce into the Association
of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) market.
As a result, we have a new strategy to work with WA
exporters to promote fresh produce to Singapore,
Malaysia and Thailand. Two more countries—
Indonesia and Vietnam—also offer opportunities.
These countries are particularly interested in fresh
products, including table grapes, stone fruit, pome
fruit, citrus, strawberries, avocadoes, potatoes,
brassica and carrots.
WA is ideally located on the ‘doorstep’ to supply
fresh produce to South-East Asia, offering growers
and exporters a counter-seasonal advantage over
other Asian suppliers; and a distance advantage over
those in Europe and the Americas.

The ASEAN market is hungry for fresh fruit and
vegetables

The obvious attraction is the region’s rapidly rising consumer base. Over the next five to 10 years,
the number of middle and upper income earners in South-East Asia is expected to increase to
100 million people, out of a total population of more than 550 million. That’s a lot of table grapes.
Another benefit to potential exports is that the region has generally low trade barriers to food
imports from Western Australia.
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China/Hong Kong/Taiwan
•

Twenty Western Australian companies participated/exhibited and 28 representatives attended
the HOFEX exhibition in Hong Kong in 2011. A record 31 000 trade buyers visited, of whom
30 per cent were international buyers from 85 countries and regions.

•

With WATO China, we organised an exhibition of Western Australian wine at the Chengdu
Commodity Fair, with eight major Western Australian wine importers representing more than
20 wineries participating.

•

We also continue working with WATO China and a Western Australian honey exporter to
facilitate sales in Chinese supermarkets.

Australia
•

Fourteen Western Australian companies exhibited at Fine Food Australia 2010 in Melbourne
and established linkages with buyers—particularly from South-East Asia and North Asia. A
total of 24 000 buyers attended including 4500 interstate and 1500 international buyers.

•

We hosted international buyers from Japan, Singapore, Maldives, Korea, India, China and
Malaysia at Fine Food Western Australia 2011. A total of 5400 buyers attended, including 75
international visitors.

•

AGWEST International engaged in a number of consultancy projects yielding $1.5 million from
the purchase and export of agricultural equipment, contracts with tertiary institutions and the
purchase of other goods and services.

Agribusiness development/investment attraction
•

The Wine Industry Association of Western Australia, with our support, prepared the WA Wine
Industry Three-Year International Marketing Plan 2011–12 to 2013–14. The plan — developed
in consultation with processors from across the state — seeks to address the downturn in
wine exports by way of targeted marketing activities in priority markets.

•

We developed an ASEAN Fresh Strategy that outlines a range of export market focused
initiatives to increase exports of fresh produce from Western Australia. The project detailed
target products and countries, project partners in Western Australia and overseas, and key
strategies in export market development.

•

To support the future development of the cattle feedlot industry, we worked with the
Department of Environment and Conservation to develop both a National Code of Practice for
Cattle Feedlots and standards for Environmental Improvement Plans; and to assist industry in
their adoption.

•

To support the future growth of value-added food exports, we worked with industry and other
agencies to complete a proof-of-concept plan for a south-west agrifood processing precinct,
facilitated an expression-of-interest process to determine its preferred site and commissioned
a due diligence study of the site and its waste management strategy. We also assessed
opportunities to establish similar precincts in the Peel region.

•

We continued to provide assistance on specialised business structures, strategy, supply
chain analysis and government processes to improve the operation of agribusinesses. These
included businesses in the horticultural, dairy, meat, and grain industries.

•

We worked jointly with Austrade and state government agencies in the south-west to develop
an investment document highlighting agricultural opportunities for overseas investors. We are
also working with Landgate and industry to further develop the ‘Find your Farm’ website to
raise investment in the state’s agrifood industries.
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4.2 Interceptions of significant pests, diseases and weeds by interstate and international
barrier quarantine activities
It is important to intercept significant pests, diseases and weeds as their establishment generally
becomes an expensive problem for the industry and even the community. The establishment of a
significant pest, disease or weed causes major crop or livestock losses, can cost a considerable
amount of time and money in control regimes and its presence can devalue goods or restrict
market access totally.
Market access is predominantly affected by freedom from pests and diseases. It is a significant
issue for producers as they need to be able to continue to access and establish new markets
for their produce so that they can maximise profits. Our biosecurity service provides evidence of
freedom status from threats that have the potential to cause serious damage through loss of market
access, damage to industry reputation, productivity losses or cost increases. Working closely with
our key stakeholders and respective industries, the department promotes biosecurity management
practices that guard against animal and plant pests and diseases. Unfortunately, a certain frequency
of incursions is inevitable — to which the response is to remove or minimise the risk of spread or
damage.
In 1986 potato cyst nematode (PCN) was detected in Western Australia and an eradication
response implemented. In 2010, the years of rigorous testing and surveillance cumulated with
Western Australia being reinstated as a PCN free area. This achievement places Western Australian
potato growers in the enviable situation of now having access into markets that the industry had
previously been excluded from due to PCN import restrictions.

IMPROVING OUR WATERWAYS
When the amount of fertiliser spread is too high
to be utilised by crops, it is left behind to be
leached into waterways.
The nutrients in the excess fertiliser promote the
growth of algae and bacteria which then chokes out
the growth of fish and other aquatic organisms.
This year the department helped to tackle the problem
of nutrient run-off on the Swan and Scott coastal
plains.
Using funds from the State NRM program, the
department helped to develop an education program
for farmers. The program included a:
•

soil productivity and nutrient assessment tool,
called the SPANA, for dairy and beef producers

•

DVD of testimonials to inspire farmers to adopt
soil testing to guide fertiliser application rates

•

Fertiliser Action Plan for farmers and their
advisers

•

Soil testing standards and guidelines for more
efficient and effective fertiliser use.

The fertiliser, horticulture and dairy industries also
contributed to the program.
Nutrient run-off creates ‘dead zones’.
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The exclusion of quarantine risk material, by interstate and international barrier quarantine activities
is considered an effective measure. The department’s effectiveness in protecting the agriculture and
food industry from significant pests and diseases helps the industry remain competitive in both the
domestic and international marketplace.
Sampling indicates successful exclusion of insect pests, plant diseases and weeds identified as
quarantine risk material. A given pest is deemed significant when it is not known to be present
or established in Western Australia but is capable of causing economically significant damage to
the state’s agriculture, food and fibre industries. This measure fluctuates from year to year in the
normal course of business and having consideration to seasonal variations. During the year, the
department targeted education programs and promote improved risk management strategies.
Figure 12 shows that 42 individual pests, diseases and weeds were intercepted a total of 188 times
— demonstrating the success of the department’s services. The total excludes interceptions of
insects from international sources, which are reported to the Commonwealth Government.
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Figure 12: Interception of significant pests, diseases and weeds

Interceptions of significant pests, diseases and weeds
Number of pests diseases and weeds
Source: DAFWA

In early 2011 a female and a male Queensland Fruitfly (Qfly) were detected at two different
metropolitan locations. The department formed an Incident Management Team and implemented
response activities. Organic fruit fly bait NaturalureTM was applied to street trees and bait spotting
included selected properties with host plants. Overall 20,850 Qfly trap inspections were undertaken
with no Qflies being detected after 8 April 2011. Our action saw the Code of Practice requirements
for reinstating Qfly area freedom met on 15 July 2011.

Efficiency Indicators
Market development services contribute to an increase in the value of domestic and international
trade. Our success in providing a cost efficient service is measured using the following key
efficiency indicators. Refer to Table 10. Our key services are interlinked and focussed on elements
of the supply chain related to market development and based on the department’s strength
to influence the industry and market place. We will continue to work with other private and
government agencies to extend the suite of market development services offered.
The published targets are not considered to be a reliable indicator as a series of trend data is
required to be gathered over a number of years. A comparison has been made to the previous
year’s results as this is considered to be a more reliable indicator. A further explanation of the
application of our efficiency indicators is at Efficiency indicators page 46.
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4.3 Average cost per unit of research and development aimed at market development
services
This performance indicator measures the average cost of providing market intelligence to domestic
and international customers to promote trade opportunities. The number of weighted items of
knowledge (132) produced is divided into the total cost of delivering this service to reflect an
average cost. More detailed trend data needs to be collected before a detailed analysis can be
completed.
There has been a marked shift in average cost when compared to 2009-10. This is because our
focus has changed from research and development to economic development and the number of
resources allocated and available to produce these knowledge activities has changed significantly.
Research and development projects are run over a number of years and the number of knowledge
items produced each year fluctuates depending on each project’s stage in its life cycle, research
findings typically being published towards the end of the project period. Many of them are also
subject to seasonal and other external factors. These factors combined in 2010-11 to give a
significant increase in the average cost per item of knowledge when compared to last year.
4.4 Average cost per activity focussed on market development, policy and advice
We provide an important role in the provision of market intelligence to domestic and international
customers. By assisting the industry to develop new market relationships and alliances, trading
opportunities are developed and maintained. We also provide informed advice to the government.
Each year we undertake a range of activities to support this deliverable and provide advice and
information on the state’s major agrifood exports markets, consumer trends, market/industry
issues, risks and opportunities.

THINKING GLOBAL
‘Our market is the world.’
In the 19th century few brands were thinking global—but famous US
food manufacturer Henry Heinz had global ambitions for the brand
he established in the 1870s.
‘I think, Mr Heinz, we will take the lot,’ said the food buyer after
sampling his produce at the very grand and opulent Fortnum and
Mason store in Victorian London.
And the rest is history. As one observer asked: ‘Could there ever be
a more successful ketchup?’
Now the Western Australian wine industry—with a little help from the
department— is hoping for some of that optimism to rub off.
The department has helped the Wine Industry Association of WA
(WIAWA) to develop a marketing strategy to boost exports.

The department has worked with the Western
Australian wine industry to develop a marketing
strategy to boost exports.

Exports of Western Australian premium wine have been hit hard in the
past year, affected by the high Australian dollar, the global financial crisis and strong competition
in the overseas market. Exports for 2010/11 totalled $34 million. It is our intention that, all things
being equal, this will double by the end of this three year marketing plan
The domestic market has also been affected by heavy discounting by major wine retailers and
fewer tourists visiting the state.
The fight back began with an industry survey as the association worked closely with the department,
overseas trade offices and Wine Australia to identify and prioritise target markets.
The ‘WA wine industry three-year international marketing plan 2011–12 to 2013–14’ is now
complete. It recommends a new direction for the industry aligned with recent national plans.
It also suggests a range of state and regional marketing activities to boost consumption at home.
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The number of weighted items of information (348) produced is divided into the total cost of
delivering this service to reflect an average cost. When compared to last year there was a decrease
in the average cost.
Historically development and extension activities are carried out prior to and after research is
conducted so the number and type of information products delivered fluctuates from year to year.
Variations also occur where products are targeted at different stakeholders, requiring different
product types (and numbers) to suit their needs and expectations. The decrease in average cost —
when compared to previous years — is seen as positive.
4.5 Average cost per activity focussed on legislation, regulation and policy development
Working with private and government organisations we identify information and provide advice that
is aimed at facilitating trade. In addition, effective surveillance programs ensure early detection and
diagnosis of incursions, define the status for market access and justify quarantine barriers — an
essential component of the state’s good reputation in the market place.
The number of weighted items of information (168) produced is divided into the total cost of
delivering this service to reflect an average cost. When compared to last year there was a decrease
in the average cost.
Historically development and extension activities are carried out after research is conducted so the
number and type of information products delivered fluctuates annually. Variations also occur where
products are targeted at different stakeholders, requiring different product types (and numbers) to
suit their needs and expectations. The decrease in average cost — when compared to previous
years — is seen as a success.
4.6 Average cost per regulatory activity processed
A suite of activities are provided to protect our state’s border protection and minimise the risk of
introducing new pests and diseases impacting on Western Australia’s claims of disease freedom
which could impact on market access.
Our performance indicator considers 12 specific regulations rather than all regulatory activity
undertaken by the department and the number of activities undertaken each year fluctuates with
season variations and market movements. The total number of identified regulatory activities (955)
is then divided into the total cost of delivering regulatory services to obtain an average cost for the
financial year. The average cost of providing this service fell when compared to previous results.
We consider that the department met this performance indicator.
4.7 Cost per freight consignment inspected (not all consignments inspected)
We undertake an array of surveillance programs to ensure early detection and diagnosis of
incursions, define the status for market access and justify quarantine barriers. The performance
indicator measures the quarantined number of import freight consignments cleared and export
consignments certified (45,078). That number is then divided into the total cost of delivering this
service to reflect an average cost. There has been a decrease in the average cost. This decrease is
predominantly caused by the decrease in the overall total cost of the service.
4.8 Cost per diagnostic sample
A suite of activities are provided to protect our state’s border protection and minimise the risk
of introducing new pests and diseases and to maintain market access enjoyed by our state’s
agriculture and food industries. The average cost per diagnostic sample processed increased
slightly from last year. The measure looks at the number of batches of plant and animal diagnostic
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samples (41,217). An average cost for the year is obtained by dividing the total number of batches
into the total cost of delivering this service. It is thought that this year’s dry season impacted on the
number of batches. Last year, the number of batches was 47,200.
We consider that the department met this performance indicator.
Table 10: Market development - efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency

2008-09
Actual

2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

Average cost per unit of research and development aimed
at market development services *

$45,817

$48,301

$451,000

$91,304*

Average cost per activity focussed on market
development, policy and advice *

$24,064

$25,369

$120,000

$20,683

Average cost per activity focussed on legislation,
regulation and policy development *

$24,064

$25,369

$120,000

$20,683

Average cost per regulatory activity processed

$265

$297

$400

$236

Cost per freight consignment inspected (not all
consignments inspected) *

$31

$31

$40

$24

$210

$170

$200

$164

Cost per diagnostic sample

Source: DAFWA
Note: This is a new measure and comparison to previous years will be difficult until a series of trend data is gathered.
* Subsequent to the target being announced in the 2010-11 Budget Statement the budgeted project allocations have been better aligned with
targeted outcomes and weightings applied resulting in a shift in dollar averages.

LOCAL FAVOURITES
Local foods were a show-stopper at IGA
supermarkets this year.
The department, food producers and IGA
supermarkets joined forces to promote food
from 22 suppliers instore.
The Local Favourites project makes it easier
for consumers to identify local products and to
learn more about them.
The project highlighted products in special
stands in IGA’s Wembley, Canning Vale, PK
Fresh, Woodvale, Girrawheen, East Victoria
Park and Captain Stirling supermarkets.
It complements the Buy West Eat Best campaign
that promotes products grown, farmed, fished
and produced in the state.
More than 100 businesses have joined the
program, including 18 new members during
2010–11.

The Buy West Eat Best cookbook is a compilation of
recipes featuring fresh Western Australian produce.
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5. Reduced incidence and impact of environmental and
community based risks
We provide a range of services that reduce the incidence and impact of pests and diseases that do
not directly affect Western Australian agriculture but have significant community or environmental
impacts. The ‘community and environment risk management’ service we delivered directly supports
the achievement of this agency-level outcome. Activities include:
•

managing biosecurity risks of importance to the community or environment

•

assessing and prioritising risks

•

extending management strategies and tools

•

ensuring appropriate community and regional engagement and investment.

Environmental and community-based risks — such as European house borer (EHB), starlings,
European wasps, red imported fire ants and rainbow lorikeets — have the potential to become a
pest of the environment and public amenity enjoyed by Western Australians. We have a range of
specialised expertise that enables us to respond rapidly to incursions and outbreaks of high-priority
community-based risks, and to monitor and evaluate our delivery of community and environmental
benefits-based outcomes.
In March 2011 the Australian horse industry signed the Emergency Animal Disease Response
Agreement (EADRA). In signing EADRA, the horse industry is committed to taking steps to
minimise the risk of entry and spread of significant diseases of horses. The biosecurity package
‘Horse Alert WA’ has been developed, in conjunction with representatives from major horse
organisations. It will be distributed in July 2011 to WA horse industry members.
This year, our EHB response team hosted a two day workshop for entomologists from around
Australia. The workshop is one of a number of EHB-related activities being rolled out nationally
as part of the transition from an EHB eradication approach to a management approach. An EHB
course was developed for pest controllers, which is proposed to be delivered nationally, as part
of their pest control training curriculum. The focus of the EHB transition is also to make industries
aware of the proposed interstate regulations for the movement of pinewood products - such as
pallets and packaging - from Western Australia. These regulations, imposed by other states and
territories, are expected to have a significant impact on many industries.

Effectiveness indicators
5.1 Activity on the management of community and environmental risks
Starlings and EHB are two examples of invasive pests that have the potential to rapidly expand to
other parts of the state. Should they become established in areas like the South West Land Division
it is considered that there would be a serious impact on community infrastructure, lifestyle and the
environment.
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Table 11 shows the area, by percentage, infested by starlings and EHB in the South West Land
Division. The South West Land Division is 25,209,755 hectares. The downward trend for starlings
indicates that the work completed by the department, working with other government agencies and
organisations, has been effective. The application of cutting edge technology, by the department,
using radio telemetry for surveillance is attributed to this success. The slight increase in infested
area by EHB is due to new discoveries of the pest near existing EHB sites. The impact of the ban
on clearing pines meant that infested areas could not be cleared of pine trees, which resulted in
very little progress being made in the eradication attempt. EHB infestations are currently restricted
to 60 Perth suburbs, excluding one infestation found near Albany. 70 per cent of the 181 confirmed
EHB finds have been cleared of all EHB host material, including living pine trees.
It is considered that the department met this indicator.
Table 11: Activity on the management of community and environmental risks
Key indicators of efficiency

2008–09
Actual

2009–10
Actual

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

Potential susceptible area infected (percent)
Starlings 1

5.70

2.219

0.25

European House Borer

0.114

0.157

0.12

0.014
2

0.158

Source: DAFWA
1
– The calculation process was revised in 2009-10 to reflect infested property. This change should be taken into account when comparing
trends.
2
– This figure was incorrectly reported as 0.8 in the 2010-11 Budget Statement

HELLO SALVINIA, GOODBYE LAKES
Salvinia is a potentially devastating weed.
Dense, free-floating and aquatic, it can choke
waterways in no time— doubling its dry weight
in two and a half days when conditions are
right.
It can cause great ecological and agricultural
damage, as well as affect tourism and
recreational activities.
In 2000 at Lily Creek Lagoon, near Kununurra,
a resident discovered a small infestation—
about 15 sq metres—trapped in the lagoon by
a barrier of reeds.
It was the only known infestation in the region,
probably dumped into a drain or the lake from
a fish tank.

A dense mat of salvinia at Lily Creek Lagoon.

There were fears it have spread to nearby Lake Argyle, where it would have been impossible to
contain.
The department, other government agencies and the Kimberley community pulled 100 kg out.
They used booms, flat-bottomed boats to reach the limits, and chemicals to eradicate what they
could not reach.
No salvinia has been detected at Lily Creek Lagoon for the past three years—a serious success
story in our far north.

Department of Agriculture and Food ANNUAL REPORT 2011

86

Outcome 5: Reduced non-agricultural risks
Efficiency Indicators
Community and environmental risk management is a relatively new service where we monitor and
provide emergency response to incursions and outbreaks of high priority community based risks.
Our effectiveness in providing a cost service is measured using the following interim key efficiency
indicators. Details are shown in Table 12. Additional details regarding the application of our
performance measures are at Efficiency indicators on page 46.
5.2 Average cost per activity focussed on community and environmental risk
management services
This indicator was created to measure the average cost of providing information on community
and environmental risk management services. Information products are delivered through the
department’s projects. The type and number of information products varies each year depending
on the community needs and expectations. This year we produced about 30 products less than last
year. The average cost is calculated from a number of information products (such as publications
which include serials, journals, refereed papers, cartographic CDs, pod casts and videos). The
average cost is obtained by dividing that number (487) into the total cost of delivering this service.
5.3 Cost per diagnostic sample related to non-agricultural pests and diseases
This measure looks at the number of batches of non-agricultural pests and disease diagnostic
samples. An average cost is obtained by dividing the total number of batches (3,228) into the total
cost of delivering this service for the financial year. Since last year, there has been an increase in
the average cost and this is predominantly due to a decrease in the number of batches processed
(3,697 in 2009-10). We consider the variation falls within the normal trend parameters having
consideration to the year’s external impacts such as seasonal variations, outbreaks of incursions
etc.
Table 12: Market development – efficiency indicators
Key indicators of efficiency
Average cost per activity focussed
on community and environmental risk
management services *
Cost per diagnostic sample related to nonagricultural pests and diseases

2008-09
Actual

2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Target

2010-11
Actual

$24,064

$23,583

$131,000

$30,264

$210

$158

$200

$240

Source: DAFWA
Note: This is a new measure and comparison to previous years will be difficult until a series of trend data is gathered.
* Subsequent to the target being announced in the 2010-11 Budget Statement the budgeted project allocations have been better aligned with
targeted outcomes and weightings applied resulting in a shift in dollar averages.
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Financial statements
Certification of financial statements
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Food, Western
Australia have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the
financial year ending 30 June 2011 and the financial position as at 30 June 2011. At the date
of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included
in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Joe Murgia
Chief Financial Officer
26 September 2011

Rob Delane
Accountable Authority
26 September 2011
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Notes to the
Statement
offinancial
Comprehensive
statements
Income
For the year ending 30 June 2011

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services

(a)

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method

Note

2,011
$’000

2,010

7.

124,386

124,177

8.

44,491

51,246

9.
10.

8,305
933

8,174
1,409

$’000

Other expenses

10.

4,563

3,115

Grants and subsidies

11.

34,919

31,290

Cost of sales

12.

226

226

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

14.

0

0

217,823

219,637

12.
13(a)
13(b)
13(c)
13 (d)
13 (e)

78
9,320
1,770
23,066
1,413
18,613
54,260

250
16,260
1,591
32,748
1,288
14,271
66,408

14.
14.

39
23
62
54,322
163,501

241
153
394
66,802
152,835

15.
15.

157,209
1,269

15.

1,537
160,015

147,422
970
(2,312)
310
146,390

(3,487)

(6,445)

6,894
5,162
(32)
12,024

8,957

8,538

2,746

Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
Sales
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants from subsidies and non-Government sources
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total revenue
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Gain on disposal of other assets
Total gains
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Resources received free of charge
Assets assumed/transferred
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Post acquisition reserve
Gains/losses recognised directly in equity
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD
			
Refer to the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

234
9,191
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2011
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

19
20
21

16,624
33,232
2,072
195
1,498
16,644
3,900

12,341
44,522
2,436
269
1,778
10,120
3,900

22(a)

807

861

74,972

76,228

2,070
45,159
638
8,857
226,669

1,933
166
38,627
669
3,280
218,275

Total Non-Current Assets

283,394

262,951

TOTAL ASSETS

358,366

339,179

Note
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Biological assets
Agricultural produce
Inventories
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets

16.29
17.,29
18

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Available for sale financial assets
Investment accounted for using equity method
Property plant and equipment

17.29
22
21
22(b)
23
24

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

26

13,063

11,770

Provisions

27

28,124

32,437

41,187

44,207

5,900

6,777

5,900

6,777

47,087

50,984

311,279

288,195

44,104
221,922

29,557
209,897

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions

27

Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed Equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY
Refer to the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

28

45,252

48,739

311,279

288,195
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Reserves

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)

Total equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

25,586

200,706

55,184

281,476

-

-

-

25,586

200,706

55,184

281,476

9,191

(6,445)

2,746

4,058

-

-

4,058

-

-

-

-

(86)

-

-

(86)

Contributed
Note
equity

Balance at 1 July 2009

28.

Changes in accounting policy or
correction of prior period errors
Restated balance at 1 July 2009
Total comprehensive income for the year

-

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Capital appropriations
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners (a)

3,972

-

-

3,972

Balance at 30 June 2010

Total

29,558

209,897

48,739

288,195

Balance at 1 July 2010

29,558

209,897

48,739

288,195

Total comprehensive income for the year

14,548

6,862

(3,487)

3,376

6,155

-

-

6,155

5,162

-

5,162

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Capital appropriations
Post acquisition reserves
8,393

-

-

8,393

Total

Distributions to owners

14,458

5,162

-

19,710

Balance at 30 June 2011

44,104

221,922

45,252

311,279

(a) The post acquisition reserve relates to the investment in InterGrain Pty. Ltd.
(b) Treasurer’s instruction 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to Government to be
accounted for as distributions to owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038.
This transfer represents a transfer of assets to the Department from the Agriculture Protection Board.
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2011
2011
$’000

2010
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Capital appropriations
Holding account drawdowns
Contribution from other agency
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government

149,789
6,155
3,900
5,013
1,537
166,394

139,021
3,973
3,107
310
146,411

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
GST payments on purchases
GST payments to taxation authority
Other payments
Grants and subsidies

(132,076)
(44,491)
(12,319)
0
(3,406)
(35,145)

(122,714)
(37,711)
(11,823)
(421)
(17,722)
(30,423)

Receipts
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

49,511
1,770
1,413
3,948
8,370
62
(162,363)

68,751
1,591
1,141
5,154
6,317
(137,860)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment in joint venture partnership
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

(256)
(10,645)
(10,901)

(2,968)
(3,998)
2,918
(4,048)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD

(6,870)
58,796
51,926

4,503
54,293
58,796

Note

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

29.

29.

898
1,591
1,413
788
8
4,761
9,460
54
34
88
0
9,548
51,211

569
1,770
(3,695)
653
(206)
8,090
7,181
5
7
12
0
7,193
56,613

43,296
349
204
0
43,849
(12,764)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service Appropriations
Resources received free of charge
Royalties For Regions
Assets Assumed/Transferred
Total Income from State Government

Surplus/deficit for the period

(1,715)

49,450
563
0
(515)
49,496

24,068
1,822
12,127
730
21,964
50
0
60,761

27,100
1,839
10,399
1,023
23,100
45
301
63,807

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Depreciation & amortisation expense
Communications
Supplies and services
Other expenses
Grants, subsidies & transfer payments
Cost of goods sold
Share of loss in joint venture entity using the equity method.
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grants and subsidies from non-Government sources
Interest revenue
Sales
Other revenue
Total revenue
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Other Gains
Total Gains
Total income other than income from
State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

2010
S’000

2011
S’000

Land
Management

2,748

48,035
388
204
0
48,627

34
6
39
0
20,866
45,879

5,885
0
4,327
332
288
9,993
20,826

44,163
3,070
13,813
1,391
3,882
90
334
66,745

S’000

2011

(6,129)

54,105
257
310
(1,131)
53,541

118
75
193
0
34,387
59,669

9,798
0
16,982
299
172
6,944
34,194

60,985
3,999
21,658
1,172
4,722
111
1,409
94,057

S’000

2010

Production
System Solutions

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service For the year ended 30 June 2011

2,247

29,684
240
721
0
30,645

(7)
5
(2)
0
12,586
28,398

1,255
0
799
267
220
10,048
12,588

24,517
1,868
8,844
818
4,731
0
207
40,985

S’000

2011

(1,447)

10,632
27
0
(119)
10,540

12
8
20
0
1,567
11,987

227
0
1,039
58
8
215
1,547

7,612
420
4,523
178
808
12
0
13,554

S’000

2010

Industry and
Regional Support

4,740

23,294
188
204
0
23,686

(5)
4
(2)
0
11,812
18,947

1,203
0
(207)
141
(76)
10,752
11,813

18,916
971
7,862
822
2,025
0
162
30,759

S’000

2011

734

23,535
97
0
(428)
23,204

45
28
73
0
16,131
22,470

5,140
0
8,556
78
60
2,224
16,058

24,509
1,512
10,383
842
1,312
42
0
38,599

S’000

2010

Market
Development

(456)

12,899
104
204
0
13,207

12
2
14
0
1,865
13,663

409
0
343
19
(149)
1,229
1,851

9,690
558
3,571
347
1,181
90
90
15,528

S’000

2,112

9,700
27
0
(119)
9,608

12
8
20
0
5,168
7,497

197
0
4,758
65
1
127
5,149

7,003
420
2,555
193
2,483
12
0
12,666

S’000

Community and
Environmental
Risk
2011
2010

(3,486)

157,209
1,269
1,537
0
160,015

39
23
62
0
54,322
163,501

9,320
1,770
1,566
1,413
78
40,113
54,260

124,386
8,305
44,491
4,402
34,919
226
1,094
217,823

S’000

2011

(6,446)

147,422
970
310
(2,312)
146,391

242
153
395
0
66,801
152,837

16,260
1,591
32,748
1,288
250
14,271
66,408

124,177
8,174
51,246
3,115
31,290
226
1,409
219,637

S’000

2010

TOTAL
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

For the year ended 30 June 2011

87,748

Net Assets

28,107

29,083

92,741 166,842

31,398

2010
$’000

14,387

1,803

12,585
24,945

3,316

21,629

58,684 109,752 170,980

11,362

1,510

9,852

70,046 124,140 195,925

41,939

$’000

2011

Production System
Solutions

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

12,968

1,625

11,343

100,716

Total liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Liabilities

Total assets

25,107
75,608

Current assets

Non- current assets

Assets

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

Land
Management

Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service For the year ended 30 June 2011

50,649

8,891

1,114

7,777

59,540

51,838

7,702

$’000

2011

11,582

2,622

348

2,274

14,204

9,678

4,526

$’000

2010

Industry and
Regional Support

40,129

6,977

874

6,103

47,107

40,679

6,428

$’000

2011

33,616

9,432

1,254

8,178

43,048

34,814

8,234

$’000

2010

Market
Development

22,999

3,863

484

3,379

26,863

22,526

4,337

$’000

2011

74,972

$’000

2011

76,228

$’000

2010

TOTAL

47,087

5,900

41,187

50,984

6,777

44,207

13,333 311,278 288,195

2,623

349

2,274

15,956 358,365 339,179

9,678 283,393 262,951

6,278

$’000

2010

Community and
Environmental Risk
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service

For the year ended 30 June 2011
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Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Income Estimates
For the year ending 30 June 2011

Note

2011
Estimate
$’000

2011
Actual
$’000

2011
Actual
$’000

2010
Actual
$’000

952

155,817

147,121

8,696

Variation
$’000

Note

Variation
$’000

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 48 - Net amount appropriated to deliver service

156,769

155,817

1,080

1,080

-

1,080

-

1,080

312

312

-

312

301

11

158,161

157,209

952

34.8

157,209

147,422

9,787

63,807

60,761

3,046

34.9

66,745

94,057

(27,312)

Amount authorised by Other Statutes
- Agricultural and Related Resources Protection Act 1976
- Salaries & Allowances Act 1975
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

DETAILS OF EXPENSES BY SERVICE
Land Management

34.1

98,211

63,807

34,404

Production System Solutions

34.2

109,686

66,745

42,941

Industry and Regional Support

34.3

15,053

40,985

(25,932)

34.10

40,985

13,554

27,431

Market Development

34.4

44,908

30,759

14,149

34.11

30,759

38,599

(7,841)

Community and Environmental Risk Management

34.5

13,769

15,528

(1,759)

34.12

15,528

12,666

2,862

281,627

217,823

217,823

219,638

(1,814)

34.6

115,010

54,322

66,801

(12,479)

Total Cost of Services
Less Total income
Net Cost of Services
Adjustments (i)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

63,804
60,688

34.13

166,617

163,501

50,747

163,501

152,836

10,665

(8,456)

(6,292)

(49,795)

(6,292)

(5,414)

(878)

158,161

157,209

952

157,209

147,422

9,787

22,558

10,869

11,689

10,869

7,073

3,796

(3,500)

(4,714)

1,214

19,058

6,155

12,903

CAPITAL
Item 143 - Capital Contribution
Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Adjustment for other funding sources
Capital Contribution (appropriation)

34.7

(4,714)

(3,015)

(1,699)

34.14

6,155

4,058

2,097

-

400

(400)

34.15

28,129

25,121

3,008

ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS
Item 39 - Amount provided for Administered Grants,
Subsidies and Transfer Payments
Administered capital appropriations

-

-

0

27,296

28,129

(833)

Less Income disclosed as Administered Income
(Refer note 45)

24,913

27,355

(2,442)

27,355

26,188

1,167

Adjustments (i)

(2,383)

(774)

(1,609)

(774)

1,067

(1,841)

-

-

-

-

400

(400)

177,219

163,364

13,855

163,364

151,880

11,484

Administered grants and transfer payments
DETAIL OF INCOME ESTIMATES

Total appropriations provided for Administered Grants,
Subsidies and Transfer Payments
GRAND TOTAL OF APPROPRIATIONS

(i) Adjustments are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.
(ii) The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variances to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
This Summary provides the basis for the Explanatory Statement Information requirements of Treasurer’s Instruction, TI 945, set out in note 36.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ending 30 June 2011

1.

Australian Accounting Standards
General
The department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).
The department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their
operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted
by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. No Australian
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended [but not operative] have been early adopted by
the department for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2011.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)

General statement
The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and
wording.
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are legislative provisions governing the
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

(b)

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars ($000).
Note 4 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that
have been made in the process of applying the department’s accounting policies resulting in the most
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Note 5 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

(c)

Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the department and bodies listed at note 37 ‘Related bodies’.
Mission
The department’s mission is to work with our partners to develop the WA agriculture and food sector; and
to effectively manage risks to the natural and biological resources on which it relies.
The department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. It provides some services
on a fee-for-service basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing market forces. The financial
statements encompass all funds through which the department controls resources to carry on its
functions.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ending 30 June 2011
Services
The department provides the following services:
Service 1: Land Management
Service 2: Production System Solutions
Service 3: Industry and Regional Support
Service 4: Market Development
Service 5: Community and Environmental Risk Management
The department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which
are not controlled by, nor integral to, the function of the department. These administered balances and
transactions are not recognised in the principal financial statements of the department but schedules are
prepared using the same basis as the financial statements and are presented at note 44(i) ‘Disclosure of
administered expenses and income by service’ and Note 44(ii) ‘Disclosure of administered assets and
liabilities by service’.
(d)

Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of
administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners
(at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non discretionary and
non reciprocal. See note 28 ‘Equity’.

(e)

Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of
the transaction.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the department
gains control of the appropriated funds. The department gains control of appropriated funds at the time
those funds are deposited to the department’s bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. See note 15 ‘Income from State Government’ for further
information.
Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services
under the control of the department. In accordance with the determination specified in the 2010-11
Budget Statements, the department retained $81.0 million in 2011 ($81.5 m in 2010) from the following:
•
•
•

proceeds from fees and charges;
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions;
one-off revenues with a sale of less than $10,000 derived from the sale of property other than real
property;
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For the year ending 30 June 2011
•
•

revenues from services provided though the establishment of Memorandum of Understandings; and
other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the department obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions, usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if not donated.
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the department
obtains control over the funds. The department obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are
deposited into the department’s bank account.
Gains
Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
(f)

Property, Plant and Equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as
assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property,
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which
are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. For items of
property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the
fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the department uses the revaluation model for the
measurement of land and buildings, and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land
and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated
impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis
of current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings
are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair
value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future
economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised with annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period. Land under infrastructure is
included in land reported under note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and is reported based on Fair
Value as per Treasury accounting reporting. Independent valuations are obtained annually.
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets
and existing use assets. Refer to note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on
revaluations
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Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any
revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of noncurrent assets as described in note 24 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings 20-40 years
Computer & Communications equipment
Furniture, fixtures & fittings
Office equipment
Plant & machinery
Vehicles & buses
Infrastructure
Other equipment

3-5 years
10 years
5-10 years
5-20 years
5-9 years
40 years
10 years

Works of art controlled by the department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are
anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been
consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised. Land is
not depreciated.
(g)

Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets
costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their
useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired
at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit
(estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled
by the department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Licences
Development Costs
Software (a)
Website costs

up to 10 years
3-5 years
3-5 years
3-5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.
Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried
forward when the future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project
costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Department of Agriculture and Food ANNUAL REPORT 2011

99
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Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment.
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.
Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or
development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they
represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.
(h)

Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the department is a
not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any
impairment risk from falling replacement costs
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of
impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to
market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost,
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost
are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. See note 25 ‘Impairment of
assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing. Refer also to note 2(p) ‘Receivables’ and note
20 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

(i)

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount or
fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial
Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
All Crown land holdings are vested in the department by the Government. The Department of Regional
Development and Land (DRDL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown land. The department
transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to DRDL when the land becomes available for sale.

(j)

Leases
The department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for motor vehicles, buildings
and office equipment where the lessors effectively retain all risks and benefits incidental to ownership of
the items held under the operating leases. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the
lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(k)

Financial instruments
In addition to cash the department has two categories of financial instrument:
•
•
•

Loans and receivables
Available for sale financial assets, and
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
•

•

Financial assets
-- Cash and cash equivalents
-- Restricted cash and cash equivalents
-- Receivables
-- Amounts receivable for services
-- Available for sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
-- Payables
-- Borrowings
-- Finance lease liabilities
-- Amounts due to the Treasurer

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to
the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of
discounting is not material.
(l)

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to insignificant risk
of changes in value.

(m)

Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the
pay date for the last pay period for the financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year.
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The department considers the
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value. See note 26 ‘Payables’.
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists
of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet
the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No
interest is received on this account.

(n)

Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly
as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence
of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. Refer to note 15
‘Income from State Government’ and note 21 ’Amounts receivable for services’.

(o)

Inventories and biological assets
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method
most appropriate for each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a first in first
out basis. Biological assets comprising of livestock and field crops are valued at fair value less estimated
point of sale costs and costs necessary to get them to market. A gain or loss on valuation is recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. See note 18 ‘Biological assets’. Inventories not held for resale
are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net realisable value.
See note 19 ‘Inventories’.

(p)

Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any
receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the allowance account. The allowance for
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the department will
not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement
within 30 days. Refer also to note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.
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(q)

Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the department becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value,
as they are generally settled within 30 days. See note 2(k) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 26 ‘Payables’.

(r)

Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the net proceeds received.
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Refer to note 2(k)
‘Financial Instruments’.

(s)

Amounts due to the Treasurer
The amount due to the Treasurer is in respect of a Treasurer’s Advance. Initial recognition and
measurement, and subsequent measurement, is at the amount repayable. Although there is no interest
charged, the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 12
months with the effect of discounting not being material.

(t)

Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Refer to note 27 ‘Provisions’.
Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of
the reporting period.
Annual leave
The liability for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
Annual leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the department does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Long service leave
A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service based
on remuneration rates current at the end of the reporting period.
An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Actuaries in 2011
determined that the liability measured using the short-hand measurement technique above was not
materially different from the liability determined using the present value of expected future payments. This
calculation is consistent with the department’s experience of employee retention and leave taken.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the department does
not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because
the department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has
completed the requisite years of service.
Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater
than the entitlement that will accrue in the future.
Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement
accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated
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entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised.
As sick leave is non vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for this
leave as it is taken.
Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement
to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises
the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the
same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a non-current provision until the fifth year.
Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an
agreement to self-fund up to an additional ten weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises
the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum
scheme closed to new members since 1995.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions
(defined contributions) made by the department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the
related superannuation liability.
The department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from
the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the department to the GESB.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme
(WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB
Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The department makes
concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the
liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from
the Treasurer for the employer’s share. Refer to note 2(u) ‘Superannuation expense’.
Provisions - other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and
are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of
the department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs
provision’. Refer note 10 ‘Other Expenses’ and note 27 ‘Provisions’.
(u)

Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, and the GESBS.
The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated
Account by the GESB.

(v)

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised
as income at fair value. Where the resource received represents a service that the department would
otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the
Statement of Financial Position.
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Assets or service received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(w)

Jointly controlled operations
The department has interests in joint ventures that are jointly controlled operations.
Interests in joint venture operations are reported in the financial statements including the share of assets
employed in the joint ventures, the share of liabilities incurred in relation to the joint ventures and the share
of any expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures in their respective classification categories. The
department’s interest in assets is disclosed in Note 39 ‘Jointly controlled operations’.
Joint venture entities
The interest in a joint venture partnership is accounted for in the department’s financial statements
using the equity method. Under the equity method, the share of the profit or losses of the partnership
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and the share of movements in reserves is
recognised in reserves in the Statement of Financial Position.
Details relating to the partnership are set out in note 23 ‘Investment accounted for using equity method’.

(x)

Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in
the current financial year.

(y)

Memorandum of Understanding
During the year the department had a memorandum of understanding with the Agricultural Produce
Commission, the Rural Business Development Corporation and the Agriculture Protection Board (until
its abolition on 18 December 2010). The objective of these arrangements is to establish the types and
standards of services to be provided, the basis for determining the level and the costs of services and
responsibilities of the parties to the memorandum.

3.

Other accounting policies
Goods and Services Tax
In accordance with the grouping provisions the right to receive GST and the obligation to pay GST rests with
the department in regard to all GST transactions incurred by members of the group. As a result separate GST
transactions are not recognised within the individual members’ financial statements as they are all brought to
account in the department’s financial statements. With effect from 2 May 2011, the Office of Shared Services
assumed responsibility for the preparation of the monthly GST returns for all members of the group, resulting in
GST being reported by each reporting entity.
Available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are recognised at fair value and are presented separately from other assets in the
Statement of Financial Position. Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate
component of equity until the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If
the market for a financial asset is not active (e.g. unlisted securities), the Authority establishes fair value using
valuation techniques

4.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
department evaluates these judgements regularly.
No significant judgements have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have a material
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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5.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the department’s long service leave provision include
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in
these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

6.

Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010 that impacted on the department:
AASB 2009-5

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 118,136 & 139]
Under amendments to AASB 117, the classification of land elements of all existing leases has
been reassessed to determine whether they are in the nature of operating or finance leases.
As leases of land & buildings recognised in the financial statements have not been found to
be significantly expose the department to the risks/rewards attributable to control of land, no
changes to accounting estimates have been included in the Financial Statements and Notes to
the Financial Statements.
Under amendments to AASB 107, only expenditures that result in a recognised asset are eligible
for classification as investing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. All investing cashflows
reported in the department’s Statement of Cash Flows relate to increases in recognised assets.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the department has
not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the
department. Where applicable, the department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their
application date.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013:
AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7,
101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations
10 & 12].
The amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure of categories of financial
assets. The Authority does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied.
The disclosure of categories of financial assets in the notes will change.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2011:
AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137,
139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]
This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes. There is no financial impact
resulting from the application of this revised Standard.
Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2013:
AASB 1053

Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of
reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements.
The Standard does not have any financial impact on the department. However, it may affect
disclosures in the financial statements of the department if the reduced disclosure requirements
apply. DTF has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the new Standard
for agencies.
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AASB 2010-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements
This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting Standards, including
Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure requirements into these pronouncements for
application by certain types of entities.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the department. However this
Standard may reduce some note disclosures in financial statements of the department. DTF
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the amendments to these
Standards for agencies

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2011
AASB 20112

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & AASB 1054]
This Amending Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and
incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New
Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. DTF has not yet determined
the application or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2011:
AASB 2010-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119,
121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 &
1042] (October 2010)
This Standard introduces a number of terminology changes as well as minor presentation
changes to the Notes to the Financial Statements. There is no financial impact resulting from
the application of this revised Standard.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2011:
AASB 2010-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7]
This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, introducing additional
presentation and disclosure requirements for Financial Assets.
The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the department. DTF has not yet
determined the application or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for
agencies.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 January 2013:
AASB 9

Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The Standard was reissued on 6 Dec 2010 and the department is currently determining the
impact of the Standard. DTF has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard for agencies.

AASB 2010-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139,
1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Amending Standard makes consequential adjustments to other Standards as a result of
issuing AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2010. DTF has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact of the Standard for agencies.

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 1 July 2011:
AASB 1054

Australian Additional Disclosures
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 20111 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, removes disclosure
requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards.
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AASB 2011-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the TransTasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Interpretations 2, 112 &
113]
This Amending Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures,
removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single
Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards.

7.

Employee benefits expense
2011

2010

$000

$000

Wages and salaries (a)

 	

88,012

101,762

Superannuation – defined contribution plans (b)

 	

11,214

10,540

Long service leave

 	

3,533

3,849

Annual leave

 	

1,761

3,254

Other related expenses (c)

 	

19,866

4,773

 	

124,386

124,177

 	
(a)

Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component, leave
entitlements, including superannuation contribution component.

(b)

Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid).

(c)

Includes Temporary Voluntary Severance Offers

Employment on-costs such as workers compensation insurance are included at note 8 ‘Supplies and Services’.
The employment on-costs liability is included at note 27 ‘Provisions’.

8.

Supplies and services
2011

2010

$000

$000

10,382

8,794

4,623

4,740

1,712

1,963

11,088

14,345

6,293

7,418

General administration costs (b)

 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	

10,393

13,987

44,491

51,246

Professional services (a)
Travel
Communications
Consumables
Lease, rent and hire costs

 	

 	

(a)

Includes audit fee; see also note 36 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.

(b)

Includes workers compensation insurance.
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9.

10.

Depreciation and amortisation expense
2011

2010

$000

$000

Depreciation

 	

 	

Buildings

 	

4,173

4,310

Computer and communications equipment

 	

678

725

Furniture fixtures and fittings

 	

3

3

Office equipment

 	

117

0

Plant and machinery

 	

2,438

2,396

Infrastructure

 	

131

0

Vehicles

 	

730

740

Other equipment

 	

36

-

Total depreciation

 	

8,305

8,174

Amortisation

 	

 	 

Intangible assets

 	

–

Total amortisation

 	

–

–

Total depreciation and amortisation

 	

8,305

8,174

2011

2010

$000

$000

190

(4)

34

–

–

Other expenses

			

 	
Loss on foreign exchange
 	
Minor assets written off
 	
Provision for impairment expense (a)
 	
Miscellaneous other
 	
 	 
Doubtful debts expense

11.

457

29

(161)

(1,327)

4,043

4,417

4,563

3,115

2011

2010

$000

$000

Grants and subsidies

Recurrent	 	 	 
Research grant allocations	 	

34,311

30,819

Donations and sponsorships

 	

608

471

 	

 	

34,919

31,290
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12.

Trading profit

Sales 		
Cost of sales
Opening inventory
Add purchases

2011

2010

$000

$000

78

250

 	 	 
 	
(353)
(425)
 	
(44)
(153)

 	 		
Less closing inventory (a)
 	
Cost of goods sold
 	
Trading profit
 	

(397)

(578)

171

353

(226)

(226)

(148)

24

During 2006–07 the Agriculture Protection Board transferred the majority of its assets to the department in
preparation for changes under the Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Bill. On 1 July 2007 the department
took effective control of the Agriculture Protection Board’s bait production unit. Closure of the unit is in progress.
(a) See also note 19 ‘Inventories’

13.

Revenue
2011
$000

2010
$000

Revenue

 	

–

–

(a)

User charges and fees

 	

3,621

9,796

Memorandum of understanding – services provided

 	 	 

– Agriculture Protection Board

 	

5,310

− Agricultural Produce Commission

 	

59

74

− Rural Business Development Corporation

 	

330

400

 	

 		

9,320

16,260

(b)

Commonwealth grants and contributions

 	

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants

 	

1,770

1,591

 	

 		

1,770

1,591

(c)

Grants and subsidies from non-government sources

 	

 	 

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1

 	

 	 

Rural industry research funds

 	

 	 

Meat Livestock Australia

 	

256

251

Dairy Research and Development Corporation

 	

–

301

Grains Research and Development Corporation

 	

9,668

7,896

Grape and Wine Research Corporation

 	

–

117

Rural Industry Research and Development Corporation

 	

210

278

Australian Wool Innovation Pty Ltd

 	

325

605

Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research

 	

1,780

2,110

Australian Pork Limited

 	

–

62

Land Conservation District Fund

 	

–

129

Plant Health Australia

 	

–

104

Centre for Legumes in Mediterranean Agriculture

 	

–

105

CRC Research Grants

 	

2,450

4,076

Commercial Grants

 	

7,269

14,004

NRM 3rd Party Funding Grants

 	

–

1,142

5,990
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13.

Revenue (continued)
2011
$000
Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2

(d)

 	 	 

Horticulture Industry		

1,073

411

Plant research and development		

-

20

Other grants and subsidies		

35

1,138

Total grants and subsidies from non-government sources		

23,066

32,748

Interest revenue

 	 

Interest received		
 	
(e)

1,413

1,288

 	 
Other revenue

 	 

Levies, rates and licences		

2,855

(87)

Return of grant allocations		

3,137

10,597

Royalties		

1,445

2,008

Other

14.

2010
$000

 	

32,676

1,753

 	 

40,113

14,271

2011
$000

2010
$000

Net gain/loss on disposal of non-current asset

Cost of disposal of non-current assets

 	 	 

Land

 	

Buildings

 	

15

3

Vehicles and transportation equipment

 	

50

85

IT equipment

 	

2

24

Plant and equipment

 	

146

263

 	 	

213

381

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

0 	

6

 	 	 

Vehicles and transportation equipment

 	

176

274

IT equipment

 	 1

Plant and equipment

 	

75

343

 	 

4

252

621

Net gain/(loss)

 	

39

241

Gain on disposal of other assets

 	

23

153
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15.

Income from State Government
2011
$000

2010
$000

Appropriation revenue received during the year:

 	 	 

Service appropriations

 	

157,209

147,422

 	

157,209

147,422

(a)

 	
Resources received free of charge

(b)

 	 	 

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies: 		

 	 

Landgate

 	

756

444

State Solicitors Office

 	

229

252

Department of Treasury and Finance

 	

283

272

Department of Water

 	

1

2

 	

 	

1,269

970

Royalties for Regions Fund

 	 	 

Regional Community Services Fund

 	 	 

– Wild dogs management plan (c)

 	

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account

 	 	 

– Regional men’s health (c)

 	

517

310

 	 

1,537

310

1,020

–

Asset transfers (d)

 	 	 

Land

 	

–

(1,840)

Buildings

 	

–

(446)

Plant & Equipment

 	

–

(11)

Motor Vehicles

 	

–

(14)

Total assets assumed/(transferred)

 	

–

–2,312

Total income from State Government

 	

160,015

146,391

(a)

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue
comprises
a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b)

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value
of the assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if
they were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are
recognised direct to equity.

(c)

This is a sub-fund within the over-arching Royalties for Regions Fund. The recurrent funds are committed
to projects and programs in Western Australian regional areas.

(d)

Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government agencies are reported as assets assumed/
(transferred) under Income from State Government. Non-discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of net
assets (i.e. restructuring of administrative arrangements) designated as Contributions by Owners (CBOs)
under TI 955 are recognised directly to equity.

Avondale Research Station was transferred to the National Trust of Australia (WA) as a result of a discretionary
non-reciprocal agreement between the department and the National Trust of Australia (WA).

Department of Agriculture and Food ANNUAL REPORT 2011

111

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ending 30 June 2011

16.

Cash and cash equivalents
2011
$000

17.

2010
$000

Cash advances

 	

62

42

Cash at bank

 	

16,607

12,299

 	

 	

16,669

12,341

2011
$000

2010
$000

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current

 	 	 

Restricted cash (a)

 	 	 

Departmental Receipts in Suspense

 	

Land Conservation Districts Fund

 	

12

43

Royalties for Regions Fund

 	

(424)

130

 	

 	

(412)

229

Special purpose accounts (b)

 	 	 

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1

 	

4,646

8,478

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2

 	

2,970

2,731

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (non-interest bearing)

 	

2,341

2,510

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (interest bearing)

 	

9,118

18,539

Declared Pest Account

 	

608

–

Plant Research and Development

 	

5,043

5,661

Cattle Industry Funded Scheme

 	

6,175

6,374

Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme

 	

2,433

–

Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme

 	

311

–

 	

 	

33,645

44,294

Total current

 	

33,232

44,522

Non-current

 	 	 

Accrued salaries suspense account (c)

 	

Total non-current

 	

2,070

1,933

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

 	

35,303

46,455

(a)

–

2,070

56

1,933

Funds held in the following accounts are for the following purposes:
• Department Receipts in Suspense—to hold and distribute funds pending identification for allocation
• Land Conservation Districts Fund—to promote soil conservation through research and implementation
of soil and conservation measures and practices
• Royalties for Regions Fund—to hold and distribute funds for projects and programs in regional areas.

(b)

Receipts and disbursements are disclosed in note 43 in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 1103(15).

(c)

Amounts held in the suspense account are to only be used to meet the 27th pay in a financial year that
occurs every 11 years. The department receives no interest on this account.
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18.

Biological assets

Livestock
Field crops

 	

19.

 	
 	
 	

2011
$000

2010
$000

1,929

1,973

143

464

2,072

2,436

2011
$000

2010
$000

Inventories

 	 	 
 	
1,380
1,474
Finished goods
 	
118
304
 	 
1,498
1,778
Inventories held for resale

Raw materials and stores

20.

Receivables
2011
$000

2010
$000

 	
12,214
7,514
Trade receivables – non-current
 	
–
166
Less: Allowances for impairment of receivables (a)
 	
(333)
(239)
Interest receivable
 	
326
378
Accrued revenue
 	
2,859
1,429
GST receivable
 	
1,578
1,038
Other receivables
 	
–
–
Less: Allowance for impairment of other receivables (a)
 	
–
–
Total receivables
 	
16,644
10,286
 	 	 	 
Reconciliation of changes in the allowances for impairment of receivables 			
Balance at start of year
 	
239
310
Doubtful debt expense recognised in the statement of
 	
29
(4)
comprehensive income
 	 	 
Amounts written off during the year
 	
(96)
(67)
Amounts recovered during the year
 	
–
–
Balance at end of year
 	
172
239
Trade receivables – current

The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
See also note 2 (p) ‘Receivables’ and note 40 ‘Financial Instruments’.
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21.

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2011
$000

2010
$000

 	
 	

3,900

3,900

Non-current

45,159

38,627

 	

 	

49,059

42,527

42,527

38,574

3,012

–

7,420

7,060

–3,900

–3,107

49,059

42,527

Current

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted
in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
See note 2 (n) ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.
The reconciliation at the beginning and end of the current year and previous
year is set out below.
Opening balance of Holding Account
Amount transferred from Agriculture Protection Board (a)
Non-cash appropriation
Departmental drawdown
Closing balance of Holding Account
(a)

22.

 	
 	
 	
 	
 	

In 2006–07 the Agriculture Protection Board (APB) transferred its non-industry funded property, plant and
equipment to the department. The APB believed that the ‘amounts receivable for services’ should also
have been transferred. However, it acknowledged the Department of Treasury and Finance position that
these non-current assets must be retained until the repeal of the Agriculture Protection Board Act 1950.
The appropriate legislation was passed on 18 December 2010, and the ‘amounts receivable for services’
were transferred.

Other assets
2011
$000
(a)

2010
$000

Other current assets

 	 	 

Prepayments

		

Lease rentals

 	

679

690

Goods and services

 	

–

24

Registrations

 	

128

147

 	

 		

807

861

(b)

Other non-current assets

 	 	 

Available for sale financial assets as at 30 June 2011

 	 	 

Listed shares

 	

341

321

Unlisted shares

 	

297

349

 	

638

669
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23.

Investment accounted for using equity method
2011
$000

Post acquisition reserve

 	
 	
 	
 	

 	

 	

Investment in joint venture entity at initial cost of investment
Share of loss using the equity method
Provision for impairment

2010
$000

7,459

6,053

(3,764)

(2,612)

-

(161)

5,162

-

8,857

3,280

The Western Australian Agriculture Authority (WAAA), a body corporate established under the Biosecurity and
Agriculture Management Act 2007, is a joint investor in InterGrain Pty Ltd which was incorporated on 26 October
2007 and is resident in Australia. The joint venture principal activity is to commercialise the research from wheat
and barley breeding.
As at 30 June 2011 WAAA holds a 52.68% (2010: 64.46%) equity interest in InterGrain Pty Ltd. The Department
regards the investment in InterGrain Pty Ltd as a joint venture entity, due to the contractually agreed sharing of
control over an economic activity and the financial and operating decisions relating to the activity requiring the
unanimous consent of the shareholders.
The department has no obligations with respect to losses incurred by InterGrain Pty Ltd.
Summary financials from the management accounts for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the
percentage ownership by the department:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets

 	
Current liabilities
Total liabilities

 	
Net assets

 	
Revenue
Expenses
(Loss)

24.

 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	
 	

16,926

9,148

3,700

632

20,626

9,780

 	 
3,812

4,694

3,812

4,694

 	 
16,814

5,086

 	 
9,376

8,375

(11,452)

(10,560)

(2,076)

(2,185)

2011
$000

2010
$000

Property, plant and equipment

Land

 	 	 

At fair value (a)

 	

120,403

116,378

		120,403

116,378

Buildings

 	 	 

At fair value (a)

 	

81,127

83,538

		81,127

83,538

Computer and communications equipment

 	 	 

At cost

 	

4,373

5,422

Accumulated depreciation

 	

(3,130)

(3,820)

 	 

1,243

1,602
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24.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
2011
$000

2010
$000

Furniture fixtures and fittings
 	 	 
At cost
 	
91
93
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(82)
(73)
 	 
10
20
Office equipment
 	 	 
At cost
 	
1,117
0
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(768)
–
 	 
349
0
Plant and machinery
 	 	 
At cost
 	
30,016
30,547
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(21,485)
(20,254)
 	 
8,532
10,293
Vehicles and buses
	 	 
At cost
 	
10,821
10,980
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(8,276)
(8,020)
 	 
2,544
2,960
Infrastructure
 	 	 
At cost
 	
1,069
0
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(214)
–
 	 
855
0
Other equipment
 	 	 
At cost
 	
376
0
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(113)
0
 	 
264
0
Capital works in progress
 	 	 
Buildings
 	
5,095
3,434
Other
 	
6,246
50
 	 
11,342
3,484
Total non-current assets
 	
226,668
218,275
			

At fair value
 	
		

201,530
201,530

199,916
199,916

			

At cost
 	
59,206
50,525
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(34,234)
(32,167)
Total at cost
 	
25,139
18,358
Total non-current assets
 	
226,668
218,275
			
At cost and fair value
 	
260,735
250,441
Accumulated depreciation
 	
(34,067)
(32,167)
Total non-current assets

 	

226,668

218,275

			

(a)

Land and buildings (including barrier fence) were revalued as at 1 July 2010 by Landgate.
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2011 and recognised at 30 June 2011. In
undertaking the valuation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land $6,388,450
and buildings $4,595,900. For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on
the basis of depreciated replacement cost.
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the
reporting period are set out in the table below:

Carrying amount at
end of year

Write-offs of assets

Depreciation

(Decrements) (b)

Revaluation increments/

Adjustments

Transfers between
classes

5,700

(246)

1,546

116,378

–

11,882

2

(1,846)

106,340

120,403

Disposals (b)

4,400

–

–

4,020

–

–

5

116,378

$000

Additions (a)

Carrying amount at
start of year

2010

Carrying amount at
end of year

Write-offs of assets

(281)

–

Revaluation increments/
(Decrements) (b)

Depreciation

–

Adjustments

(5,599)

–

Disposals (b)

Transfers between
classes

180

5,700

Additions (a)

$000

Carrying amount at
start of year

Land

77,838

(27)

(4,064)

(4,471)

1

(448)

3,616

83,231

81,127

(434)

(3,892)

2,874

(389)

5,073

(15)

72

77,838

$000

Buildings

1,602

(725)

12

(13)

846

1,482

1,243

(3)

(678)

–

–

17

(2)

307

1,602

$000

IT equip.

–

20

(3)

23

10

–

(3)

–

–

(7)

20

$000

Furniture
and
fittings

–

–

349

(117)

–

–

461

5

–

$000

Office
equip.

10,294

(1)

(2,396)

56

(270)

1,442

11,463

8,532

(20)

(2,438)

–

411

(1,161)

(146)

1,592

10,294

$000

Plant and
machinery

2,960

(740)

(99)

442

3,358

2,544

–

(730)

–

–

(52)

(50)

416

2,960

$000

Vehicles
and buses

–

–

855

–

(131)

–

10

986

–

(10)

–

$000

Infrastructure

–

–

–

264

–

(36)

–

–

282

–

18

–

$000

Other
equip.

3,484

(2,880)

725

5,639

11,342

–

–

(58)

–

7,916

3,484

$000

Capital
works in
progress

218,276

(28)

(8,174)

8,957

69

(2,880)

(2,676)

7,073

215,936

226,669

(457)

(8,306)

6,894

(26)

–

(213)

10,501

218,275

$000

Total

24.

2011

Barrier
fence
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24.

25.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(a)

The Department of Regional Development and Lands (DRDL) is the only agency with the power to sell
Crown land. The land is transferred to DRDL for sale and the department accounts for the transfer as a
distribution to owner (DTO).

(b)

Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down
to recoverable amount, the loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrement in the statement of changes
in equity.

Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure or intangible assets as at
30 June 2011.
The department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At
the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2011 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

26.

Payables
2011
$000

2010
$000

Trade payables (a)

 	

2,199

3,080

Accrued expenses

 	

5,983

4,185

Accrued salaries (a)

 	

2,545

1,687

Other payables

 	

2,336

2,817

Total current

 	

13,063

11,770

2,545

1,687

See also note 2 (q) ‘Payables’ and note 40 ‘Financial instruments’
(a)

As a result of the transition to the Office of Shared Services, many of the
trade payables have been recognised as accrued expenses.

(b)

The accrued salaries provision is represented by:
The amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year as the
end of the last pay period does not coincide with the end of the financial
year.
Amount owing for the 5 working days to 30 June 2011.
(2010 – 30 June, 4 working days) 		

The carrying amount of accrued salaries approximates the net fair value. 	 	 
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27.

Provisions
2011
$000

2010
$000

Current

 	 	 

Employee benefits provision

 	 	 

Annual leave (a)

 	

9,918

11,120

Long service leave (b)		

13,355

15,716

Deferred salary schemes

 	

78

223

 	 	

23,352

27,059

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)

 	 	 
 	

4,772

5,379

Total current provisions

 	

28,124

32,437

Non-current

 	 	 

Employee benefits provision

 	 	 

Long service leave (b)

 	

5,203

6,138

Deferred salary scheme	 	

51

44

 	 

5,254

6,183

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)

 	 	 
 	

646

594

Total non-current provisions

 	

5,900

6,777

Total provisions

 	

34,024

39,214

(a)

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the
liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

 	

5,820

More than 12 months after the reporting period

 	

4,098

5,266

 	

9,918

11,120

 	
(b)

Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement
of the liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period		
More than 12 months after the reporting period

 	
(c)

5,853

4,778

8,976

 	

13,780

12,879

 	

18,558

21,855

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment oncosts including worker’s compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future
payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed
in note 8 ‘Supplies and services’.

Movement in other provisions

 	 	 

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.
Employment on-cost provision

 	 	 

Carrying amount at start of year

 	

5,973

6,050

Additional provisions recognised

 	

(554)

(70)

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits

 	

–

(7)

Carrying amount at end of year

 	

5,419

5,973
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28.

Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the
residual interest in the net assets of the department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of
equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
Contributed equity

	 
2011
2010
$000
$000
Balance at the start of period
 	
29,557
25,586
Contributions by owners
 	
 	 
Capital appropriations (a)
 	
6,155
4,058
Post acquisition reserves (b)
 	
8,393
 	
14,548
4,058
Distributions to owners
		
Transfer of assets to Agricultural Produce Commission
 	
–
(86)
Balance at end of Period	 	
44,104
29,557
(a)

Capital contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets
from other state government agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in Treasurer’s
Instruction TI955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and are
credited directly to equity.

(b)

Treasurer’s Instruction 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to government to be accounted
for as distribution to owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038. This transfer represents a
transfer of assets from the department to the Agricultural Produce Commission.

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current
assets, as described in accounting policy note 3(f) ‘Property, plant and equipment’.
Balance at start of period
 	 	 
Available for sale financial assets
 	
280
46
Non-current assets
 	
209,617
200,660
 	 
209,897
200,706
Net revaluation increments / (decrements)
 	 	 
Available for sale financial assets
 	
(32)
234
Non-current assets
 	 	 
Land
 	
4,020
11,882
Buildings
 	
2,874
(4,471)
Barrier fence
 	
–
1,546
 	 
6,894
8,957
Total net revaluation increments /(decrements)
 	
6,862
9,191
Balance at end of period
 	 	 
Available for sale financial assets
 	
248
280
Non-current assets
 	
216,511
209,617
 	
216,759
209,897
Post-acquisition reserve			
Balance at start of period		
Post-acquisition reserve for the year		
5,162
Balance at end of period		
5,162
(a) The post-acquisition reserve relates to the investment in InterGrain Pty Ltd
Accumulated surplus / (deficit) (Retained earnings)
 	 	 
Balance at start of year
 	
48,739
55,184
Result for the period
 	
(3,486)
(6,445)
Balance at end of year
 	
45,253
48,739
Total equity at end of year

 	

311,279

288,195
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29.

Notes to the statement of cash flows
(a)

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related
items in the statement of financial position as follows:
2010
$000

Cash and cash equivalents (note 16)

 	

16,669

12,341

Restricted cash and cash equivalents: current (note 17)

 	

33,188

44,522

Restricted cash and cash equivalents: non-current (note 17)  	

2,070

1,933

 	

51,927

58,796

(163,501)

(152,836)

 	
(b)

2011
$000

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows
provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services

 	

 	 

 	 

Non-cash items

 	 	 

Net (loss)/profit sale of assets

 	

39

241

Depreciation and amortisation expense

 	

8,305

8,174

Doubtful debt expense

 	

190

–

Resources received free of charge

 	

1,269

971

Share of net loss in joint venture using equity method

 	

1,094

1,409

Provision for impairment

 	

–

(1,327)

 	 	 	 
(Increase)/decrease in assets

 	 	 

Biological assets

 	

Agricultural produce

 	

73

31

Inventories

 	

280

169

Receivables (a)

 	

(12,858)

4,576

Other current assets

 	

55

139

365

(57)

 	 	 	 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

 	 	 

Payables (a)

 	

1,293

2,938

Provisions

 	

(5,190)

(1,517)

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)

 	

393

(421)

Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)

 	

(540)

(348)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

 	

(168,734)

(137,860)

(a)

Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/
payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do
not form part of the reconciling items.

(b)

This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 0

(c)

This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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30.

Resources provided free of charge
During the year the following resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the
normal operations of the department.
2011
$000

2010
$000

Agriculture Protection Board (a)

 	

5,274

11,447

Agricultural Produce Commission

 	

8

9

Other

 	

 	

 	

–
5,282

11,456

2011
$000

2010
$000

 	

824

363

 	 

824

363

(a) The Agriculture Protection Board Act 1950 was repealed on 18 December
2010, abolishing the Agriculture Protection Board.

31.

Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the
financial statements are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

 	

2,617

3,007

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

 	

3,092

3,580

Later than 5 years

 	

139

244

 	 

5,848

6,831

5,848

6,831

Representing:
Non-cancellable operating lease

 	

The property leases are non-cancellable leases with five-year terms, with rents payable monthly in advance.
Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreements require that the minimum lease payments shall be
increased by the lower of CPI or 4 per cent per annum. An option exists to renew the leases at the end of their
five-year terms for an additional term of five years.
A contractual arrangement exists between State Fleet and Agencies for the lease of vehicles based on both
a vehicle kilometre specification and vehicle lease terms. Lease payments are made on a monthly basis. The
department is responsible for registration, insurance and servicing of leased vehicles in line with manufacturer’s
recommendations, as well as the cost of refurbishment on return.
State Fleet carries the residual risk on the sale of the vehicle.
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32.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent Liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements:
Litigation in progress
(a)

Employment contract claim
A claim against the department for entitlements arising from employment conditions was lodged with
the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission (WAIRC) by two employees on behalf of a larger
group totalling 83 current and past employees.
This industrial matter has had proceedings before the Industrial Magistrates Court and the Full Bench of
the WAIRC, and is now on appeal to the Industrial Appeal Court (IAC). Subject to a ruling from the IAC, a
contingent liability in the range of $0.65 million to $1.30 million is acknowledged by the department.

(b)

Pending litigation
The department has various pending litigation claims that may affect the financial position to the value
of $1.5 million pertaining to alleged quarantine destruction orders and alleged incorrect advice given to
eradicate plant pests. These are currently with the State Solicitor’s Office.

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the department is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where the
sites are classified as contaminated, investigation and remediation may be required. The department may have a
liability in respect of investigation and/or remediation expenses.
During the year the department reported nil suspected contaminated sites to DEC. (2009: one suspected site).
Other
DEC is reviewing the department’s alleged liability for remediation of chemical spillage at local government airstrips. The department may have a liability in respect of remediation expenses.

33.

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There were no events that occurred after the end of the reporting period that would materially affect the financial
statements or disclosures.
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34.

Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial
statement titled ‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below.
Variations are considered significant if greater than 10% or $4 million.

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2011 			
2011 Estimate 2011 Actual Variation
$’000
$’000
$’000
34.1 Land Management Original Budget
98,211 		
In accordance with AASB 1050 Original Budget separate disclosure is required of administered income,
expenses, assets and liabilities. Resulting from the mid-year review, the department budget was reduced for
special purpose accounts as it was identified that the Commonwealth Funded Caring for our Country program
should be realigned to the department’s administered items statements to comply with the reporting standards.
Revision
(26,684)		
		
Revised Land Management
71,527
63,807
(7,720)
34.2 Production System Solutions
109,686
66,745
(42,941)
The decrease reflects:
(a) the departmental transformation to an outcome focused
economic development agency and has resulted in a shift in activities
from Production System Solutions to Industry and Regional Support,
and reduced Grain, livestock and irrigated agriculture industry funded
project activities; and
(b) cessation of the Agricultural Protection Board (APB)
service agreement, resulting from the repeal of the Agricultural
Protection Board Act 1950 on the 18th December,
2010.
34.3 Industry and Regional Support
15,053
40,985
25,932
The decrease reflects the departmental transformation to an
outcome focused economic development agency and has resulted
in a shift in activities from Production System Solutions to Industry
and Regional Support.
34.4 Market Development
44,908
30,759
(14,149)
The change reflects the departments more strategic approach to
investment in market development, with a focus on select, high value
products and markets, market intelligence and industry partnerships,
with industry playing a more significant role in promotional activities.
34.5 Community and Environmental Risk Management
Due to additional Invasive Species, European House
13,769
(13,769)
Borer and Feral Camel program activities.		
34.6 Total income 		 115,010 		
In accordance with AASB 1050 Original Budget separate disclosure
is required of administered income, expenses, assets and liabilities.
Resulting from the mid-year review, the department budget was
reduced for special purpose accounts as it was identified that
the Commonwealth Funded Caring for our Country program should
be realigned to the department’s administered items statements to
comply with the reporting standards.
Revision
(39,200)		
Revised Land Management
75,810
54,322
(21,488)
The reduction in total income is due to reductions in funding
received for:
- CRC research grants
- Grain Crop Agronomy research activities
- Animal Health Lab Services
- Natural Heritage Trust Fund activities as its being replaced
by the new administered Caring For Our Country program.
34.7 Capital Contribution (Appropriation)
19,058
6,155
(12,903)
Delay in commencement of the new headquarters and the Information
Management System Upgrade Project.				
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34.

Explanatory statement (continued)
Significant variances between actuals for 2011 and 2010			
2011 Estimate
$’000

2011 Actual
$’000

Variation
$’000

			
34.8

Total appropriations provided to deliver services

157,209

147,222

9,987

The Increase in appropriation mainly resulted from additional :
- funding for voluntary redundancy program, to assist the
		 department to realign to the government priorities; and;
- state NRM funding.				
34.9

Production System Solutions

66,745

94,057

(27,312)

13,554

27,431

30,759

38,599

(7,841)

15,528

12,666

2,862

54,322

66,802

(12,479)

The decrease reflects the -:
Departmental transformation to an outcome focused economic
development agency and has resulted in a shift in activities from
Production System Solutions to Industry and Regional Support, and
reduced Grain, Livestock and Irrigated Agriculture industry funded
project activities.
The cessation of the Agricultural Protection Board (APB) service
agreement, resulting from the repeal of the Agricultural Protection
Board Act 1950 on 18 December, 2010.
34.10 Industry and Regional Support

40,985

The increase reflects the departmental transformation to an
outcome focused economic development agency and has resulted
in a shift in activities from Production System Solutions to Industry
and Regional Support.
34.11 Market Development
The change reflects the department’s more strategic approach to
investment in market development, with a focus on select, high
value products and markets, market intelligence and industry
partnerships, with industry playing a more significant role in
promotional activities.
34.12 Community and Environmental Risk Management
Due to additional Invasive Species, European House Borer and
Feral Camel program activities.
34.13 Total Income

The reduction in total income is due to reductions in funding
received for:
- CRC research grants
- Grain Crop Agronomy research activities
- Animal Health Lab Services
- Natural Heritage Trust Fund activities as its being replaced
		 by the new administered Caring For Our Country program. 				
34.14 Capital Contribution (appropriation)

6,155

4,058

2,097

The additional expenditure relates to the commencement of the
Information management system Upgrade Project.				
34.15 Administered grants and transfer payments

32,429

25,121

7,308

The additional grant payments relate to the Caring for our Country NRM payments.			
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35.

Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other
benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands are:
$

2011

2010

0 – 70,000

 	

2

8

70,001 – 80,000

 	

–

1

130,001 – 140,000

 	

–

1

140,001 – 150,000

 	

–

1

150,001 – 160,000

 	

–

2

160,001 – 170,000

 	

2

2

170,001 – 180,000

 	

1

1

181,001 – 190,000

 	

2

–

190,001 – 200,000

 	

1

–

260,001 – 270,000

 	

1

–

Total remuneration of senior officers

 	

1,365

1,308

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the department in respect of senior
officers.
There are no senior officers who are presently members of the Government Pension Scheme.

36.

Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as
follows:
2011
2010
$000
$000
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

267

236

The expense is included at note 8 ‘Supplies and services’.

37.

Related bodies
The department had no related bodies during the financial year.

38.

Affiliated bodies
The department had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.

39.

Jointly controlled operations
(a)

Major cooperative research agreements – audited 2010		
Joint venture name and principal activities		
Interest
(%)

Termination
Date

2010

(b)

Cooperative Research Centre for Sheep

14.30

30/06/14

Cooperative Research Centre for Future Farm Industries

11.50

30/06/14

Cooperative Research Centre for Cotton Catchment Communities

1.50

30/06/12

Cooperative Research Centre for Pork

8.72

30/06/10

Other joint ventures
The department has collaborative arrangements with other parties to perform research and share in
the outputs (i.e. intellectual property) in proportion to each participant’s research input, initial intellectual
property or cash contributions. These collaborative arrangements also share the characteristics of joint
venture operations. The principal activities of these joint venture operations are scientific research and
development, extension and technology transfer with the ultimate aim of sharing in the output. The
numbers of this type of arrangement make it impractical to list separately. The department’s contributions
to these joint ventures are included in the department’s operating statements.
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40.

Financial instruments
(a)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial Instruments held by the department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash
equivalents, Treasurer’s Advances, receivables and payables. The department has limited exposure
to financial risks. The department’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks
identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the department’s receivables defaulting on their
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the department.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions
for impairment as shown in the table at note 40(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20
‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable
is the amounts receivable for services (holding accounts). For receivables other than government, the
department trades only with recognised, credit-worthy third parties. The department has policies in place
to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on a ongoing basis with the result that the department’s
exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant
concentrations of credit risk.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence, such as
conservable data in client credit ratings. For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to
note 20 ‘Receivables’ note 40(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosure’.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.
The department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations
by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will
affect the department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The department does
trade in foreign currency but values are not considered material. The department is not materially exposed
to other price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). Other than as detailed in
the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 40(c), the department is not exposed to interest rate risk
because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
are non-interest bearing and there are no borrowings.

(b)

Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2011
2010
$000
$000
Financial assets

 	 	 

Cash and cash equivalents

 	

16,669

12,341

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 	

35,258

46,455

Loans and receivables(a)

 	

64,125

51,775

Available for sale financial assets

 	

638

669

Financial liabilities

 	 	 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

 	

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

13,063

11,770
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40.

Financial instruments (continued)
(c)

Financial Instrument disclosures
Credit risk and interest rate exposures
The following table discloses the department’s maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures
and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end
of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the
ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is
based on information provided to senior management of the department.
The department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the
financial assets it holds.
The department does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would
have otherwise resulted in them being past due or impaired.

Interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial assets (a)
Interest rate exposure
2010

Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate (%)

Carrying
amount
$

Variable
interest
rate
$

Past due but not impaired

Noninterest
bearing
$

Up to 3
months
$

3–12
months
$

More
than 12
months
$

Impaired
financial
assets
$

16,669

–

–

–

–

26,257

–

–

–

–

638

–

–

–

–

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

16,669
5.03

Available for sale financial assets

52,458

26,201

638

Amounts receivable for services

49,059

49,059

–

–

–

–

Receivables (a)

13,528

13,528

1,662

886

80

96

26,201

106,151

1,662

886

80

–96

12,341

–

12,341

–

–

–

–

46,455

33,478

12,978

–

–

–

–

669

–

669

–

–

–

–

42,527

–

42,527

–

–

–

–

Total financial assets

132,352

2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Available for sale financial assets
Amounts receivable for services
Receivables

(a)

Total financial assets

4.00

9,248

–

9,248

385

1,225

–

–

111,241

33,478

77,763

385

1,225

–

–

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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40.

Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the end of the reporting period. The table includes interest and principal cash flows.
An adjustment has been made where material.
Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial liabilities
Maturity dates

Interest rate exposure

2011

Weighted
average
effective
rate
%

Carrying
amount
$000

Variable
interest
rate
$000

Noninterest
bearing
$000

Up to 3
months
$000

3–12
months
$000

Over 12
months
$000

Financial liabilities
Payables

5.03

Total financial liabilities

11,545

–

11,545

11,545

–

–

11,545

–

11,545

11,545

–

–

11,770

–

11,770

11,770

–

–

11,770

–

11,770

11,770

2010
Financial liabilities
Payables

4.00

Total financial liabilities

The amount disclosed is the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the department’s financial assets and
liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest
rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
–100 basis points

2011

Carrying
amount
$’000

Surplus
$’000

Equity
$’000

+100 basis points
Surplus
$’000

Equity
$’000

Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

26,201

(262)

(262)

262

262

33,478

(335)

(335)

335

335

2010
Financial assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost
or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise
stated in the applicable notes.
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41.

Supplementary financial information

(a)

2011
$000

2010
$000

28

Write-offs: non-current assets
During the financial year $456,657 (2010: $28,101) was written off the
department’s asset register under the authority of:
– The accountable authority

 	

47

– The Minister

 	

410

 		

457

28

96

67

Losses of public moneys and public and other property through theft
or default
 	

40 	

1

Amounts recovered-insurance

35 	

7

Write-offs: irrecoverable amounts and inventory
During the financial year $95,532 (2010: $67,292) was written off in
bad debts under the authority of:
– The accountable authority
(b)

42.

 	

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

 	

Indian Ocean Territories Service Level Agreement
Provision of services to Indian Ocean territories is recouped from the
Commonwealth Government.

43.

Opening balance

 	

155

–

Receipts

 	

40

166

Payments

 	

(197)

(11)

Closing balance

 	

(3)

155

Special Purpose Accounts – Section 16 (1) (d) Financial Management Act
2011
$000

2010
$000

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 1 (Non-interest bearing) 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds from industry and other organisations
in support of Agricultural research projects			
Balance at the start of the year

 	

8,478

6,018

Receipts

 	

– 	

39,007

Payments

 	

– 	

(36,548)

Balance at the end of the year

 	

8,478

8,478

Agriculture Research Grants Account No. 2 (Interest bearing) 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds from industry and other organisations
in support of Agricultural research projects			
Balance at the start of the year

 	

2,731

Receipts

 	

3,418

3,418

 	

(5,640)

(5,640)

 	

509

2,731

Payments
Balance at the end of the year
Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Non-interest bearing)

4,953

		

For the receipt and dispersal of funds to conduct Commonwealth funded activities			
Balance at the start of the year

 	

Receipts

 	

1,645

1,645

 	

(1,809)

(1,809)

 	

2,346

2,510

Payments
Balance at the end of the year

2,510

2,674
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43.

Special Purpose Accounts – Section 16 (1) (d) Financial Management Act (continued)
2011
$000

2010
$000

Commonwealth Agriculture Activity Grants (Interest bearing)			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds to conduct Commonwealth funded activities			
Balance at the start of the year

 	

18,539

17,750

Receipts (a)

 	

5,258

5,258

Payments (a)

 	

(4,469)

(4,469)

Balance at the end of the year

 	

19,328

18,539

(a) Refer to note 45 ‘Prior period adjustments’.

 	 	 

Plant Research and Development			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds to conduct plant research and
development in WA		
Balance at the start of the year

 	

5,661

Receipts

 	

2,882

4,246
2,882

Payments

 	

(1,467)

(1,467)

Balance at the end of the year

 	

7,076

5,661

Cattle Industry Funded Scheme 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds from the cattle industry to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to serious pest and
disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry sector and which
are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the national level
Balance at the start of the year

 	

5,661

4,246

Receipts

 	 

2,882

Payments

 	 

(1,467)

Balance at the end of the year

 	

5,661

5,661

Declared Pest Account 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds collected to carry out measures to control
declared pests on and in relation to areas for which the rates were collected
Balance at the start of the year

 	

–

–

Receipts

 	

–

–

Payments

 	 –

–

Balance at the end of the year

 	

–

–

Grain, Seeds and Hay Industry Funded Scheme 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds from the grain, seeds and hay industry
to enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to
serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry
sector and which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the
national level
Balance at the start of the year

 	

–

–

Receipts

 	 –

–

Payments

 	 –	 –

Balance at the end of the year

 	

–

–
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43.

Special Purpose Accounts – Section 16 (1) (d) Financial Management Act (continued)
2011
$000

2010
$000

Sheep and Goats Industry Funded Scheme 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds from the sheep and goats industry to
enable the industry to self-determine and self-fund appropriate responses to
serious pest and disease incursions which predominantly impact on the industry
sector and which are not otherwise covered under existing arrangements at the
national level
Balance at the start of the year

 	

–

–

Receipts

 	

–

–

Payments

 	

–

–

Balance at the end of the year

 	

–

–

State Natural Resource Management Fund 			
For the receipt and dispersal of funds to improve natural resource management
outcomes in WA.
Balance at the start of the year

 	

–

–

Receipts

 	

–

–

Payments

 	

–

–

Balance at the end of the year

 	

–

–
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44.

Disclosure of administered income & expenses and assets & liabilities by service
Commonwealth
Grants (a)
(NLP & CFOC)

Cooperative
Loans

Total

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011

2010

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

–

–

27,456

25,114

27,456

25,114

601

860

–

–

601

860

(i) Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service
COST OF SERVICE
Expenses
Grants, subsidies and transfer payment
Interest payments
Other expenses
Total administered expenses

72

68

–

–

72

68

673

928

27,456

25,114

28,129

26,041

–

–

24,932

25,014

24,932

25,014

Income
Commonwealth grants and contributions
User charges and fees

10

2

–

–

10

2

527

995

146

77

674

1,072

–

–

1,739

1,021

1,739

1,021

537

997

26,818

26,111

27,355

27,108

(33)

280

(446)

4,522

(478)

4,802

2

507

28

507

30

(33)

281

61

4,550

29

4,831

11,120

10,314

–

–

11,120

10,314

40

–

–

–

40

–

Total administered non-current assets

11,159

10,314

–

–

11,159

10,314

TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS

11,127

10,595

61

4,550

11,188

15,145

Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total administered income

(ii) Disclosure of administered assets and liabilities by service
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Total administered current assets
Non-current Assets
Loan
Interest Receivable

Administered transactions are not considered to form part of the department’s operational services and are not attributable
to its activities/services.
(a) Commonwealth grant funding received under the National Landcare Program(NLP) and Caring for our Country (CFOC)
Bilateral Agreements between the Commonwealth and the department are recognised as administered transactions and are
reported in this statement in the current year and retrospectively as a result of prior adjustments detailed in note 45.
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Appendix 1: Legislation administered by the department
Aerial Spraying Control Act 1966
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Taxing) Act 1995
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (Western Australia) Act 1995
Agricultural Practices (Disputes) Act 1995
Agricultural Produce (Chemical Residues) Act 1983*
Agricultural Produce Commission Act 1988
Agricultural Products Act 1929*
Agriculture and Related Resources Protection Act 1976*
Argentine Ant Act 1968*
Beekeepers Act 1963*
Biological Control Act 1986
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Rates and Charges Act 2007
Biosecurity and Agriculture Management (Repeal and Consequential Provisions) Act 2007
Bulk Handling Act 1967
Exotic Diseases of Animals Act 1993
Fertilizers Act 1977*
Gene Technology Act 2006
Genetically Modified Crops Free Areas Act 2003
Industrial Hemp Act 2004
Loans (Co-operative Companies) Act 2004
Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946
Ord River Dam Catchment Area (Straying Cattle) Act 1967
Perth Market Act 1926
Plant Diseases Act 1914*
Royal Agricultural Society Act 1926
Royal Agricultural Society Act Amendment Act 1929
Rural Business Development Corporation Act 2000
Seeds Act 1981*
Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945
Stock (Identification and Movement) Act 1970*
Stock Diseases (Regulations) Act 1968*
Tree Plantation Agreements Act 2003
Veterinary Chemical Control and Animal Feeding Stuffs Act 1976*
Veterinary Surgeons Act 1960
Western Australian Meat Industry Authority Act 1976
Western Australian Meat Marketing Co-operative Limited (Shares) Act 2003
* Legislation to be repealed once Biosecurity and Agriculture Management Act 2007 is proclaimed
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Appendix 2: Other key legislation impacting on the
activities of the department
Animal Welfare Act 2002
Auditor General Act 2006
Conservation and Land Management Act 1984
Contaminated Sites Act 2003
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
Electronic Transactions Act 2003
Emergency Management Act 2005
Environmental Protection Act 1986
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Explosives and Dangerous Goods Act 1961
Financial Management Act 2006
Firearms Act 1973
Forest Products Act 2000
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Government Employees Housing Act 1964
Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987
Health Act 1911
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Land Administration Act 1997
Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Occupiers Liability Act 1985
Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971
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Appendix 3: Statement from the Commissioner of Soil
and Land Conservation
A report on the Commissioner’s operations during the year was submitted to the accountable
officer in accordance with Section 25 F of the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945.
Delegations
The delegation of powers under Part II of the Act by the Commissioner to one Department of
Environment and Conservation (DEC) and one Department of Water (DOW) Regional Manager to
negotiate and administer covenants under Part iv(a) remain in effect. The Commissioner continues
to have delegated authority from the Minister for the Environment to issue woodchip permits.
Land clearing assessments
During 2010–11, forty-two agricultural clearing area and purpose permit applications were
assessed for land degradation with advice provided to DEC for determination. Assessment advice
was provided to other government agencies as follows:
Department of Mines and Petroleum
Main Roads WA
Water Corporation
Western Power

3 applications
15 applications
5 applications
3 applications

Compliance
The Commissioner investigated 15 clearing, 6 drainage and 6 land degradation complaints. Seven
complaints remain pending further investigation or monitoring for compliance with directions given.
Woodchip permits
No woodchip permits were issued under the authority delegated to the Commissioner by the
Minister for the Environment.
Agreements to reserve and conservation covenants
The Commissioner registered 4 irrevocable Conservation Covenants protecting 34.6ha in perpetuity
during the financial year. In total, 1797 instruments under the Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945
affecting about 200 000 hectares are registered on Certificate of Title.
Soil conservation notices
During the year, four Soil Conservation Notices (SCN) were reviewed, resulting in one Soil
Conservation Notice (SCN) being discharged; one lapsed through change of property ownership;
and two are pending finalisation. In the case of the lapsed notice, the ongoing land degradation
issues on the pastoral lease in question have been brought to the attention of the Pastoral Lands
Board (PLB).
Land drainage
During the year only three landholders submitted Notices of Intention to Drain (NOIs) with the
following outcomes:
•

Two landowners were issued letters of no objection.

•

One letter of objection was issued.

Approval to draft amendments to the Soil and Land Conservation Regulations 1992 was sought in
order to implement the Wheatbelt Drainage Council’s recommendations that were endorsed by the
Ministers for Environment, Water and Agriculture and Food in 2009–10.
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Land Conservation District Committees (LCDC)
One hundred and five Land Conservation Districts (LCDs) are proclaimed under the Soil and Land
Conservation Act 1945 covering the agricultural and rangelands regions. Of these, 72 LCDs do not
have a committee appointed and are effectively in recess. During the year, 14 District Committees
(LCDC) and five individual members were appointed.
The number of gazetted members of district committees is 603 comprising:
Land users
Representatives of government
Industry organisations (Western Australian Farmers
Federation & Pastoralists and Graziers Association)
Commissioner’s nominees

427
89
70
17

Inactive LCDCs are being wound up. In 2010–11, about $90 000 of unspent public money was
identified and properly accounted for.
Dry season incident – Southern Rangelands
The department declared a category 2 incident on 24 August 2010 in the agricultural and southern
rangelands regions. The Commissioner carried out a snapshot survey of the shires of Shark Bay,
Carnarvon, Upper Gascoyne, Murchison, Meekatharra, Wiluna, Sandstone and Yalgoo in early
September 2010. Resource condition was assessed to be generally poor with a few areas rated as
fair. The serious lack of forage in 2010 was not simply due to adverse seasonal conditions in 2010,
but is a consequence of historic poor rangeland management and the recent dry seasons. This
issue will not be resolved by one or two good seasons.
Declining resource condition in the southern rangelands has been highlighted in previous years’
reports.
Carnarvon flood recovery
Serious flooding of the plantation area occurred following heavy rains over the town and catchment
during the third week in December 2010. The Commissioner conducted a rapid damage
assessment as soon as the flood waters receded that indicated that 50–60 properties were
seriously damaged and that about 200 000 cubic metres of top soil had been lost through soil
erosion.
A recovery plan was developed and subsequently implemented by growers following the 12
January announcement of funding of up to $3 million for the Carnarvon Growers Flood Recovery
Fund (CGFRF). Two subsequent flood events in January and February were covered by the
scheme.
Three sites for soil pits were identified, approvals and permits obtained and by 10 January
replacement soil was made available. Over the next five months about 85 000 cubic metres was
carted and spread on damaged plantations.
The plantation area at Carnarvon is located on an active river delta. Where land is devoid of
vegetative protection, it is inherently highly erodible. The intensively cultivated land under vegetable
production was again most severely impacted by soil erosion. This is the second serious soil
erosion event needing government recovery assistance since 2000, and highlights the need for
producers in Carnarvon to adopt sustainable vegetable production methods.
Condition of the resource base
1. Agricultural region
The state’s agriculture is largely confined to the South-West Land Division and its productivity
is dependent upon the condition of the soil resource. Under agricultural use, these soils are
susceptible to salinisation, acidification, soil erosion and loss of fertility. Agriculture also impacts
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wetlands, waterways and estuaries through salinity, nutrient export and sedimentation. Inland
waterways and wetlands in much of the wheatbelt are also susceptible to acid groundwater
discharge.
Salinity
The expression of salinity at the land surface is a result of altered hydrological conditions following
land clearing. In 1996 it was estimated that one million hectares of land was salt affected in the
agricultural region of Western Australia. The department has established and maintained an
extensive monitoring bore network to measure quality and observe groundwater trends. Changes in
groundwater trends due to reduced rainfall in all regions other than the south coast were reported
several years ago. No change in the trend has been reported in the past 12 months.
Soil erosion
Pre-harvest and pre-seeding roadside surveys assess factors that contribute to the potential for
erosion (soil type, ground cover and disturbance/management). The total number of sites surveyed
in 2010–11 was 3486, with 1447 in the Central Agricultural Region (CAR), 871 in the Northern
Agricultural Region (NAR), 1165 in the Southern Agricultural Region (SAR) and 6 in the South-West
Agricultural Region (SWAR)
Figure 1. Dust Cloud caused by wind erosion near Dalwallinu on 29 January 2011.

Photo courtesy of Rebecca Butcher

At time of harvest, (maximum biomass), less than 0.5 per cent of the wheatbelt was at risk of
erosion.
By the following autumn, (minimum biomass), 7.4 per cent of sites were at risk of erosion, more
than twice the 3 per cent target for sustainability. This is mainly the result of poor vegetative growth
in the previous year and natural degradation of pasture and stubble, but some sites showed serious
overgrazing, indicating a management related issue.
Variation between regions:
•

Central —10 per cent of sites rated moderate to very high erosion hazard and at risk of
erosion. Eleven sites had clear signs of significant erosion. This represents one per cent of
sites in this region

•

Southern— 6 per cent of sites at risk of erosion

•

Northern—5 per cent of sites at risk of erosion.

Overgrazing in the higher rainfall area was more common than other parts of the wheatbelt,
although erosion risk is somewhat mitigated where the soil surface is protected from wind erosion
by gravel armours found on many soils.
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Where stubble burning was observed, 64 per cent was ‘smart’ windrow burning, which preserves
adequate groundcover to prevent erosion.
Severe storms between Toodyay and Narrogin damaged paddocks and infrastructure. Despite
adequate plant cover, fierce winds detached stubble and caused soil erosion. Similarly, the
Wyalkatchem/ Mukinbudin area experienced flash flooding and wind damage as a result of another
storm.
Two DustTraks ® instruments are installed, at Mullewa and Merredin, to record dust concentration
at 15-minute intervals. The Mullewa DustTrak recorded 11 wind erosion events while the Merredin
DustTrak recorded three wind erosion events (Table 1).
Table 1 The number of wind erosion events recorded each month at Mullewa and Merredin
Month
October
November
December
January
February
March
April
May

Merredin
1
1
Fault*
Fault*
Fault*
0 (second half of month only)
1
0

Mullewa
1
3
3
0
0
3
1
0

* Due to faulty equipment several erosion events were not recorded, including the large event on 29 January.

Summer rain in December and January helped to stabilise the soil and promote the growth of new
vegetation reducing the amount of erosion that could have occurred over the 2010–2011 summer.
Soil pH and carbon
These long-term indicators of change respond to factors including climate and farming practices. A
soil monitoring network of 400 sites has been established to measure soil pH change. A subset will
be sampled annually and all sites will be re-sampled at five-yearly intervals. Fifty sites were sampled
and analysed. Half of these sites had a subsoil pH below 4.8 which can be detrimental to plant
growth and 90 per cent of sites have an average carbon level of 0.95 per cent in the top 5 cm, and
less than 0.35 per cent below 10 cm.
Rivers and wetlands
Diffuse nutrient pollution from agriculture has proven to be a serious land degradation problem on
the Swan Coastal Plain. A 2010 soil testing program on farms in the Peel Harvey, Geographe and
Scott River catchments highlighted the need for improved fertiliser management as phosphorus
deficiencies have been largely overcome, but soil acidity may be affecting nutrient availability.
2. Pastoral region
The pastoral industry is largely dependent upon palatable native species. The loss of desirable
palatable perennial species is a form of land degradation that undermines the sustainability of the
industry.
Western Australia’s rangelands cover 87 per cent of the state—with pastoral leases covering 35
per cent (874,000 sq km) and Unallocated Crown Lands (UCL) lands vested for conservation and
Indigenous purposes making up the balance. There are currently 459 registered pastoral stations on
510 pastoral leases. The northern rangelands support 159 stations with 92 in the Kimberley and 67
in the Pilbara, while 291 stations are located in the southern rangelands. Nine stations are located in
the South-West Land Division.
Assessment of range condition in the Pilbara and Kimberley is based on the frequency of perennial
grasses, while that of the southern rangelands (or shrublands) is determined by the density of shrub
species.
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The Western Australian Rangeland Monitoring System (WARMS) data is analysed for rangeland
condition trend at a regional scale. Site installation began in 1993 and was completed in 1999.
There are 1622 sites, with 633 grassland sites and 989 shrubland sites. Grassland sites are
reassessed on a three-year cycle while shrubland sites are reassessed on a five-year cycle. The
sixth assessment of the Kimberley (grassland) sites (Epoch 6) will be completed in 2011. The
second full cycle (i.e. three assessments) has been completed for the shrubland sites.
Seasonal quality is estimated for each reassessment period (epoch) or each year at each site.
It describes the relative value of recent climate (principally rainfall) with respect to biological
functioning. Biological functioning broadly means vegetation growth as a basic resource for both
livestock (forage) and fauna (food and shelter) and for soil protection.
In the grasslands of the northern rangelands, summer rainfall is the key driver. All northern Land
Conservation Districts (LCD) received well above their long-term average summer rainfall for
2010–11 (decile 1. wettest 10 per cent of records). Most of the Kimberley region had at least 400
mm of rain above average.
Seasonal quality has been above average in the Kimberley over the past 17 years, with the majority
of WARMS sites classified as ‘above average’, and no sites assessed as ‘below average’.
Seasonal conditions in the Pilbara grasslands have been variable, with the most favourable
conditions being recorded in the 1990s and a greater prevalence of ‘average’ or ‘below average’
years being recorded since 2000. The East Pilbara LCD received good seasons over the past six
years, while Ashburton, Lyndon and Roebourne LCDs received a preponderance of below average
conditions.
In the shrublands, winter rainfall is far more important. Between 1999 and 2010, some LCDs (e.g.
Murchison) experienced equal proportions of ‘above average’, ‘average’ and ‘below average’
seasons, while others (e.g. Shark Bay) recorded predominantly ‘below average’ seasons. Seasonal
conditions in 2010 were commonly below average, except in the North-East Goldfields, Nullarbor
and Kalgoorlie and Wiluna LCDs.
WARMS site data
In the Kimberley and Pilbara regions, WARMS data are incomplete for Epoch 6 (2009 to 2011).
Derby West Kimberley LCD has only 48 per cent of sites assessed and Halls Creek East Kimberley
Figure 2 Year of last reasonable season1

Figure 3 Reasonable seasons in past six years2

, As determined by NOAA NDVI

1. & 2
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LCD had 74 per cent of sites assessed at 30 June 2011. Assessment of the Kimberley and Pilbara
sites will be completed towards the end of 2011.
Frequency of all perennial grasses (both desirable and undesirable) generally increased in all
Kimberley LCDs from Epochs 1 to 5 and into Epoch 6 due to the long run of favourable seasons,
although the increase was more variable in both the Broome and the North Kimberley LCDs.
Groundcover levels are high and in some cases increasing in the Kimberley, which is beneficial from
an ecosystem function perspective.
Perennial grass frequencies at Pilbara WARMS grassland sites generally declined during Epochs
4, 5 and 6, although in both the Lyndon and Roebourne LCDs data suggested that frequencies
increased from Epoch 4 to Epoch 5.
In general, the frequency of species desirable for pastoralism (productive, palatable, perennial
grasses) has declined in all Kimberley and Pilbara LCDs except the North Kimberley, although
incomplete data for Derby West Kimberley LCD indicate only a very slight decline.
Stock returns indicate that Derby West Kimberley and Halls Creek East Kimberley LCDs are running
stock numbers in excess of the present carrying capacity, and that this is currently being sustained
by the long run of favourable seasons. Although stock densities vary considerably between leases,
reported 2010 stock numbers were above the present carrying capacity in 33 per cent of Broome
LCD leases, 73 per cent of Derby West Kimberley LCD leases, 54 per cent of Halls Creek East
Kimberley LCD leases and 43 per cent of North Kimberley LCD leases.
Pilbara stock numbers remain above desirable levels in all LCDs and is a matter of concern. In the
De Grey LCD, reported stock numbers are twice the present carrying capacity while the Ashburton
and Roebourne LCDs were also well above present carrying capacity.
For the shrublands, the current data reflect Epoch 2 (1999 to June 2006) and Epoch 3 (May 2005
to 2010). In general, shrub densities declined in the Gascoyne Ashburton Headwaters, Murchison,
Lyndon, Meekatharra, Shark Bay and Upper Gascoyne LCDs, and were stable or increased slightly
in the other LCDs. The proportional decrease in shrub densities was greater than the proportional
increase, suggesting that overall conditions have declined.
This trend is continuing in the most recent data (North-Eastern Goldfields and Wiluna LCDs) and
is occurring despite favourable seasons being recorded. In the Wiluna LCD there was a 26 per
cent loss of shrubs and in North-Eastern Goldfields LCD a 14 per cent loss of shrubs. Markedly,
in Wiluna LCD, while there was a 42 per cent loss of desirable shrubs for stations that experienced
below average seasonal conditions, there were also declines in numbers of desirable shrubs across
all seasonal conditions
Stock numbers in 2010, compared with 2000, had declined in 13 LCDs and increased in four.
Considerable variation, with both declines and increases were recorded in all LCDs over that period.
Reported stock numbers in 2010 are generally below the present carrying capacity; however,
excessive stock numbers reported on some properties is a matter of concern. Of the 272 leases for
which data is available, 39 leases (14 per cent) reported stock numbers above the present carrying
capacity and 18 leases (7 per cent) reported stock numbers greater than 150 per cent of the
present carrying capacity and 8 leases (3 per cent) reported stock numbers 200 per cent above the
present carrying capacity. Some 34 leases (13 per cent) reported a nil stock number in 2010.
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Conclusions
The Soil and Land Conservation Act 1945 definition of land degradation includes soil erosion,
salinity, eutrophication, flooding and the removal or deterioration of natural or introduced vegetation
that may be detrimental to present or future use of land. Acidity also falls within the scope of the
Act.
The monitoring data point to a number of critical areas that undermine the sustainability of our
agricultural industries.
•

Secondary salinity due to altered hydrological processes in response to agricultural land use
was estimated in 1996 to have seriously affected 957 600 ha. While 5.4 million ha of land in
the south-west is potentially at risk of salinisation, the rate of encroachment has declined in
response to the seasonal conditions experienced since 2000.

•

Accelerated soil erosion is land degradation hazard that is now systematically monitored
statewide. By Autumn 2011, all agricultural regions were at an unacceptably high risk of
soil erosion with 10 per cent of the Central, 6 per cent of the Southern and 5 per cent of
the Northern Agricultural region sites rated as being at moderate to very high risk of erosion
compared with the 3 per cent sustainability target.

•

The Carnarvon irrigation area is located on an active river delta and is particularly vulnerable
to flooding and associated severe erosion where soils are intensively cultivated for vegetable
production. Current vegetable production practices are clearly not sustainable.

•

Soil acidity may be natural or induced by agriculture and reduces agricultural productivity.
About 50 per cent of the sites monitored had a subsoil pH less than the critical level of pH 4.8.

•

Long-term nutrient export from agricultural land on the Swan Coastal Plain is significant
and regularly causes eutrophication of wetlands and rivers, despite research and extension
programs to minimise this form of land degradation

•

In the rangelands, land degradation in the form of loss of productive palatable perennial
species is ultimately reflected in reduced carrying capacities. In the northern rangelands,
reductions in the frequency of these species were observed in all LCDs with the exception
of North Kimberley. The decline in the Kimberley is evident despite the long run of favourable
seasonal conditions. In the Pilbara, there is a significant mismatch between rangeland
potential and stock numbers which is clearly manifest in declining rangeland condition over the
past decade. Similarly, a decline in shrub densities was observed in many southern LCDs. This
trend was most marked in Wiluna where 42 per cent loss of desirable species was recorded.
The decline in desirable species suggests that management response was inadequate in the
face of the dry conditions.

Andrew Watson
Commissioner of Soil and Land Conservation
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